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Empowering
our customers
to propel the

world forward

At GATX, our mission is to provide innovative,
unparalleled service that enables our customers
to transport what matters safely and sustain-
ably while championing the well-being of our
employees and communities.

We lease transportation assets and provide
critical services to customers worldwide. Our
diverse portfolio of assets includes tank and
freight railcars, aircraft spare engines, and

tank containers.

By leveraging our expertise, constantly inno-
vating, and working closely with customers to
exceed their expectations, GATX strives to lead
every market we serve. Since our founding in
1898, GATX has paid a quarterly dividend,

uninterrupted, since 1919.

We report our financial results through three
primary business segments: Rail North America,
Rail International, and Engine Leasing. Financial
results for our tank container leasing business,
Trifleet, are reported in the Other segment.




Financial Highlights (in millions, except per share data) 2022 2023 2024
Net Income $ 155.9 $259.2 $284.2
Per Diluted Share Net Income $ 4.35 $ 7.12 $ 7.78

Excluding Tax Adjustments and Other Items @ 2022 2023 2024
Net Income $217.7 $257.6 $288.1
Per Diluted Share Net Income $ 6.07 $ 7.07 $ 7.89

(a) The following items for each year noted are referred to as “Tax Adjustments and Other Items”:

Results for 2024 included expenses recorded for the settlements of litigation claims arising out of legacy business operations, reserves recorded
for our share of anticipated environmental remediation costs arising out of prior operations and legacy businesses, gains associated with sales of
the Specialized Gas Vessels, and deferred income tax adjustments attributable to state tax rate reductions.

Results for 2023 included gains and losses associated with impairments and sales of the Specialized Gas Vessels, a net gain associated with the
final sale of our rail business in Russia, deferred income tax adjustments attributable to statutory state tax rate reductions, and a valuation
allowance adjustment associated with the realizability of state net operating losses in future tax years.

Results for 2022 included losses associated with impairments and sales of the Specialized Gas Vessels, losses associated with the impairment
of net assets resulting from our decision to exit our rail business in Russia, a reserve recorded as part of an executed agreement for anticipated
remediation costs at a previously owned property, a deferred income tax adjustment due to an enacted corporate income tax rate reduction in
Austria, and impairment losses related to aircraft spare engines in Russia that RRPF does not expect to recover.

Investment at a Glance

Diluted Earnings Per Share® Investment Volume

Excluding tax adjustments and other items (Non-GAAP) ($ Millions)

2024 $7.89 2024 $1,674
2023 $7.07 2023 $1,665
2022 $6.07 2022 $1,256

Return On Equity© Cash from Operations & Portfolio Proceeds

Excluding tax adjustments and other items (Non-GAAP)

($ Millions)

2024 12% 2024 | — $ 833

$602 $231
2023 12% 2023 ‘ | $793
° $520 ' $273 $
2022 11% 2022 ‘ ‘
$534 "'$270 | a

mmm Cash from Operations  ==m Portfolio Proceeds

10-Year Cumulative Cash Returned to Shareholders

2015 dﬁ $194
2016 ! 1 $381
2017 } | $549

2018 } | $734

$1.4 Billion +

(2015-2024)

2019 } 1 $953

2020 } {$1,024

2021 ! {$1,112

2022 } 1$1,236
2023 } 1 $1,319
2024 } 1$1,426

$0 $0.258B $0.5B

$0.758B $1.0B $1.5B

=== Cumulative Dividends == Cumulative Share Repurchases

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
For a reconciliation of non-GAAP financial measures contained herein, refer to our Annual Report on Form 10-K that has been included as part of this
Annual Report to Shareholders.

All data (including segment overview sections) as of December 31, 2024.



$3.8 Billion
in Contractual Lease Receipts

99.1%
Fleet Utilization (Excludes Boxcars)

28,900 +
Service Events Completed in 2024

830+
Customers

111,350+
Wholly Owned Railcars

Rail North America

GATX is the premier provider of railcar leasing and services
in North America. As part of our offerings, we provide
maintenance, engineering support, and other services to
help our customers ship their products safely and efficiently.

In 2024, the North American railcar leasing market
experienced stable demand for railcars in the existing fleet.
GATX Rail North America achieved excellent financial results
and maintained 99% fleet utilization with a high renewal
success rate of over 85%. During the year, we successfully
renewed leases at higher average rates than the expiring rates
while extending lease renewal terms. This enabled us to
continue locking in high-quality, long-term committed cash
flow. We also operated our maintenance network safely and
efficiently, while completing a high percentage of railcar
service events in our owned facilities.

The secondary market remained robust and demand for
GATX assets was strong. We capitalized on this environment
by selectively selling railcars in the secondary market, thereby
optimizing our fleet and generating approximately $120
million of asset remarketing income. Finally, we identified
attractive opportunities to invest over $1 billion in new and
existing railcars, ensuring that we will continue to meet the
needs of our large and diverse customer base.

Industries Served

Other — 12%
5% — Mining, Minerals
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$7.43 Billion
Net Book Value
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Rail International

Our Rail International segment is composed of GATX Rail
Europe (GRE) and GATX Rail India (Rail India). GRE is a leading
full-service railcar lessor in Europe offering a high-quality and
diverse fleet in 20 countries. GRE offers many of the same
services provided in North America, and is also able to
assemble new railcars at our Ostréda, Poland workshop.

Rail India is the largest private lessor of railcars in India, with
customers in a variety of major industry segments. In addition
to serving its customers, Rail India also collaborates with
Indian Railways and other key industry stakeholders to
support the country’s freight rail market growth.

In 2024, GRE and Rail India continued to experience increases
in renewal Llease rates compared to expiring rates, reflecting
solid demand for most railcar types in Europe and India.
Furthermore, both GRE and Rail India celebrated major fleet
milestones, as their railcar counts surpassed 30,000 and
10,000, respectively, during the year. Rail International
achieved these significant milestones while maintaining

high fleet utilization and continuing to diversify its fleets

and customer bases in both regions.

Rail International | Industries Served
Chemicals — 10%

B 13% - LPG

Mineral Oil 33%-
44% — Freight and
Intermodal

Rail International | Countries Served

12% — Other
Romania — 3%

France — 4% 3% = Hdngaty

5% — Switzerland

—
I
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Austria - 11%

Poland - 21%

26% — Germany

30,000 +
GRE Wholly Owned Railcars
(96.1% Fleet Utilization)

10,500 +
Rail India Wholly Owned Railcars
(100% Fleet Utilization)

21

Countries Served in Europe and Asia

285+
Customers

$1.99 Billion
Net Book Value



427
RRPF Aircraft Spare Engines (NBV $4.7 Billion)

{100% basis)

$2.8 Billion
in Contractual Lease Receipts at RRPF

(100% basis)

39
GEL Aircraft Spare Engines (NBV $937 Million)

GATX’s Share of RRPF’s
Pre-tax Income ©® (s miltions)
Excluding tax adjustments and other items
(Non-GAAP)

2022 2023 2024

$60.7 $98.7 $108.3

(b) Results for 2022 included impairment losses related
to aircraft spare engines in Russia that RRPF does not
expect to recover

All aircraft spare engine images used in this annual report
@ Rolls-Royce plc 2025

Engine Leasing

The Engine Leasing segment is composed primarily of
Rolls-Royce & Partners Finance affiliates (RRPF), a group of
50% owned joint ventures with Rolls-Royce plc that leases
aircraft spare engines, and GATX Engine Leasing (GEL),

our wholly owned aircraft spare engine leasing business.

Demand for aircraft spare engines was robust in 2024,

as global passenger air travel has fully recovered from
the pandemic and surpassed 2019 levels. RRPF and GEL
capitalized on attractive opportunities to grow their engine
portfolio, investing over $900 million and over $260
million, respectively, during the year. As demand for
passenger air travel is expected to maintain its steady
upward trend, both RRPF and GEL are well positioned to
meet the growing demand for aircraft spare engines.

RRPF Engine Types
I 10% — Other

5% — V2500 (A320)

=
- 17% — Trent 1000
(B787)
Trent 700/7000 19%-

(A330)
31% — Trent XWB
(A350)

Trent 900 (A380) — 3%
PW1100 (a320) - 15%

Trifleet

One of the largest global tank container lessors, Trifleet Leasing
owns and manages a fleet of over 25,000 tank containers,
leased to a diverse base of customers in the chemical, industrial
gas, energy, food grade, and pharmaceutical industries, as well
as to tank container operators. Trifleet’s tank containers
transport a variety of liquids and gases in bulk and can be
transported for ship, rail, and road journeys.

Tank Container Types

Gas — 5% So— 1% — Cryogenic
" EEEEE 10% — Specialty

Semi-Standard — 12% _

72% — Standard



LETTER FROM THE CEO

The past year presented

companies and individuals alike

with myriad events to navigate. Natural disasters, global conflicts, elections, technological
advancements, varying economic conditions across regions, the list goes on and on. In this volatile
environment, GATX fared very well, posting record earnings per share and investment volume in
2024. Our shareholders also fared well. In fact, GATX’s annualized shareholder returns over the
1-year (30.8%), 3-year (16.3%), 5-year (15.7%), 10-year (13.1%), and 20-year (11.5%) periods out-
paced returns for the S&P 500, S&P Equal Weighted, and S&P MidCap 400 indices for each period.

The Company’s financial results and returns are the result of a commitment to three basic tenets:
clear goals, a stable asset base built through disciplined investment, and consistent performance.
These three tenets—clarity, stability, and consistency—will continue driving GATX forward.

Goal clarity is a hallmark of GATX. We strive to generate attractive risk-adjusted returns for our share-
holders by investing in long-lived, widely used assets that require service expertise and unique asset
knowledge. This clear statement drives our strategy across our markets and is the guidepost we
return to often to ensure we are staying on course. On this basis, we have built the largest global
railcar leasing platform, own and have an interest in one of the largest aircraft spare engine portfolios
globally, and own one of the largest tank container lessors in the world.

(5 The Company'’s financial results and returns are the
result of a commitment to three basic tenets: clear goals,
a stable asset base huilt through disciplined investment,
and consistent performance. 05

In 2024, we invested approximately $1 billion in rolling stock for the second consecutive year in Rail
North America. Using three established channels to source railcars—a long-term supply agreement,
spot orders for newly built railcars, and the secondary market—we continued strengthening our industry-
leading platform. With the most diverse fleet in North America, we are well-positioned to capitalize
on, or withstand, any environment we may face. We have also invested in our maintenance facilities,
enabling us to support our customers with the most efficient services available in the market. In 2024,
we achieved record production from our maintenance facilities while also posting record safety metrics,
an admirable accomplishment and a testament to our experienced and dedicated employees.

GATX Rail Europe and GATX Rail India both achieved major milestones in 2024, surpassing fleets of
30,000 and 10,000 wagons, respectively. Our growth in Europe includes investments in our traditional
tank car markets as well as our growing freight car fleet. The decision to begin diversifying into freight
cars in Europe in 2019 is paying dividends, as our broader offering enables us to better navigate varied
customer demands and economic conditions across regions. India’s economic growth is among the
strongest across major nations in the world, and infrastructure development is driving robust demand
and growth in our fleet.

Engine Leasing had another strong year, as global air travel surpassed pre-pandemic levels. We invested
over $260 million directly in aircraft spare engines, bringing the net book value of our wholly owned



portfolio to approximately $940 million. Additionally, our 50% owned joint venture, Rolls-Royce &
Partners Finance, invested over $900 million in 2024, bringing the net book value of engines at the
joint venture level to $4.7 billion. For 27 years we have enjoyed a strong relationship with our partner,
Rolls-Royce plc, and we look forward to continued shared success with this outstanding company.

We provide our customers with long-lived assets that are critical to their operations. Our assets retain
value through cycles and provide tremendous stability to our operations, cash flows, and balance
sheet. In rail, we serve about a thousand customers globally, spread across a wide range of end markets.
While demand for railcars, and thus lease rates, may ebb and flow within a specific sector, it is rare for all
of the end markets we serve to move in lockstep absent an economic or macro shock. This allows us to
optimize our portfolio of railcars through targeted purchases and sales, as we rebalance on a continual
basis. Furthermore, the maintenance services we provide lead to deep, long-term customer relationships.
We benefit from and are grateful for these relationships, underscored by the fact that the average
tenure of our relationships with our top 10 customers is over 50 years.

These three tenets—clarity, stability, and consistency—will
continue driving GATX forward.

As for consistency, this tenet flows through the company daily. Best-in-class service only matters if
we provide it on a consistent basis, and we do. Commitments to our customers, suppliers, partners,
employees, and the communities in which we operate only matter if we follow through consistently,

and we do. Safety training and initiatives for our employees only matter if we apply them consistently,
and we do. Delivering attractive returns for our shareholders is only valued if achieved consistently,
and, as noted in our aforementioned shareholder return figures, we do. Paying annual dividends,
uninterrupted, since 1919 epitomizes consistency. But, we know what matters is next year’s dividend,
and the one after, and so on. We recognize that past success is no guarantee of the same in the future;
we will remain consistent and focused every day on the factors that have driven our success, always
refining and striving for better. That is our job and our commitment to all our stakeholders.

| want to thank the 2,000+ employees of GATX around the globe. Your experience, hard work, and
dedication are unmatched. | truly appreciate all you have done for GATX and all you will accomplish in
the future. I'd also like to thank our Board of Directors, an esteemed group of leaders who challenge,
guide, and support the GATX management team.

In closing, | want to recognize and thank the GATX shareholders. Reaching back to the consistency tenet,
our top 10 shareholders have been with GATX for over 20 years on average. You have stayed committed
to GATX through cycles, and we will do our best to earn your continued support and trust every day.

Sincerely,

yae /-/'é—J

Robert C. Lyons
President and Chief Executive Officer,
GATX Corporation
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Statements in this report not based on historical facts are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and, accordingly, involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties that are difficult to predict and
could cause our actual results, performance, or achievements to differ materially from those discussed. Forward-looking statements
include statements as to our future expectations, beliefs, plans, strategies, objectives, events, conditions, financial performance,
prospects, or future events. In some cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of words such as “may,” “could,”
“expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “seek,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “outlook,” “continue,” “likely,” “will,”
“would,” and similar words and phrases. Forward-looking statements are necessarily based on estimates and assumptions that, while
considered reasonable by us and our management, are inherently uncertain. Accordingly, you should not place undue reliance on
forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date they are made, and are not guarantees of future performance. We do not

undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise these forward-looking statements.

EEINTY EEINT3 EEINT3 EEINT3

The following factors, in addition to those discussed under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this report and in our other filings with
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, could cause actual results to differ materially from our current expectations expressed
in forward-looking statements:

e a significant decline in customer demand for our transportation assets or « reliance on Rolls-Royce in connection with our aircraft spare engine leasing
services, including as a result of: businesses, and the risks that certain factors that adversely affect Rolls-Royce

. . . could have an adverse effect on our businesses
o prolonged inflation or deflation

o high interest rates » potential obsolescence of our assets

e risks related to our international operations and expansion into new

o weak macroeconomic conditions and world trade policies . . . . . i
geographic markets, including laws, regulations, tariffs, taxes, treaties or

o weak market conditions in our customers’ businesses trade barriers affecting our activities in the countries where we do business
o adverse changes in the price of, or demand for, commodities » failure to successfully negotiate collective bargaining agreements with the
o changes in railroad operations, efficiency, pricing and service unions representing a substantial portion of our employees
offerings, including those related to “precision scheduled + inability to attract, retain, and motivate qualified personnel, including key
railroading” or labor strikes or shortages management personnel
o changes in, or disruptions to, supply chains * inability to maintain and secure our information technology infrastructure
o availability of pipelines, trucks, and other alternative modes of from cybersecurity threats and related disruption of our business
transportation » exposure to damages, fines, criminal and civil penalties, and reputational
o changes in conditions affecting the aviation industry, including harm arising from a negative outcome in litigation, including claims arising
global  conflicts, geographic  exposure and  customer from an accident involving transportation assets
concentrations » changes in, or failure to comply with, laws, rules, and regulations
o customers’ desire to buy, rather than lease, our transportation «  environmental liabilities and remediation costs
assets * operational, functional and regulatory risks associated with climate matters,
o other operational or commercial needs or decisions of our severe weather events and natural disasters
customers - .. . . .
* U.S. and global political conditions and the impact of increased geopolitical
« inability to maintain our transportation assets on lease at satisfactory rates tension and wars on domestic and global economic conditions in general,
and term length due to oversupply of assets in the market or other changes in including supply chain challenges and disruptions
supply and demand

» prolonged inflation or deflation
e competitive factors in our primary markets, including existing or new a . i1 forei h
competitors with significantly lower costs of capital uctuations in foreign exchange rates
* deterioration of conditions in the capital markets, reductions in our credit

¢ higher costs associated with increased assignments of our transportation . : . .
ratings, or increases in our financing costs

assets following non-renewal of leases, customer defaults, and compliance

maintenance programs or other maintenance initiatives  inability to obtain cost-effective insurance

« events having an adverse impact on assets, customers, or regions where we * changes in assumptions, increases in funding requirements or investment
have a concentrated investment exposure losses in our pension and post-retirement plans

¢ financial and operational risks associated with long-term purchase * inadequate allowances to cover credit losses in our portfolio

commitments for transportation assets . . . .
+ asset impairment charges we may be required to recognize

* reduced opportunities to generate asset remarketing income * inability to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting and

¢ inability to successfully consummate and manage ongoing acquisition and disclosure controls and procedures

divestiture activities » the occurrence of a widespread health crisis and the impact of measures taken

in response



PART I
Item 1. Business
GENERAL

GATX Corporation (“GATX”, “we,” “us,” “our,” and similar terms), a New York corporation founded in 1898, is a leading global
railcar lessor, owning fleets in North America, Europe, and India. In addition, through GATX Engine Leasing (“GEL”), our wholly
owned aircraft spare engine leasing business, and our joint ventures with Rolls-Royce plc (or affiliates thereof, collectively “Rolls-
Royce”), we own one of the largest aircraft spare engine lease portfolios in the world. We report our financial results through three
primary business segments: Rail North America, Rail International, and Engine Leasing (previously named Portfolio Management).
Financial results for our tank container leasing business (“Trifleet”) are reported in the Other segment.

In 2024, we changed the name of our Portfolio Management business segment to Engine Leasing to reflect the prospective
operations of this business segment. Historically, this business segment included marine operations from our liquefied gas-carrying
vessels (the “Specialized Gas Vessels”). As of December 31, 2023, we had sold all of our marine assets and no longer have any
marine operations. The segment is now almost entirely composed of our engine leasing operations, which include our ownership
interest in the Rolls-Royce & Partners Finance (“RRPF”) affiliates, a group of joint ventures with Rolls-Royce that lease aircraft spare
engines, and GEL, our business that directly owns aircraft spare engines that are leased to airline customers or employed in an engine
capacity agreement.

The following description of our business should be read in conjunction with the information contained in our Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in Item 7 and the consolidated financial
statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

At December 31, 2024, we had total assets of $12.3 billion, composed largely of railcars.

OPERATIONS
GATX RAIL BUSINESS OVERVIEW
Our wholly owned fleet of approximately 152,000 railcars is one of the largest railcar lease fleets in the world. We lease tank cars,

freight cars, and locomotives in North America, tank cars and freight cars in Europe, and freight cars in India. The following table sets
forth our worldwide rail fleet data as of December 31, 2024:

Tank Freight Managed Total
Railcars Railcars Total Fleet Railcars Railcars Locomotives
Rail North America ......... 64,068 47,293 111,361 288 111,649 661
Rail International ........... 23913 16,697 40,610 7 40,617 —
Total ..................... 87,981 63,990 151,971 295 152,266 661

Our rail customers primarily operate in the transportation, chemical, petroleum, and food/agriculture industries. Our worldwide
railcar fleet consists of diverse railcar types that our customers use to ship nearly 550 different commodities. The following table
presents an overview of our railcar types as well as the industries of our customers and the commodities they ship.



. Specialty/ .
Ge;neral- High- Specialty Pneumatic Gravity Open-Top Flatcars/Inter
Service Tank Pressure Tank Cars Covered Covered Cars Boxcars modal
Cars Tank Cars H Hoppers Railcars
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Petroztrlrsl/Blo Petroleum Chemical Plastics Agriculture Energy Food Automotive
. . Consumer Manufactured
Chemical Chemical Petroleum Food Energy Steel Goods Goods
Principal F C
Industries Food Mining Industrial Industrial | Construction orest onsumer
S Products Goods
erved
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Agriculture Construction Products Packaging Energy
Construction Food Construction Steel
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GATX’s Worldwide Railcar Fleet

Other,
Boxcars, 12%
o,
Pneumatic Covered 6%
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Approximately 152,000 Railcars as of 12/31/2024




GATX’s Industries Served

Other, Chemicals & Plastics,
o

Mining, Mineral & 11%

Aggregates,
5%

Food & Agriculture,
13%

Railroads & Other Transports, Refiners & Other Petroleum,
20% 24%

Based on 2024 Combined Rail North America and Rail International Revenues

RAIL NORTH AMERICA

Rail North America is composed of our operations in the United States, Canada, and Mexico. Rail North America primarily
provides railcars pursuant to full-service leases under which it maintains the railcars, pays ad valorem taxes, and provides other
ancillary services. These railcars have estimated economic useful lives of 27 to 45 years and an average age of approximately 18
years. Rail North America has a large and diverse customer base, serving approximately 830 customers. In 2024, one customer
accounted for more than 5% of Rail North America’s total lease revenue, and the top ten customers combined accounted for
approximately 25% of Rail North America’s total lease revenue. Rail North America leases railcars for terms that generally range
from one to ten years, which vary based on railcar type, lease structure, and market conditions. The average remaining lease term of
the North American fleet was approximately 41 months as of December 31, 2024. Rail North America’s primary competitors in
railcar leasing are Union Tank Car Company, Wells Fargo Rail, CIT Rail, Trinity Industries Leasing Company, and American
Industrial Transport. Rail North America competes primarily on the basis of availability of railcars, maintenance capabilities, lease
rate, lease structures, customer relationships, and engineering expertise.

Rail North America purchases new railcars from a number of manufacturers, including Trinity Rail Group, LLC (“Trinity”), a
subsidiary of Trinity Industries, Inc., The Greenbrier Companies, Inc. (“Greenbrier”) and its subsidiaries, National Steel Car Ltd., and
FreightCar America, Inc. We also acquire new and used railcars in the secondary market.

In 2022, we entered into a long-term railcar supply agreement with Trinity to purchase 15,000 newly built railcars through 2028,
with an option to order up to an additional 500 railcars each year from 2023 to 2028. The agreement enables us to order a broad mix
of tank and freight cars. Trinity is scheduled to deliver 6,000 tank cars (1,200 per year) from 2024 through 2028. The remaining 9,000
railcars, which can be a mix of freight and tank cars, are expected to be ordered at a rate of 1,500 railcars per order year from 2023 to
2028 and delivered under a schedule to be determined. At December 31, 2024, 5,392 railcars have been ordered pursuant to the terms
of the agreement, of which 3,458 have been delivered.

Rail North America also owns a fleet of locomotives, consisting of 593 four-axle and 68 six-axle locomotives as of December 31,
2024. In 2024, we acquired a fleet of 156 locomotives from Progress Rail Services Corporation. The acquisition was an opportunity to
grow the locomotive fleet and add a mix of favorable model types. Locomotive customers are primarily regional and short-line
railroads and industrial users. Lease terms vary from month-to-month to ten years. As of December 31, 2024, the average remaining
lease term of the locomotive fleet was approximately 23 months. Rail North America’s primary competitors in locomotive leasing are
Wells Fargo Rail, CIT Rail, and LTEX Rail. Competitive factors in the market include availability of locomotives, lease rates,
customer service, and maintenance.



Maintenance

Rail North America operates an extensive network of maintenance facilities in the United States and Canada dedicated to
performing safe, timely, efficient, and high-quality railcar maintenance services for customers. Services include interior cleaning of
railcars, routine maintenance and general repairs to the car body and safety appliances, regulatory compliance work, wheelset
replacements, interior blast and lining, exterior blast and painting, and car stenciling. To the extent possible, railcar maintenance is
scheduled in a manner that minimizes the amount of time the car is out of service.

At December 31, 2024, Rail North America’s maintenance network consisted of:

 Six major maintenance facilities that can complete nearly all types of maintenance services;
* One smaller maintenance facility with more limited capabilities;

* One customer-dedicated site operating within a customer facility that offers services tailored to the needs of our customer’s fleet;
and

» Two locations with mobile units that travel to field locations to provide services tailored to the needs of our customers’ fleets.

The maintenance network is supplemented by a number of preferred third-party maintenance providers and railroads. In 2024, third-
party maintenance network expenses accounted for approximately 18% of Rail North America’s total maintenance network expenses,
excluding repairs performed by the railroads. In 2024, wholly owned and third-party maintenance facilities performed approximately
29,000 service events, including in some cases multiple independent service events for the same railcar.

Our maintenance activities are primarily dedicated to servicing our wholly owned railcar fleet pursuant to the provisions of our
lease contracts. This may include services that are not included in the full-service lease agreement, such as repairs of railcar damage
or other customer-specific requirements. Revenue earned from these types of maintenance services is recorded in other revenue. We
also perform maintenance and repair activities on railcars owned by third parties.

Affiliates

GATX is a co-founder of and, as of December 31, 2024, owns a 10.0% share in the RailPulse LLC (“RailPulse”) joint venture.
RailPulse’s owners consist of a coalition of North American railcar owners, including leasing companies, shippers, short lines, and
Class I railroads. The RailPulse joint venture was formed to create an industry-wide telematics platform to enable the use of
telematics devices to gather data and enhance rail safety and the value proposition for rail shippers across North America. The
financial results of RailPulse are not material to GATX.

RAIL INTERNATIONAL

Rail International is composed of our operations in Europe (“GATX Rail Europe” or “GRE”), India (“Rail India”), and until
January 31, 2023, Russia (“Rail Russia”). GRE primarily leases railcars to customers throughout Europe pursuant to full-service
leases under which it maintains the railcars and provides value-added services according to customer requirements. As of
December 31, 2024, GRE owned 30,027 railcars with estimated useful lives of 32 to 40 years and an average age of approximately 17
years. GRE has a diverse customer base with approximately 270 customers. In 2024, one customer accounted for approximately 18%
of GRE’s total lease revenue and the top ten customers combined accounted for approximately 46% of GRE’s total lease revenue.
GRE’s lease terms generally range from one to ten years and, as of December 31, 2024, the average remaining lease term of the
European fleet was approximately 20 months. GRE’s primary competitors are VTG Aktiengesellschaft, the Ermewa Group, Wascosa
AG, and Touax. GRE competes principally on the basis of availability of railcars, customer relationships, lease rate, lease structure,
engineering, and maintenance expertise.

GRE acquires new railcars primarily from Gok Yapi San. Tic. a.s., Greenbrier-Astra Rail (Wagony Swidnica sp. z.0.0 and Astra
Rail Industries S.A.), Duro Dakovic, and Tatravagonka a.s. Additionally, GRE’s Ostréda, Poland maintenance facility assembles tank
cars each year. As of December 31, 2024, GRE had commitments to acquire from third parties, primarily from Go6k Yapi San. Tic.
a.s., Greenbrier-Astra Rail, Duro Dakovic and Tatravagonka a.s., 1,804 newly manufactured railcars scheduled to be delivered in
2025.

As of December 31, 2024, Rail India owned 10,583 railcars with estimated useful lives of 15 to 30 years. Rail India’s leases are net
leases, under which the lessee assumes responsibility for maintenance of the railcars, and have terms generally ranging from five to
fifteen years. As of December 31, 2024, the average remaining lease term of the Indian fleet was approximately 75 months. Rail India
has a customer base of 18 customers in the automotive, container, steel, cement, and bulk commodities transport sector, as well as one



customer in the public sector. As of December 31, 2024, Rail India had entered into contracts to acquire 682 railcars to be delivered in
2025, the majority of which have committed leases in place with customers.

In 2022, we decided to exit Rail Russia due to the impacts of the Russia/Ukraine conflict on our business and the business risks
associated with the geopolitical environment resulting from that conflict. In the first quarter of 2023, we sold Rail Russia. See
“Note 10. Asset Impairments and Assets Held for Sale” in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K for further information.

Maintenance

GRE operates a maintenance facility in Ostroda, Poland that performs significant repairs, regulatory compliance, and modernization
work for our owned railcars and assembles railcars for GRE’s fleet. This facility is supplemented by an extensive network of third-
party repair facilities. The third-party facilities accounted for approximately 66% of GRE’s total maintenance network expenses in
2024.

Similar to our Rail North America segment, GRE’s customers periodically require maintenance services that are not included in the
full-service lease agreement. These services are generally related to the repair of railcar damage caused by customers and railways, as
well as customer-specific requirements. Revenue earned from these maintenance activities is recorded in other revenue.

In India, all railcar maintenance is performed by Indian Railways or third-parties authorized by Indian Railways, in accordance with
regulatory requirements.

ENGINE LEASING

Engine Leasing is composed primarily of the Rolls-Royce & Partners Finance joint ventures (collectively, the “RRPF affiliates™)
that lease aircraft spare engines and GATX Engine Leasing (“GEL”), our wholly owned aircraft spare engine leasing business.

Affiliates

The RRPF affiliates are a group of 50% owned domestic and foreign joint ventures with Rolls-Royce plc, a leading manufacturer of
commercial aircraft jet engines. The RRPF affiliates are primarily engaged in two business activities: leasing of aircraft spare engines
to a diverse group of commercial aircraft operators worldwide and leasing of aircraft spare engines to Rolls-Royce for use in their
engine maintenance programs. As of December 31, 2024, the RRPF affiliates, in aggregate, owned 427 engines, of which 198 were on
lease to Rolls-Royce. Aircraft engines have an estimated economic useful life of 20 to 30 years. As of December 31, 2024, the
average age of these engines was approximately 12 years. Lease terms vary, but typically range from 5 to 12 years. The RRPF
affiliates are staffed and managed by seconded Rolls-Royce employees, who also oversee any required maintenance activities.

Owned Assets

GEL is our wholly owned entity that invests directly in aircraft spare engines. As of December 31, 2024, GEL owned 39 aircraft
spare engines, with 14 on long-term leases with airline customers and 25 that are employed in an engine capacity agreement with
Rolls-Royce for use in its engine maintenance programs. These aircraft spare engines have an estimated economic useful life of 20 to
30 years. As of December 31, 2024, the average age of these engines was approximately 4 years. The average remaining lease term of
engines on long-term leases as of December 31, 2024 was approximately 6 years. All engines owned by GEL are managed by the
RRPF affiliates.

Historically, Engine Leasing had marine assets (the “Specialized Gas Vessels”) that were utilized to transport pressurized gases and
chemicals, such as liquefied petroleum gas and ethylene, primarily on short-term spot contracts and medium-term charters and
contracts of affreightment for major oil and chemical customers worldwide. As of December 31, 2023, we had sold all of our marine
assets.



OTHER

Trifleet owns and manages tank containers that are leased to a diverse base of approximately 300 customers in the chemical,
industrial gas, energy, food, cryogenic and pharmaceutical industries, and transport and logistics operators. These tank containers
have estimated useful lives of 15 to 25 years and an average age of approximately 8 years. Trifleet’s lease terms generally range from
one to five years and, as of December 31, 2024, the average remaining lease term was approximately 23 months. Trifleet manages
tank containers on behalf of a limited number of third-party container investors under long-term agreements. Under these agreements,
Trifleet earns fees for managing these investor-owned fleets, and provides various services, including the sourcing of new containers
and customers, leasing and remarketing of tank containers, and arranging inspection and maintenance services. Trifleet’s primary
competitors are Exsif, Eurotainer, Seaco, Raffles, Peacock, and CS Leasing.

Trifleet acquires new tank containers primarily from China International Marine Containers (Group) Ltd. (“CIMC”), Jingjiang
Asian-Pacific Logistics Equipment Co., Ltd. (“JJAP”), and Nantong Tank Container Co., Ltd. (“NT Tank”). As of December 31,
2024, Trifleet had commitments to acquire from third-parties, primarily from CIMC, 485 newly manufactured tank containers to be
delivered in 2025.

TRADEMARKS AND PATENTS

Patents, trademarks, and licenses are not material to our businesses taken as a whole.
SEASONAL NATURE OF BUSINESS

GATX’s business is not materially impacted by seasonality of operations.

CUSTOMER BASE

GATX, taken as a whole, is not dependent upon a single customer nor does it have any significant customer concentrations.
Segment concentrations, if material, are described above.

See “Note 14. Concentrations” in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K for additional information.
HUMAN CAPITAL

The strength of our workforce is a significant contributor to our success. To facilitate talent attraction and retention, we endeavor to
make GATX an inclusive and safe workplace that recognizes and fosters innovation and a variety of viewpoints while providing
employees with opportunities to grow and develop in their careers. This is supported by fair compensation, a range of benefits, health
and wellness offerings, and programs that build connections between our employees and their communities.

Employees and Employee Relations

As of December 31, 2024, we employed 2,150 persons globally, of whom approximately 39% were union workers covered by
collective bargaining agreements. The hourly employees at our U.S. service centers are represented by the United Steelworkers.
Employees at three of Rail North America’s Canadian service centers are represented by Unifor and the Employee Shop Committee of
Riviere-des-Prairies. Certain employees of GATX Rail Europe are represented by one union in Poland.

See “Note 14. Concentrations” in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K for additional information about our employees and
concentration of labor force.



Our People

GATX is committed to fostering an inclusive environment where employees feel valued and welcomed to be their best personally
and professionally. In recent years, GATX has committed to strengthening its culture through a variety of projects and processes,
including:

* aiming to cultivate an inclusive environment where everyone can contribute their full range of knowledge, experiences, and
perspectives to attract and retain top-tier talent, and by embracing such varied viewpoints, we seek to drive innovation and
enhance business outcomes;

+ utilizing structured and transparent hiring practices that seek to attract top-tier talent;

» conducting annual compensation reviews for professional, managerial, and executive level positions;

« regularly conducting employee engagement surveys; and

* supporting our employees’ learning and career growth through a comprehensive approach that includes organization-wide
training, specialized programs for emerging leaders and people managers, and an extensive selection of e-learning
opportunities.

Talent Development and Retention

We champion learning and career growth for our employees, as we believe the talent and efforts of our employees drive the success
of our business. We believe the long tenure of many GATX employees is an attestation to the organization’s culture and career
opportunities. Employees are supported with a multi-tiered approach to learning. For example, managers receive training on topics
such as managing in a hybrid work environment, performance management, and goal-setting, while employees in our maintenance
facilities have access to certification programs that enable their career progression. Career success profiles provide transparency into
what it takes to be successful at GATX as an individual contributor and also as a leader. Our talent development programs are
designed to provide employees with the resources they need to help achieve their career goals, build management skills, and lead their
organizations, as well as to facilitate readiness for potential successors within our leadership pipelines.

Compensation and Benefits

GATX provides comprehensive compensation and benefits programs to support our employees’ overall well-being. In addition to
offering competitive salaries, GATX provides employees with annual bonuses, stock awards, a matched 401(k) plan, comprehensive
health insurance, prescription drug coverage, health savings accounts, and paid time off. Our retirement program includes pension
plans, a health reimbursement account, and pre-65 medical plan for employees retiring from the company. Other benefits include life,
disability, and accident insurance, paid parental leave, identity theft coverage, flexible time off, adoption assistance, tuition
reimbursement, and telecommuting flexibility.

Safety

GATX strives to maintain the highest levels of safety by fostering a culture that makes safety a top priority. GATX utilizes a
continuous improvement methodology to identify environment, health, and safety hazards, evaluate the risks, implement control
measures, and drive improvement initiatives.

We continue to strive to ensure that our railcar maintenance facility employees, who are essential workers in the rail industry, can
safely perform their jobs every day.

GATX continues to be recognized as a Responsible Care Partner by the American Chemistry Council (“ACC”) and the Chemistry
Industry Association of Canada (“CIAC”) and is an active participant in the Transportation Community Awareness and Emergency
Response (“TRANSCAER”) initiative, a national outreach effort assisting communities to prepare for and respond to possible
hazardous materials transportation incidents. In 2024, GATX received several Responsible Care awards, including the CIAC’s 2023
Responsible Care Excellence in Partnership Award, 2023 President’s Award for an employee’s long-standing dedication to
TRANSCAER Canada and the development of a new TRANSCAER Tank Trainer Car, and two ACC Facility Safety Awards for
Terre Haute’s and Waycross’ achievements in the prevention of occupational injuries and illnesses. Additionally, GATX offers
training on the proper use of our equipment and on regulations that impact our business. We hold training events at customer locations
across North America through the use of our TankTrainer™ mobile classroom.



Community Commitment

We believe that building connections between our employees and their communities creates a more meaningful, fulfilling, and
productive workplace. GATX has a long history of supporting causes in communities where our employees live and work,
establishing a company culture that values strong corporate citizenship. Every year, our local offices organize and encourage
employees to volunteer and give back through programs that focus on addressing the needs of underserved populations and building
vibrant communities. Highlights from 2024 included:

* Employees in Chicago, Illinois and Hearne, Texas helped create life-changing wishes in partnership with their local
Make-A-Wish chapters. Further, for over 25 years, GATX and its employees have donated nearly $6 million to
Make-A-Wish Illinois through corporate contributions and employee giving and fundraising.

* In Chicago, Illinois, employees participated in a service day with Big Shoulders Fund, which provides support to inner-city
schools, to clean, beautify, and prepare schools for the new school year. Further, GATX employees mentor students year-
round.

* Employees across Europe cleaned natural areas, revitalized garden spaces, donated blood, and more as part of GATX Rail
Europe’s “You Care - We Care” initiative.

* In Moose Jaw, Saskatchewan, employees collected and donated more than 750 pounds of food to the community food bank,
helping nourish their neighbors in need.

* In Galena Park, Texas, GATX employees helped ensure students were prepared for the new school year by donating
backpacks, school supplies, and a specialty printer to a school. In recognition of these efforts, GATX received the “Stand Up
for Texas Public Schools” honor from the Texas Association of School Boards and Galena Park Independent School District.

SUSTAINABILITY

We are committed to growing our business in a sustainable and socially responsible manner, and we demonstrate our commitment
through our programs and initiatives. A multi-functional team meets periodically to develop, assess, and prioritize topics that are
important to our business and our stakeholders and to continually improve both the measurement and transparency of our disclosures
and practices. The Governance Committee of GATX’s Board of Directors has primary oversight responsibility for our ongoing and
developing sustainability efforts. We maintain a Sustainability page on our website (www.gatx.com) to highlight our environmental
and social accomplishments and provide key performance data to our stakeholders. For example, in 2024, GATX received the Energy
Efficiency Award from the ACC in recognition of the Colton, California facility’s flare optimization project. Further, GRE and
Trifleet both received the Gold rating from EcoVadis, a global provider of business sustainability ratings, placing them in the top
5 percent of all rated companies. GATX issues an annual Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (“SASB”) report, which can be
found on our website, that discloses metrics related to relevant sustainability factors. Nothing on our website shall be deemed
incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K.



ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Our operations, facilities, and properties are subject to extensive federal, state, local, and foreign environmental laws and
regulations. These laws cover discharges to waters, air emissions, toxic substances, the generation, handling, storage, transportation,
and disposal of waste and hazardous materials, and the investigation and remediation of contamination. These laws have the effect of
increasing the cost and liability associated with leasing and operating assets, and violations can result in significant fines, penalties, or
other liabilities. Environmental risks and compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations are inherent in the use of rail
and other transportation assets, which can involve transporting chemicals and other hazardous materials.

We are subject to, and may from time to time continue to be subject to, environmental cleanup and enforcement actions in the
United States and in the foreign countries in which we operate. In particular, the federal Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act (“CERCLA”), also known as the Superfund law, generally imposes joint and several liability for
investigation, cleanup, and enforcement costs on current and former owners and operators of a site, without regard to fault or the
legality of the original conduct. Accordingly, we have been and may, in the future, be named as a potentially responsible party under
CERCLA and other federal, state, local, and foreign laws or regulations for all or a portion of the costs to investigate and clean up
sites at which certain contaminants may have been discharged or released by us, our current lessees, former owners or lessees of
properties, or other third parties. Environmental remediation and other environmental costs are accrued when considered probable and
amounts can be reasonably estimated. As of December 31, 2024, environmental costs were not material to our financial position,
results of operations, or cash flows. For further discussion, see “Note 23. Legal Proceedings and Other Contingencies” in Part II,
Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

We recognize that climate matters, including related regulatory action, have the potential to impact our leasing businesses and
maintenance operations. GATX continues to evaluate and assess business, operational, and strategic risks associated with climate
matters and reports on key environmental data. We publish Scope 1 and Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions and continue to work on
assessing our full value chain impacts on the environment in an effort to identify opportunities to reduce those impacts.
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INFORMATION ABOUT OUR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following information regarding our executive officers is included in Part I in lieu of inclusion in our definitive Proxy Statement:

Position
Held
Name Offices Held Since Age
Robert C. Lyons .......... President and Chief Executive Officer 2022 61
Thomas A. Ellman ........ Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 2018 56
Brian L. Glassberg ........ Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary 2022 50
KimNero ............... Executive Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer 2021 50
Paul F. Titterton .......... Executive Vice President and President, Rail North America 2022 49
Niyi A. Adedoyin ......... Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer 2016 57
Kevin J. Hillesland ........ Senior Vice President, Structured Finance 2023 61
Christopher M. LaHurd . . . . . Senior Vice President, International 2024 42
Jennifer M. McManus . . . ... Senior Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer 2020 45
Geoffrey D. Phillips ....... Senior Vice President, Operations 2023 56
John M. Sbragia .......... Senior Vice President, Engineering and Quality 2023 54
Jennifer L. Van Aken ...... Senior Vice President, Treasurer and Chief Risk Officer 2020 50
Jeffery R. Young .......... Senior Vice President and Chief Tax Officer 2018 62
Robert A. Zmudka ........ Senior Vice President and Chief Commercial Officer 2018 57

*  Mr. Lyons was elected President and Chief Executive Officer and as a director effective April 2022. Previously, Mr. Lyons
served as Executive Vice President and President, Rail North America from 2018 to April 2022, Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer from 2012 to August 2018, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from 2007 to 2012, Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer from 2004 to 2007, Vice President, Investor Relations from 2000 to 2004, Project
Manager, Corporate Finance from 1998 to 2000, and Director of Investor Relations from 1996 to 1998. Mr. Lyons has served as
a director of Packaging Corporation of America since 2011.

¢ Mr. Ellman was elected Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer effective August 2018. Previously, Mr. Ellman
served as Executive Vice President and President, Rail North America from 2013 to August 2018, Senior Vice President and
Chief Commercial Officer from 2011 to 2013, and Vice President and Chief Commercial Officer from 2006 to 2011. Prior to
re-joining GATX in 2006, Mr. Ellman served as Senior Vice President and Chief Risk Officer and Senior Vice President, Asset
Management of GE Equipment Services, Railcar Services and held various positions at GATX in the GATX Rail Finance Group.

*  Mr. Glassberg was elected Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary effective December 2022. Since joining
GATX in October 2011, Mr. Glassberg has served in various leadership roles within the law department, including as Deputy
General Counsel from April 2021 to November 2022 and Associate General Counsel from March 2015 to March 2021. Prior to
joining GATX, Mr. Glassberg was an associate in the corporate department of the Washington, DC and Chicago, IL offices of
Latham & Watkins, LLP.

*  Ms. Nero was elected Executive Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer effective May 2021. Prior to joining GATX,
Ms. Nero served as Vice President, Human Resources at Ferrara Candy Company from May 2017 to April 2021. Prior to that,
she held positions in sales and then went on to lead global human resources functions in the financial, pharmaceutical, consumer
packaged goods, and manufacturing industries at Discover, EVRAZ, Eli Lilly, and SC Johnson Wax.

e Mr. Titterton was elected Executive Vice President and President, Rail North America effective April 2022. Previously,
Mr. Titterton served as Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, Rail North America from 2018 to April 2022, Senior
Vice President and Chief Commercial Officer, Rail North America from 2015 to 2018, Vice President and Chief Commercial
Officer from 2013 to 2015, Vice President and Group Executive, Fleet Management, Marketing and Government Affairs from
2011 to 2013, Vice President and Executive Director, Fleet Management from 2008 to 2011, and in a variety of positions of
increasing responsibility since joining the company in 1997.
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Mr. Adedoyin was elected Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer effective January 2016. Previously,
Mr. Adedoyin served as Vice President and Chief Information Officer from 2013 to January 2016 and Senior Director, IT
Strategy and Project Management Office from 2008 to 2013.

Mr. Hillesland was elected Senior Vice President, Structured Finance, effective August 2023. Previously, Mr. Hillesland served
as Vice President and Executive Director, Structured Finance from November 2017 to August 2023. Since joining GATX in
1994, Mr. Hillesland has held leadership positions with increasing responsibility across corporate finance, rail, portfolio
investments, and structured finance.

Mr. LaHurd was elected Senior Vice President, International, effective August 2024. Previously, Mr. LaHurd was Vice
President, International Business Development from May 2017 to August 2024. Since joining GATX in 2008, Mr. LaHurd has
held leadership positions with increasing responsibility across finance and international business development.

Ms. McManus was elected Senior Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer effective January 2020. Previously
Ms. McManus served as Senior Director, Investor Relations and Accounting Research, Policy & Planning since May 2017 and
Director, Accounting Research, Policy & Planning from June 2015 to May 2017. Prior to joining GATX, Ms. McManus held
various positions of increasing responsibility with Hyatt Hotels Corporation, Tribune Company, and in public accounting.

Mr. Phillips was elected Senior Vice President, Operations, effective August 2023. Previously Mr. Phillips served as Vice
President and Group Executive, Operations from April 2022 to August 2023 and as Vice President and Executive Director, North
American Rail Services & Logistics from January 2016 to March 2022. Since joining GATX in 1996, Mr. Phillips has held
leadership positions with increasing responsibility across finance, business development, customer experience, operations, and
rail services and logistics.

Mr. Sbragia was elected Senior Vice President, Engineering and Quality, effective August 2023. Previously, Mr. Sbragia served
as Vice President and Group Executive, Engineering and Quality from April 2022 to August 2023 and as Vice President, Railcar
Engineering & Quality Assurance from March 2012 to March 2022. Since joining GATX in 1998, Mr. Sbragia has held
leadership positions in engineering and quality with increasing responsibility.

Ms. Van Aken was elected Senior Vice President, Treasurer, and Chief Risk Officer effective September 2020. Previously
Ms. Van Aken served as Vice President, Financial Planning & Analysis from 2019 to 2020, Senior Director, Financial
Planning & Analysis from 2018 to 2019, Assistant Treasurer, Corporate Finance from 2016 to 2018, Director, Investment Risk
Management from 2015 to 2016, Director, Investor Relations from 2010 to 2015, Director, Corporate Finance from 2009 to
2010, and Manager, Corporate Finance from 2006 to 2009. Prior to joining GATX, Ms. Van Aken held a number of positions of
increasing responsibility in the financial services industry.

Mr. Young was elected Senior Vice President and Chief Tax Officer effective August 2018. Previously, Mr. Young served as
Vice President and Chief Tax Officer from 2015 to August 2018, Vice President of Tax from 2007 to 2015, and as Director of
Tax from 2003 to 2007. Prior to joining GATX, Mr. Young spent twenty years in a variety of tax related positions of increasing
responsibility in public accounting and the financial services industry.

Mr. Zmudka was elected Senior Vice President and Chief Commercial Officer effective August 2018. Previously, Mr. Zmudka
served as Vice President and Group Executive, North American Sales & Marketing from 2010 to August 2018, Vice President
and Executive Director, Strategic Sales from 2007 to 2010, and Vice President, National Accounts from 2006 to 2007.
Mr. Zmudka joined GATX in 1989 and worked in various sales and fleet portfolio roles before being promoted to Vice President,
Regional Sales in 2001.
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AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We make available free of charge at our website, www.gatx.com, our most recent annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “1934 Act”), as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports are electronically filed with, or
furnished to, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy, and
other information that we have filed with the SEC. The SEC website may be found at http://www.sec.gov. Charters for the Audit
Committee, Compensation Committee and Governance Committee of the Board of Directors, the Corporate Governance Guidelines,
the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and the Code of Ethics for Senior Company Officers are posted under Governance in the
Investor Relations section of our website, and are available in print upon request by any shareholder. Within the time period
prescribed by SEC and New York Stock Exchange regulations, we will post on our website any amendment to the Code of Ethics for
Senior Company Officers and the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or any waivers thereof. The information on our website is not
incorporated by reference into this report.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Investors should consider the risk factors described below as well as other information contained in this filing or our other filings
with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission before investing in our securities. If any of the events described in the risk factors
below occur, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

Business, Operational and Industry Risks

We depend on continued demand from our customers to lease or use our transportation assets and services at satisfactory rates. A
significant decline in customer demand could negatively impact our business and financial performance.

Our profitability depends on our ability to lease assets at satisfactory rates and to re-lease assets upon lease expiration. Customer
demand for our transportation assets and services can be adversely affected by various economic and other factors, including:

*  Prolonged inflation or deflation;

»  High interest rates;

*  Weak macroeconomic conditions and world trade policies, including tariffs, embargoes and sanctions;

e Weak market conditions in our customers’ businesses;

*  Adverse changes in the price of, or demand for, commodities;

e Changes in railroad operations, efficiency, safety, pricing and service offerings, including those related to “precision
scheduled railroading” or labor strikes or shortages;

*  Changes in, or disruptions to, supply chains;

» Auvailability of pipelines, trucks, and other alternative modes of transportation;

* Changes in conditions affecting the aviation industry, including geographic exposure, global conflict and customer
concentrations; and

»  Other operational or commercial needs or decisions of our customers.

Demand for our railcars and other transportation assets is dependent on the strength and growth of our customers’ businesses. Some
of our customers operate in cyclical or fluctuating markets, such as the steel, energy, chemical, transportation, and construction
industries, which are susceptible to macroeconomic downturns and may experience significant changes in demand over time.
Weakness in certain sectors of the economy in the United States and other parts of the world may make it more difficult for us to lease
our transportation assets or to lease them on profitable terms.

Adverse changes in commodity prices or reduced demand for commodities could reduce customer demand for various types of
assets in our fleet. A significant decrease in the price of a commodity may cause producers of that commodity to reduce their
production levels. A significant increase in the price of a commodity could cause our customers to switch to less expensive
alternatives. In either case, these changes in customer behavior can reduce demand for the portions of our fleet that are used to
transport the commodity. In addition, demand for transportation assets used to transport certain commodities, including ethanol and
other renewable fuels, may be affected by government subsidies and mandates, which may be enacted, changed, or eliminated from
time to time, while demand for transportation assets used to transport fossil fuels or that directly or indirectly require consumption of
fossil fuels for operation may be affected by government policies and mandates with respect to climate matters and carbon emissions.

The availability and relative cost of alternative modes of transportation and changes in customer transportation preferences also
could reduce demand for our assets. For example, technological innovations in the trucking industry and patterns in U.S. economic
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growth that favor truck over rail could result in a modal shift away from rail and reduce customer demand for our rail assets. Demand
for our other transportation assets and related services is also influenced by many of the factors discussed above. For example, aircraft
spare engine leasing is influenced by airline and lessee profitability, patterns in global air travel, reliability and durability of engine
types, world trade policies, widespread health crises, geopolitical tensions or conflict, technological advances, and price and other
competitive factors. A significant decline in customer demand for our assets and services could adversely affect our financial
performance.

In many cases, demand for our transportation assets also depends on our customers’ desire to lease, rather than buy, the assets. Tax
and accounting considerations, interest rates, and operational flexibility, among other factors, may influence a customer’s decision to
lease or buy assets. We have no control over these external considerations, and changes in these factors could negatively impact
demand for our transportation assets held for lease.

A significant change in pricing and/or service offerings by North American railroads or poor operating conditions could reduce
demand for our rail assets and negatively impact our financial performance.

Our North American rail asset leasing business is impacted by the operations of the railroads, particularly the largest rail systems
known as the “Class I railroads”, most of which are operating under a philosophy known as “precision scheduled railroading” or
“PSR”. If PSR results in substantial increases in train velocity or decreases in dwell time for rail assets, the resulting excess supply of
railcars and/or locomotives may adversely impact the demand for our rail assets. Alternatively, if PSR results in increased pricing and/
or reduced service frequency, decreased reliability, safety and/or quality, the value proposition of rail freight for shippers relative to
alternative modes of transportation could be reduced. Apart from PSR, other factors such as adverse weather conditions, railroad
mergers, labor strikes or shortages, poor service to shippers, other disruptions to railroad operations, and increases in rail traffic could
result in slower transit times making rail transportation less attractive to shippers versus other modes of transport. Each of these cases
could reduce demand for our rail assets and decreased fleet utilization due to modal shift away from rail, all of which could negatively
impact revenue and our results of operations.

Competition could result in decreased profitability.

We operate in a highly competitive business environment. In certain cases, our competitors are larger than we are and have greater
financial resources, higher credit ratings, and a lower cost of capital, while some of our competitors manufacture railcars for their own
leasing businesses. These factors may enable our competitors to offer leases or services to customers at lower rates than we can
provide, thus negatively impacting our profitability, asset utilization, and investment volume. In addition, decreasing interest rates
may invite new competition.

A significant decrease in lease renewals of our transportation assets by our customers or a significant increase in the number of
compliance-based maintenance events could negatively impact operations and substantially increase our costs.

Decreases in customer demand for our transportation assets could increase the number of leases that are not renewed upon
expiration, resulting in the return of such assets by our customers. Returned transportation assets often must undergo maintenance and
service work before being leased to new customers. A significant increase in the number of leased assets requiring maintenance may
negatively affect our operations and substantially increase maintenance and other related costs.

We also perform a variety of government or industry-mandated maintenance programs on our fleet of transportation assets. These
compliance programs are cyclical in nature, and as a result, we can face significant increases in the number of maintenance events in
any given year. A significant increase in maintenance events or severe constraints in the repair networks may negatively impact our
operations and substantially increase maintenance and other related costs as a result of increased volume or the need to utilize higher
cost third party maintenance providers. In addition, while we rely on third party maintenance providers to assist with these compliance
procedures for our transportation assets, high demand faced by these providers from other asset owners may constrain our access to
the providers or may substantially increase our costs.

Events that negatively affect certain assets, customers, or geographic regions could have a negative impact on our results of
operations.

We generally derive our revenues from a variety of asset types, customers, industries, and geographic locations. However, from
time to time we could have a large investment in a particular asset type, a large revenue stream associated with a particular customer
or industry, or a large number of customers located in a particular geographic region. Decreased demand from a discrete event
impacting a specific asset type, customer, industry, or region in which we have a concentrated exposure could negatively impact our
results of operations.
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Our long-term railcar purchase commitments could subject us to material operational and financial risks.

Unlike some of our competitors in the railcar leasing market, we do not manufacture railcars. In order to obtain committed access to
a supply of newly built railcars on competitive terms, we periodically enter into long-term supply agreements with manufacturers to
purchase significant numbers of newly built railcars over a multi-year period. Some of these agreements may provide for flexibility in
the pricing, timing, and quantity of our purchasing commitments, while other agreements may provide no such flexibility. Therefore,
if economic conditions weaken during the term of a long-term supply agreement, it is possible that we may be required to continue to
accept delivery of, and pay for, new railcars at times when it may be difficult for us to lease such railcars at reasonable rates, or at all.
Furthermore, we may be required to take delivery of railcars at points when our financing costs may be high. These factors could
negatively affect our revenues and profitability. In addition, if tariffs, labor interruptions or shortages, trade disputes, commodity
prices, geopolitical tensions, inflation, supply chain disruptions, or other factors lead to higher prices for steel or other raw materials
used to manufacture railcars or components utilized in such railcars, we may be required to pay higher prices to purchase new railcars,
which could adversely affect our ability to profitably lease those railcars to customers.

Soft market conditions and declines in asset values may reduce opportunities for us to generate remarketing income.

We utilize our extensive knowledge and experience to remarket transportation assets in order to optimize the composition of our
fleets, and these activities generate income that contributes significantly to segment profit. Reduced demand for our assets could
reduce opportunities for us to generate remarketing income. A significant or prolonged decline in the secondary market for our assets
could adversely affect our financial performance.

We may not be able to successfully consummate and manage ongoing acquisition and divestiture activities, which could have an
adverse impact on our financial statements.

From time to time, we may acquire other businesses and, based on an evaluation of our business portfolio, divest existing
businesses. These transactions may present financial, managerial, and operational challenges, including diversion of management
attention from existing businesses, difficulty with integrating or separating personnel and financial and other systems, increased
expenses and costs, assumption of liabilities and indemnities, increased compliance risks, and potential disputes with the buyers or
sellers or third parties. In addition, we may be required to incur asset impairment charges (including charges related to goodwill and
other intangible assets) in connection with acquired businesses, which may reduce our profitability. If we are unable to consummate
such transactions, we will not receive the expected benefits, and alternative favorable opportunities to invest or divest may not be
available to us. If we cannot successfully integrate and grow acquisitions and achieve contemplated revenue synergies and cost
savings, or are unable to complete a divestiture, our financial results could be adversely affected.

We rely on Rolls-Royce in connection with our aircraft spare engine leasing businesses, and certain factors that adversely affect
Rolls-Royce could have an adverse effect on those businesses.

GATX and Rolls-Royce plc. (“Rolls-Royce’) each own 50% of domestic and foreign joint venture entities (collectively, the “RRPF
affiliates” or “RRPF”) that own and lease aircraft spare engines to Rolls-Royce and owners and operators of commercial aircraft. In
addition, GATX directly invests in aircraft spare engines through its wholly owned subsidiary, GATX Engine Leasing Ltd. (“GEL”),
and places some of these engines on long-term leases with airline operators, with RRPF serving as the asset manager. For other
engines, GEL also provides Rolls-Royce with access to aircraft spare engine capacity to support Rolls-Royce’s engine maintenance
program for its customers. Rolls-Royce is therefore a major customer of the RRPF affiliates and of GEL, as well as a critical supplier
of aircraft spare engines and commercial, technical, and maintenance services to GATX and the RRPF affiliates. A deterioration in
(1) the performance of services provided by Rolls-Royce or RRPF, or (2) the durability and reliability of the engines, or (3) the
financial condition, creditworthiness or liquidity of Rolls-Royce or RRPF could negatively impact GATX’s financial performance or,
in the case of GEL, its operational performance.

Our transportation assets may become obsolete.

In addition to changes in laws, rules, and regulations that may make transportation assets obsolete, changes in the preferred method
our customers use to ship their products, changes in demand for particular products, or a shift by customers toward purchasing assets
rather than leasing them may adversely impact us. Our customers’ industries are driven by dynamic market forces and trends, which
are influenced by economic and political factors. Changes in our customers’ markets may significantly affect demand for our
transportation assets.
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Risks related to our international operations and expansion into new geographic markets could adversely affect our business,
financial condition, and operating results.

We generate a significant amount of our net income outside the United States. In recent years, we have increased our focus on
international growth and expansion into select emerging markets as a means to grow and diversify earnings.

Our foreign operations and international expansion strategy are subject to the following risks associated with international operations:

*  Unforeseen developments and conditions, including terrorism, war, and international tensions and conflicts;

*  Supply chain disruptions;

* Imposition of additional or new tariffs, quotas, trade barriers, embargoes, regulations, and similar restrictions on operations
outside the United States;

» Inability to access railcar, tank container or component supply;

* Imposition of sanctions against countries where we operate or specific companies or individuals with whom we do business,
or retaliatory sanctions by such countries on companies in the U.S. or in other countries in which we operate;

* Nationalization or confiscation of assets by foreign governments;

e Inflation or deflation;

*  Fluctuations in currency values;

*  Sudden changes in foreign currency exchange controls;

*  Noncompliance with U.S. laws affecting operations outside of the United States, such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act;
*  Noncompliance with a variety of foreign laws and regulations;

*  Failure to properly implement changes in tax laws and the interpretation of those laws;

» Failure to develop and maintain data management practices that comply with laws related to cybersecurity, privacy, artificial
intelligence, data localization, and data protection;

* Discriminatory or conflicting fiscal or trade policies;
« Difficulties enforcing contractual rights or foreclosing to obtain the return of our assets in certain jurisdictions;
*  Uncollectible accounts and longer collection cycles that may be more prevalent in foreign countries; and

* Ineffective or delayed implementation of appropriate controls, policies, and processes across our diverse operations and
employee base.

Many of our employees are represented by unions, and failure to successfully negotiate collective bargaining agreements may
result in strikes, work stoppages, or substantially higher labor costs.

A significant portion of our employees are represented by labor unions and work under collective bargaining agreements that cover
a range of workplace matters, such as wages, health and welfare benefits, and work rules. If we fail to negotiate acceptable labor
agreements, our business could be disrupted by strikes or lockouts. We could also incur increased operating costs due to higher wages
or benefits paid to union workers. Business disruptions or higher operating costs could both have an adverse effect on our financial
position, results of operations, or cash flows.

We operate in a challenging market for talent, and our failure to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel, including key
management personnel, could adversely impact our ability to execute our strategy.

Our success depends on the strength of our workforce (many of whom are longstanding GATX employees) and therefore on our
ability to attract, develop, engage and retain employee talent, including successors to members of senior management. Achieving this
objective may be difficult due to many factors, including fluctuations in global economic and industry conditions, competitors’ hiring
practices and the effectiveness of our compensation programs. The market for both hourly and professional employees has been, and
remains, very competitive. Difficulties in recruiting and motivating qualified personnel, including skilled labor, the unexpected loss of
such individuals resulting in the depletion of our institutional knowledge base, or our inability to successfully transition key roles
could hinder our ability to execute our strategy and adversely impact our business and results of operations.
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Information Technology Risks

We rely on technology in all aspects of our business operations. If we are unable to adequately maintain and secure our information
technology (“IT”) infrastructure from cybersecurity threats and related disruptions, our business could be negatively impacted.

We rely on our IT Infrastructure (defined below) in all aspects of our business operations. We own and manage certain aspects of
our IT infrastructure, but we also rely on third parties for a range of IT systems and related products and services, including but not
limited to, cloud computing services (such third-party systems and our IT infrastructure, collectively, our “IT Infrastructure”). We and
certain of our third-party providers collect, maintain and process data about customers, employees, business partners and others,
including personally identifiable information, as well as confidential and proprietary information belonging to our business, including
trade secrets (such data and information, collectively, “Confidential Information”). We face numerous and evolving cybersecurity
risks that threaten the confidentiality, integrity and availability of our IT Infrastructure and Confidential Information. These risks have
continued to increase in recent years in their frequency and levels of sophistication and intensity by sophisticated and organized
groups and individuals with a wide range of motives and expertise. The implementation of remote and hybrid work options for our
employees and employees of our third-party IT suppliers has led to a substantial increase in remote access to our networks and
systems. All IT systems are vulnerable to cybersecurity threats and other unlawful attempts to disrupt or gain access to these systems,
and these vulnerabilities may be increased by remote computing assets and additional security vulnerabilities that are present in many
public, non-corporate and home networks. We and our third-party providers are regularly subject to attempted cyber intrusions, hacks
and ransomware attacks, and we expect these incidents to accelerate and become increasingly sophisticated in using techniques and
tools, including artificial intelligence, that circumvent security controls, evade detection and remove forensic evidence. While we have
invested significant expense and effort in the protection of our Confidential Information and IT Infrastructure, the steps we have taken
to mitigate these risks may not be effective to prevent breaches of our IT Infrastructure. Breaches of our IT Infrastructure could lead
to disruptions in our business, potentially including the theft, destruction, loss, misappropriation, or release of Confidential
Information stored on our IT Infrastructure and subject us to potential lawsuits, including class actions, other material legal liabilities,
reputational damage, lost customers or significant costs associated with incident response, system restoration or remediation,
applicable filings and notifications, and future compliance. These disruptions could adversely affect our operations, financial position,
and results of operations. There can be no assurance that our cybersecurity risk management program and processes, including our
policies, controls, or procedures, will be fully implemented, complied with, or effective in protecting our systems and information.
While we maintain insurance to mitigate our exposure to these risks, our insurance policies, which carry retention and coverage limits,
may not be adequate to reimburse us for losses caused by security breaches or other cybersecurity events, and we cannot guarantee
that applicable insurance will be available to us in the future on economically reasonable terms or at all.

We also are subject to an evolving body of federal, state and foreign laws, regulations, guidelines and principles regarding data
privacy, data protection, data security, and artificial intelligence. Many jurisdictions in which we conduct business have passed or
proposed laws and regulations dealing with the collection, processing, storage, transfer and/or use of personal information, some of
which include potential fines and penalties based on worldwide revenue. We could incur substantial costs related to ongoing
compliance with, and substantial penalties or litigation or reputational damage related to violations of, such laws and regulations.

Legal and Regulatory Risks

We have been, and may continue to be, involved in various types of litigation, including claims for personal injury, property
damage, environmental damage, and other claims arising from an accident involving our railcars or other transportation assets.

The nature of our business and assets potentially exposes us to significant personal injury and property damage claims and
litigation, environmental claims, or other types of lawsuits inside and outside the U.S. For example, some of our customers use certain
types of our transportation assets to transport flammable liquids and other hazardous materials, and an accident involving such
transportation assets could lead to litigation and subject us to significant liability. Similarly, if we fail to meet our obligations to
maintain our assets in compliance with governmental regulations and industry rules, we could be subject to fines, penalties, and
claims for such failure as well as any resulting personal injury or property damage. In some jurisdictions, an accident can give rise to
both civil and criminal liabilities for us and, in some cases, our employees. In the event of an unfavorable outcome, we could be
subject to substantial penalties or monetary damages, including criminal penalties and fines, and our employees who are named as
criminal defendants in any such litigation may be subject to incarceration and fines. A substantial adverse judgment against us could
have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations, cash flows, and reputation.
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Our transportation assets and operations are subject to various laws, rules, and regulations. If these laws, rules, and regulations
change or we fail to comply with them, it could have a significant negative effect on our business and profitability.

Our fleets of transportation assets and related operations are subject to various U.S. and non-U.S. laws, rules, and regulations
administered by authorities in jurisdictions where we do business, including the Association of American Railroads. Such laws, rules,
and regulations could be changed in ways that would require us to modify our business models and objectives, impose requirements
for additional maintenance or substantial modification or refurbishment of our assets, or otherwise affect our returns on investments
by restricting existing activities and products, subjecting them to escalating costs or prohibiting them outright. Violations of these
laws, rules, and regulations can result in substantial fines and penalties, including potential limitations on operations or forfeiture of
assets, and reputational damage.

We are subject to extensive environmental regulations and the costs of remediation may be material.

We are subject to extensive federal, foreign, state, and local environmental laws and regulations concerning, among other things,
the discharge of hazardous materials and remediation of contaminated sites. In addition, some of our properties, including those
previously owned or leased, have been used for industrial purposes, which may have resulted in discharges onto these properties.
Environmental liability can extend to previously owned or operated properties in addition to properties we currently own or use.
Additionally, we could incur substantial costs, including cleanup costs, fines, and costs arising out of third-party claims for property
or natural resource damage and personal injury as a result of violations of or liabilities under environmental laws and regulations in
connection with our or our lessees’ current or historical operations. Under some environmental laws in the United States and certain
other countries, the owner of a leased asset may be liable for environmental damage, cleanup or other costs in the event of a spill or
discharge of material from such asset without regard to the owner’s fault. Governments or regulators may change the legislative or
regulatory frameworks within which we operate, including environmental laws and regulations, without providing us any recourse to
address any adverse effects such changes may have on our business. Due to the regulatory complexities, risk of unidentified
contaminants on our properties, and the potential liability for our operations as well as those of our lessees, it is possible
environmental and remediation costs may be materially greater than the costs we have estimated.

We may be affected by climate matters or market or regulatory responses to climate matters.

Regulatory focus on climate matters and greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions has increased across the globe. New government
regulations could increase our operating costs and compliance with those regulations could be costly. New disclosure rules and
regulations related to climate matters and mitigation efforts, such as the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive and related
European Sustainability Reporting Standards in the European Union and climate disclosure laws and regulations in California, will
require us to design and implement additional internal and disclosure controls. If the cost of such controls is significant, it could
adversely affect our financial condition and result of operations. Moreover, failure of such controls to provide accurate and complete
information could result in violation of such rules or regulations, which could have a material effect on our financial position, results
of operations, cash flows, and reputation.

Climate matters may also pose regulatory and environmental risks that could harm our results of operations and affect the way we
conduct business. Severe weather, climate matters, and natural disasters, such as tornadoes, flooding, hurricanes, fires and
earthquakes, could cause significant business interruptions and result in increased costs and liabilities and decreased revenues. We are
subject to the risks associated with natural disasters and the physical effects of climate matters, which may increase in frequency and
severity over time and may have a material adverse effect on our assets, operations and business. In addition, changes in laws, rules,
and regulations, or actions by authorities or other third parties to address GHG and climate matters could negatively impact our
customers and business. For example, restrictions on GHG emissions could significantly increase costs for our customers whose
production processes require significant amounts of energy, which could reduce demand for the lease of our assets, while rail and
other transportation assets in our fleet that are used to carry fossil fuels, such as coal and petroleum, or that directly or indirectly
require fossil fuel consumption for operation of the assets could see reduced demand or be rendered obsolete depending on the extent
to which government regulations mandate a reduction in fossil fuel consumption or customer preferences change. Any of these
factors, individually or in operation with one or more of the other factors, or other unforeseen impacts of climate matters, could reduce
the demand for and value of our assets, and could have an adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, and cash
flows.
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Economic and Credit Risks

United States and global political conditions and increased geopolitical tension, civil unrest and armed conflict could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may be adversely affected by national and international political developments, instability, and uncertainties, including political
unrest and threats of terrorist attacks or war, which could lead to the following:

* Legislation or regulatory action directed toward improving the security of transportation assets against acts of terrorism,
which could affect the construction or operation of transportation assets and increase costs;

* A decrease in demand for transportation assets and services;

*  Lower utilization of transportation equipment;

*  Lower transportation asset lease rates;

* Impairments and loss of transportation assets;

*  Supply chain challenges and disruptions;

*  Capital market disruption, which may raise our financing costs or limit our access to capital;
*  Trade wars and imposition of new and retaliatory tariffs;

» Liability or losses resulting from acts of terrorism involving our assets;

* Increased risk of cybersecurity attacks;

*  Higher insurance costs, reduced coverage amounts or limited access to insurance; and

* A significant deterioration of global growth, and related decreases in confidence or investment activity in the global markets,
arising from political or economic tensions, changes, and trends and/or an increase in trade conflict and protectionism.

Depending upon the severity, scope, and duration of these circumstances, the impact on our business, financial position, results of
operations, and cash flows could be material.

Geopolitical conflicts can also result in the imposition of economic and trade sanctions and countermeasures, and our business must
be conducted in compliance with applicable economic and trade sanctions laws and regulations, including those administered and
enforced by the U.S. Department of Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control, the U.S. Department of State, the U.S. Department
of Commerce, the United Nations Security Council and other relevant governmental authorities. Failure to comply with the sanctions,
laws and regulations could result in monetary fines or other penalties, which could have an adverse impact on our reputation,
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Prolonged inflation, as well as interest rate increases, or deflation could have an adverse impact on our business and financial
results.

The timing and duration of the effects of inflation are unpredictable and depend on market conditions, the magnitude of the inflation
and other economic factors. While inflation in lease rates as well as inflation in residual values for rail and other transportation assets
may benefit our financial results, prolonged inflation could result in reduced demand for our transportation assets. Moreover, any
benefits may be offset by increases in the costs for goods and services we purchase, including salaries and wages, health care costs,
supplies, utilities, maintenance and repair services, transportation assets or components thereof, and materials, as well as increased
financing costs. Significant increases in our cost of goods and services could adversely impact our financial performance. Conversely,
a period of prolonged deflation could negatively impact our lease rate pricing, residual values, and asset remarketing opportunities.
These negative impacts of deflation may be offset by decreases to our costs for goods and services, including those listed above.
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As noted below, rising interest rates could increase our borrowing costs, potentially decreasing our profitability. In addition,
increased borrowing costs faced by our customers could also result in decreased demand for our transportation assets and services and
have a dampening effect on overall economic activity, which could have a negative impact on our business and results of operations.

Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates could negatively impact our results of operations.

Upon consolidation, we translate the financial results of certain subsidiaries from their local currency to the U.S. dollar, which
exposes us to foreign exchange rate fluctuations. As exchange rates vary, the translated operating results of foreign subsidiaries may
differ materially from period to period. We also have gains and losses on foreign currency transactions, which could vary based on
fluctuations in exchange rates and the timing of the transactions and their settlement. In addition, fluctuations in foreign exchange
rates can affect the demand and price for services we provide both domestically and internationally, and could negatively impact our
results of operations. We may seek to limit our exposure to foreign exchange rate risk with currency derivatives, which may or may
not be effective. A material and unexpected change in foreign exchange rates could negatively affect our financial performance.

Deterioration of conditions in the global capital markets, or negative changes in our credit ratings or increased interest rates may
limit our ability to obtain financing and may increase our borrowing costs.

We rely largely on the capital markets and banks to fund our operations and contractual commitments. Typical funding sources
include public debt issuances, bank term loans, private placement loans, commercial paper, and a variety of other unsecured and
secured financing structures. These markets can experience high levels of volatility and access to capital can be limited for an
extended period of time. In addition to conditions in the capital markets, negative changes in our financial performance or credit
ratings or ratings outlook, as determined by rating agencies such as Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s Investors Service, and Fitch Ratings,
Inc., or continuing increased interest rates could cause us to incur increased borrowing costs or to have greater difficulty accessing
public and private markets for secured and unsecured debt. Financial and market dynamics and volatility may heighten these risks. If
we are unable to obtain financing on acceptable terms, our other sources of funds, including available cash, bank facilities, cash flow
from operations, and portfolio proceeds, may not be adequate to fund our operations and contractual commitments.

Risks Related to our Common Stock
There can be no assurance that we will continue to pay dividends or repurchase shares of our common stock at current levels.

The timing, amount and payment of future dividends to shareholders and repurchases of our common stock fall within the discretion
of our Board of Directors (the “Board”). The Board’s decisions regarding the payment of dividends and repurchase of shares depend
on many factors such as our financial condition, earnings, capital requirements, debt service obligations, legal requirements,
regulatory constraints, and other factors that our Board may deem relevant. We cannot guarantee that we will continue to pay
dividends or repurchase shares in the future, and our payment of dividends and repurchase of shares could vary from historical
practices and our stated expectations.

A small number of shareholders could significantly influence our business.

As of the most recent public filings, six shareholders collectively control more than 60% of our outstanding common stock.
Accordingly, a small number of shareholders could affect matters that require shareholder approval, such as the election of directors
and the approval of significant business transactions.

General Risk Factors
We may not be able to obtain cost-effective insurance.

We manage our exposure to risk, in part, by purchasing insurance. There is no guarantee that cost-effective insurance will
consistently be available. If insurance coverage becomes prohibitively expensive or unavailable, we could be forced to reduce our
coverage amount and increase the amount of self-insured risk we retain, thereby increasing our exposure to uninsured adverse

judgments and other losses and liabilities that could have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations, and cash
flows.
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Changes to assumptions used to calculate post-retirement costs, increases in funding requirements, and investment losses in
pension funds could adversely affect our results of operations.

We calculate our pension and other post-retirement costs using various assumptions, such as discount rates, long-term return on
plan assets, salary increases, health care cost trend rates, and other factors. Changes to any of these assumptions could adversely affect
our financial position and results of operations. Periods of low interest rates reduce the discount rate we use to calculate our funding
obligations, which may increase our funding requirements. Additionally, changes to laws, regulations, or rules could require us to
increase funding requirements or to compensate for investment losses in pension plan assets. If we were forced to increase
contributions to our pension plans, our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows could be negatively affected.

Changes in the mix of earnings in the U.S. and foreign countries and in tax rates and laws could adversely affect our financial
results.

As a global company, we are subject to taxation in the U.S. and numerous other non-U.S. jurisdictions. Significant judgment is
required to determine our consolidated income tax position and related liabilities. Our effective tax rate, cash flows and operating
results could be affected by changes in the mix of earnings in countries with different statutory tax rates, or material audit
assessments, as well as by changes in the local tax laws, regulations and treaties, or the interpretations thereof.

Our allowance for losses may be inadequate.

Our allowance for losses on reservable assets may not be adequate to cover credit losses in our portfolio if unexpected adverse
changes occur in macroeconomic conditions or if discrete events adversely affect specific customers, industries, or markets. If the
credit quality of our customer base materially deteriorates, it may require us to incur additional credit losses and our financial position
or results of operations could be negatively impacted.

We may incur future asset impairment charges.

We review long-lived assets and joint venture investments for impairment annually, or when circumstances indicate the carrying
value of an asset or investment may not be recoverable. Among other circumstances, the following may change our estimates of the
cash flows we expect our long-lived assets or joint venture investments will generate, which could require us to recognize asset
impairment charges:

* A weak economic environment or challenging market conditions;

* New laws, rules or regulations affecting our assets or the commodities that they carry, or changes to existing laws, rules or
regulations;

* Events related to particular customers or asset types or geographic markets; and
*  Asset or portfolio sale decisions by management.

The fair market value of our long-lived assets may differ from the value of those assets reflected in our financial statements.

Our assets primarily consist of long-lived transportation assets such as rail assets, aircraft spare engines and tank containers. The
carrying value of these assets on our financial statements may sometimes differ from their fair market value. These valuation
differences may be positive or negative and could be material based on market conditions and demand for certain assets.

Our internal control over financial accounting and reporting may not detect all errors or omissions in the financial statements.

If we fail to maintain adequate internal controls over financial accounting, we may not be able to conclude on an ongoing basis that

we have effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and

related regulations. No system of internal control provides absolute assurance that the financial statements are accurate and free of
material error.
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The occurrence of a widespread health crisis and measures taken in response could have an adverse impact on our operations,
commercial activity, asset values, financial position or liquidity.

The occurrence of a widespread health crisis and governmental action or inaction taken in response thereto could cause or
contribute to a slowdown in economic activity, disruptions in global supply chains, a dramatic reduction in air travel, and volatility
and disruption of financial markets. Such a crisis could also result in operational and labor disruptions, employee attrition and
difficulty securing future labor needs, as well as impacts the broader employment market and supply chains, our suppliers, and our
customers. These impacts could materially and adversely affect our business, costs, operations, financial performance, and liquidity,
as well as our ability to successfully execute our business strategy.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 1C. Cybersecurity

The Company’s Board of Directors (“Board”) recognizes the critical importance of maintaining the trust and confidence of our
employees, customers, shareholders and other stakeholders. Among other areas of responsibility, the Board has oversight
responsibilities in relation to the Company’s risk management program, and cybersecurity represents an important component of the
Company’s overall approach to enterprise risk management (“ERM”). The Company’s cybersecurity policies and practices are
integrated into the Company’s ERM program and our risk goals are guided by internationally recognized standards and frameworks
that help us to identify, assess, and manage risks relevant to our business. In general, the Company manages our cybersecurity risk
using an evidence- and risk-based approach designed to reduce risks and thereby protect the Company’s mission, business, and
stakeholders, rather than focusing upon meeting any specific technical specifications.

Risk Management and Strategy
The Company’s cybersecurity program is focused on the following key areas:

*  Governance: As discussed in more detail below, the Board’s oversight of cybersecurity risk management is supported by its
Audit Committee, which interacts with the Company’s ERM function, the Company’s Senior Vice President and Chief
Information Officer (“CIO”), the Global Head of IT Security, who reports directly to the CIO, and other relevant members of
management.

*  Collaborative Approach: We have implemented a cross-functional approach to identifying, mitigating, and managing
cybersecurity risks, threats, and incidents through a broad range of controls and supporting processes.

o Technical Safeguards: We deploy various technical safeguards that are designed to protect the Company’s information
systems and information from identified cybersecurity threats.

* Incident Response and Recovery Planning: We have established, and maintain, an incident response plan that addresses the
Company’s planned responses to a potential or actual cybersecurity incident. This plan is periodically reviewed, tested, and
evaluated. The incident response plan also includes consideration of disclosure requirements and communication to
appropriate parties within the Company.

o Third-Party Risk Management: We take a risk-based approach to identifying the cybersecurity risks presented by third-party
service providers and encourage our service providers to reduce cybersecurity risks using commercially available safeguards.

*  FEducation and Awareness: We provide training for our employees regarding cybersecurity threats as a means to build
awareness and equip them with effective tools to identify and address cybersecurity threats, as well as to communicate the
Company’s evolving information security policies and practices.

We engage in the periodic assessment and testing of our cybersecurity policies and practices. These efforts include a range of
activities focused on evaluating the effectiveness of our cybersecurity measures and planning. We engage third parties to perform
assessments on various aspects of our cybersecurity measures, including information security maturity assessments, audits, and
reviews of our information security control environment and operating effectiveness. The results of such assessments, audits, and
reviews are reported to senior management and the Audit Committee, and we adjust our cybersecurity processes as necessary based
on the information provided by these assessments, audits, and reviews.

We have not identified risks from known cybersecurity threats, including as a result of previous cybersecurity incidents, that have
materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Company, including its operations, business strategy, results of
operations, or financial condition.

22



Governance

Through its Audit Committee, the Board oversees the Company’s ERM program, including risks arising from cybersecurity threats.
The Audit Committee receives periodic presentations and reports on cybersecurity risks addressing recent developments, evolving
standards, third-party and independent reviews, the threat environment, technological trends, and information security considerations
arising with respect to the Company’s peers and third parties. The Audit Committee also receives information regarding cybersecurity
incidents impacting the Company that are deemed more significant under the cybersecurity incident response plan, as well as ongoing
updates regarding any such incidents until they have been addressed. The Audit Committee discusses the Company’s approach to
cybersecurity risk management with GATX senior management, including the CIO and the Global Head of IT Security, who reports
to the CIO and has responsibility for assessing and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats.

A cybersecurity group within GATX’s IT department, led by the Global Head of IT Security, works collaboratively across the
Company to administer a program designed to protect the Company’s information systems and information from cybersecurity threats
and to execute processes in accordance with the Company’s incident response plan. To facilitate the Company’s cybersecurity risk
management program, multidisciplinary teams are deployed to address cybersecurity threats and to respond to cybersecurity incidents.
Through ongoing communications with these teams and the cybersecurity group, the Global Head of IT Security monitors the
prevention, detection, mitigation, and remediation of cybersecurity threats and incidents and reports such threats and incidents to the
Audit Committee when appropriate. The CIO has over 25 years of experience in information technology, including over 17 years
managing the cybersecurity function and resources. The Global Head of IT Security has over 15 years of experience in information
technology and information security, including 10 years of leadership roles within the information security domain, and holds
certifications in cybersecurity and risk management.
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Item 2. Properties

Information regarding the general character of our properties is included in Item 1, “Business” of this Form 10-K.

As of December 31, 2024, the locations of our operations were as follows:

Business Offices

Chicago, Illinois

Calgary, Alberta
Mexico City, Mexico

Business Offices
Dordrecht, Netherlands
Baar, Switzerland
Diisseldorf, Germany
Hamburg, Germany
Gurgaon, India
Paris, France
Vienna, Austria

Warsaw, Poland

GATX Headquarters

Chicago, Illinois

Rail North America

Major Maintenance Facilities
Colton, California
Hearne, Texas
Waycross, Georgia
Montreal, Quebec
Moose Jaw, Saskatchewan
Red Deer, Alberta

Maintenance Facilities

Terre Haute, Indiana

Mobile Units

Edmonton, Alberta
La Porte, Texas

Rail International

Major Maintenance Facilities
Ostroda, Poland

Engine Leasing
Chicago, Illinois

Other
Dordrecht, Netherlands
Houston, Texas
Singapore
Shanghai, China
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Customer Site Locations

Clarkson, Ontario

Customer Site Locations
Plock, Poland



Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Information concerning litigation and other contingencies is described in “Note 23. Legal Proceedings and Other Contingencies” in
Part I, Item 8 of this Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
None.
PART 11
Item S. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock is listed on the New York and Chicago Stock Exchanges under ticker symbol “GATX”. We had approximately
1,272 common shareholders of record as of January 31, 2025. We have a long history of paying quarterly cash dividends. While we
currently expect a cash dividend to be paid in the future, dividend payments will depend on our earnings, capital requirements,
financial condition, and other factors considered by our Board of Directors.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On January 25, 2019, our board of directors approved a $300.0 million share repurchase program, pursuant to which we are
authorized to purchase shares of our common stock in the open market, in privately negotiated transactions, or otherwise, including
pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 plans. The share repurchase program does not have an expiration date, does not obligate the Company to
repurchase any dollar amount or number of shares of common stock, and may be suspended or discontinued at any time. The timing
of share repurchases will be dependent on market conditions and other factors.

During 2024, we repurchased 167,452 shares for $21.9 million under the share repurchase program. As of December 31, 2024,
$65.1 million remained available under the repurchase authorization.

The following is a summary of common stock repurchases completed by month during the fourth quarter of 2024:

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Total Number
of Shares
Purchased as  Approximate Dollar Value of
Total Number Average Part of Publicly Shares that May Yet Be

of Shares Price Paid Announced Purchased Under the Program
Period Purchased per Share Program (in millions)
October 1, 2024 - October 31,2024 ......... 300 $  136.95 300 S 65.2
November 1, 2024 - November 30, 2024 ... .. 752§ 149.92 752 $ 65.1
December 1, 2024 - December 31,2024 ... ... — 3 — — 65.1
Total . ...... ... 1,052 $

146.22 1,052
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Common Stock Performance Graph

The performance graph below compares the cumulative total shareholder return on our common stock for the five-year period
ended December 31, 2024, with the cumulative total return of the S&P 500 Index, the S&P MidCap 400 Index, and the Russell 3000
Index. We are not aware of any peer companies whose businesses are directly comparable to ours and, therefore, the graph displays
the returns of the indices noted above as those include companies with market capitalizations similar to ours. The graph and table
assume that $100 was invested in our common stock and each of the indices on December 31, 2019, and that all dividends were
reinvested.

Common Stock Performance Graph
GATX, S&P 500, S&P MidCap 400, and Russell 3000
$250
$225 -
§ $200 -
7
g 8175
g L j
§ $150 £
$125 - 1]
$100 —LZF \ T T
12/31/19 12/31/20 12/31/21 12/31/22 12/31/23 12/31/24
—@— GATX —J— S&P500 —A— MidCap 400 Russell 3000
12/31/19 12/31/20 12/31/21 12/31/22 12/31/23 12/31/24
GATX .. $ 100.00 $ 103.22 $ 132.05 $ 137.55 $ 15844 $ 207.68
S&P 500 ... .. 100.00 118.39 152.34 124.73 157.48 196.85
S&P MidCap 400 ..................... 100.00 113.65 141.76 123.19 143.38 163.30
Russell 3000 ......................... 100.00 120.88 151.87 122.68 154.48 191.24

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

OVERVIEW

We lease, operate, manage, and remarket long-lived, widely used assets, primarily in the rail market. We report our financial results
through three primary business segments: Rail North America, Rail International, and Engine Leasing (previously named Portfolio
Management). Financial results for our tank container leasing business (“Trifleet”) are reported in the Other segment.

In 2024, we changed the name of our Portfolio Management business segment to Engine Leasing to reflect the prospective
operations of this business segment. Historically, this business segment included marine operations from our liquefied gas-carrying
vessels (the “Specialized Gas Vessels”). As of December 31, 2023, we had sold all of our marine assets and no longer have any
marine operations. The segment is now almost entirely composed of our engine leasing operations, which include our ownership
interest in the Rolls-Royce & Partners Finance (“RRPF”) affiliates, a group of joint ventures with Rolls-Royce plc (or affiliates
thereof, collectively “Rolls-Royce”) that lease aircraft spare engines, and GATX Engine Leasing (“GEL”), our business that directly
owns aircraft spare engines that are leased to airline customers or employed in an engine capacity agreement.

In 2023, we sold our rail business in Russia (“Rail Russia”). See “Note 10. Asset Impairments and Assets Held for Sale” in Part II,
Item 8 of this Form 10-K for further information.

In 2023, we sold the three remaining liquefied gas-carrying vessels (the “Specialized Gas Vessels”) within the Engine Leasing
segment. We sold two vessels in 2022.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the
audited financial statements included in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this Form 10-K. We based the
discussion and analysis that follows on financial data we derived from the financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and on certain other financial data that we prepared using non-GAAP
components. For a reconciliation of these non-GAAP measures to the most comparable GAAP measures, see “Non-GAAP Financial
Measures” at the end of this item. This discussion does not include the comparison of prior year 2023 to 2022 financial results, which
can be found in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in Part II, Item 7 of our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, as filed with the SEC on February 16, 2024.
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DISCUSSION OF OPERATING RESULTS

The following table shows a summary of our reporting segments and consolidated financial results for the years ended December 31
(dollars in millions, except per share data):

2024 2023 2022

Segment Revenues
Rail North America . . . .. ..ot e e e e $ 1,090 $ 9827 $ 908.0
Rail International .. ... ... ... . 350.3 309.5 2753
Engine Leasing . . ... ...ttt 97.1 77.2 53.6
OFNT .« . oo 39.1 41.5 36.1

$ 1,5855 § 14109 $ 1,273.0
Segment Profit (Loss)
Rail North AMETica . . . ..ottt e e e e e e e $ 350 $ 3073 § 3213
Rail International ... ... ... .. 119.8 1134 85.9
Engine Leasing . . ... ...t 117.3 106.4 14.7
OFNeT .« . oo 12.9 29.2 (3.9)

606.0 556.3 418.0

Less:
Selling, general and administrative €Xpense . .. ...........ueriiinerennenenann... 236.3 212.7 195.0
Income taxes ($25.5, $25.7 and $12.3 related to affiliates’ earnings) .................. 85.5 84.4 67.1
Net Income (GAAP) . . ... .. $§ 2842 § 2592 § 155.9
Net income, excluding tax adjustments and other items (non-GAAP) (1) . .............. $ 281 § 2576 $ 2177
Diluted earnings per share (GAAP) .. ... ..ot $ 778 $ 712§ 4.35
Diluted earnings per share, excluding tax adjustments and other items (non-GAAP) (1) ... .. $ 789 $ 7.07 $ 6.07
Return on equity (GAAP) . . ..ot 12.1% 12.0% 7.7%
Return on equity, excluding tax adjustments and other items (non-GAAP) (1) ........... 12.2% 12.0% 10.8%
Investment VOIUME . . . .. ..ot e $ 1,6744 § 1,6650 $ 1,255.8

(1) See “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” at the end of this item for further details.
2024 Summary

Net income was $284.2 million, or $7.78 per diluted share, for 2024 compared to $259.2 million, or $7.12 per diluted share, for
2023, and $155.9 million, or $4.35 per diluted share, for 2022. Results for 2024 included a net negative impact of $3.9 million ($0.11
per diluted share) from tax adjustments and other items, compared to a net positive impact of $1.6 million ($0.05 per diluted share)
from tax adjustments and other items in 2023 and a net negative impact of $61.8 million ($1.72 per diluted share) from tax
adjustments and other items in 2022 (see “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” at the end of this item for further details).

» At Rail North America, segment profit in 2024 was higher than prior year. The increase was primarily attributable to higher lease
revenue, higher net gain on asset dispositions, and higher repair revenue, partially offset by higher interest and maintenance
expense.

+ At Rail International, segment profit in 2024 was higher than prior year, due to more railcars on lease and higher lease rates,
partially offset by higher maintenance and interest expense.

» At Engine Leasing, segment profit in 2024 increased compared to prior year, a result of higher earnings at the RRPF affiliates,

higher earnings from GEL operations, and the absence of impairments recorded in 2023 for the Specialized Gas Vessels, partially
offset by the absence of the gain on the sale of natural gas holdings recorded in 2023.
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» Within Other, Trifleet’s segment profit decreased, largely due to lower lease revenue, resulting from lower utilization, as well as
higher interest expense and higher bad debt expense resulting from a settlement and restructuring agreement with a customer in
the current year.

Total investment volume was $1,674.4 million in 2024, compared to $1,665.0 million in 2023, and $1,255.8 million in 2022.
2025 Outlook

Conditions in the North American railcar leasing market remained strong in 2024, and we expect favorable conditions to continue in
2025. At Rail International, we expect favorable demand for our railcars in both our European and Indian businesses. The operating
environment for our engine leasing businesses at RRPF and GEL is strong, as global air travel continues to recover to pre-pandemic
levels and beyond. We have a strong balance sheet and adequate access to capital, which we believe positions us well to manage our
transportation assets based on current market conditions.

* We expect Rail North America’s segment profit in 2025 to increase slightly from 2024. Lease rates for railcars scheduled to
renew in 2025 will likely be higher than expiring rates for most car types as the lease rate environment for existing railcars is
expected to remain favorable. The increasing lease rates, along with new additions to the fleet, should generate higher lease
revenue in 2025. We anticipate remarketing income to be slightly lower than 2024, but we continue to see a strong secondary
market. We expect the impact of slightly higher regulatory compliance work, partially offset by a benefit from efficiencies in our
owned maintenance network to result in modestly higher maintenance expense in 2025 compared to the prior year. Finally, we
anticipate interest expense and depreciation to be higher in 2025 compared to 2024.

+ Rail International’s segment profit in 2025 is expected to increase from 2024, driven by continued growth of the fleet sizes in
Europe and India. Demand for railcars in Europe should continue to be solid across most car types, and we plan to continue to
invest in the fleet. Lease revenue is expected to be higher in 2025, resulting from more railcars on lease and higher lease rates. In
India, we anticipate significant growth again in our fleet this coming year, which will also contribute to an increase in segment
profit.

» We anticipate Engine Leasing’s segment profit in 2025 to be higher than 2024. We expect an increase in segment profit from
GEL as a result of additional aircraft spare engines acquired during 2024. In addition, RRPF results are expected to be higher as a
result of continued improvement in global air travel.

Segment Operations

Segment profit is an internal performance measure reported to GATX’s President and Chief Executive Officer for purposes of
assessing performance and allocating capital and resources to each segment. Segment profit includes all revenues, expenses, pre-tax
earnings from affiliates, and net gains on asset dispositions that are directly attributable to each segment. We allocate interest expense
to the segments based on what we believe to be the appropriate risk-adjusted borrowing costs for each segment. Segment profit
excludes selling, general and administrative expenses, income taxes, and certain other amounts not allocated to the segments.
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RAIL NORTH AMERICA
Segment Summary
The railcar leasing environment was favorable as demand for existing railcars remained steady. Rail North America continued to
extend lease renewal terms at attractive rates while maintaining high fleet utilization and a strong renewal success rate. Utilization of

our non-boxcar fleet was 99.1% at the end of the year.

The following table shows Rail North America’s segment results for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Revenues
LEASE TEVEIUE . . o ottt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 9835 § 888.8 $ 826.0
Other reVeNUE . . .. ... .ot 115.5 93.9 82.0
Total ReVENUES . . . ... ... 1,099.0 982.7 908.0
Expenses
Maintenance EXPENSE . . . ..o v vu vttt e e e e 306.9 276.6 238.5
Depreciation @XPenSe . . . ..o vttt e e e 271.1 265.9 258.6
Operating [ease €XPenSe . . ... ... vu vttt e 33.9 36.0 36.1
Other Operating EXPEeNSE . . . ..o v vttt ettt et e et e 26.4 25.9 24.5
Total EXpenses . ... ... 638.3 604.4 557.7
Other Income (Expense)
Net gain on asset diSpoSItions . . .. ... ...ttt 132.8 120.5 119.7
Interest eXPense, Net . . .. ...ttt et (232.1) (182.9) (144.6)
Other EXPeNSE . . ..ottt et e e e e e 5.4) (8.0) (4.6)
Share of affiliates’ pre-tax (loss) earnings . ..................ooireenrnen .. — (0.6) 0.5
Segment Profit . ........ .. .. ... ... . . ... $ 356.0 $ 307.3 $ 321.3
Investment Volume . .. .......... ... .. $ 1,162.4 § 9769 $ 815.9

The following table shows the components of Rail North America’s lease revenue for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
RaIlCaTs . . oot $ 8889 §$ 8055 $ 740.7
BoOXCars . ... e 64.7 57.2 59.5
LOCOMOLIVES . . ottt et e e e e e 29.9 26.1 25.8
Total .o $ 9835 $ 888.8 § 826.0
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Rail North America Fleet Data

The following table shows fleet activity and statistics for Rail North America railcars, excluding boxcars, for the years ended
December 31:

2024 2023 2022

Beginning balance . . ............ .. 101,167 100,954 101,570

Railcarsadded . . ... . 5,359 4,653 3,712

Railcars scrapped .. ... ... (1,433) (1,286) (2,133)

Railcars sold .. ....... .. (2,127) (3,154) (2,195)
Endingbalance ......... ... . . . 102,966 101,167 100,954
Utilization rate at yearend (1) ....... ... . i 99.1 % 99.3 % 99.5 %
Renewal success rate (2) . .. ..ottt 853 % 84.1 % 85.5 %
Activerailcarsat yearend (3) . ... ..ot 102,003 100,498 100,396
Average active railcars (4) ... ... 101,392 100,217 100,444

(1) Utilization is calculated as the number of railcars on lease as a percentage of total railcars in the fleet.

(2) The renewal success rate represents the percentage of railcars on expiring leases that were renewed with the existing lessee. The
renewal success rate is an important metric because railcars returned by our customers may remain idle or incur additional
maintenance and freight costs prior to being leased to new customers.

(3) Active railcars refers to the number of railcars on lease to customers. Changes in railcars on lease compared to prior years are
impacted by the utilization of new railcars purchased from builders or in the secondary market and the disposition of railcars that
were sold or scrapped, as well as the fleet utilization rate.

(4) Average active railcars for the year is calculated using the number of active railcars at the end of each month.

As of December 31, 2024, leases for approximately 21,500 tank and freight cars and approximately 1,200 boxcars are scheduled to
expire in 2025. These amounts exclude railcars on leases expiring in 2025 that have already been renewed or assigned to a new lessee.

In 2022, we entered into a long-term railcar supply agreement with a subsidiary of Trinity Industries, Inc. (“Trinity”’) to purchase
15,000 newly built railcars through 2028, with an option to order up to an additional 500 railcars each year from 2023 to 2028. The
agreement enables us to order a broad mix of tank and freight cars. Trinity is scheduled to deliver 6,000 tank cars (1,200 per year)
from 2024 through 2028. The remaining 9,000 railcars, which can be a mix of freight and tank cars, are expected to be ordered at a
rate of 1,500 railcars per order year from 2023 to 2028 and delivered under a schedule to be determined. At December 31, 2024, 5,392
railcars have been ordered pursuant to the terms of the agreement, of which 3,458 have been delivered.
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Rail North America Fleet, excluding Boxcars
105,000 - 100.0%
97.5%
100,000
S =
z 95.0% §
[5) =.
= 3
95,000
92.5%
90,000 90.0%
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
B Active Fleet B 1de Fleet Utilization

Lease Price Index

Our Lease Price Index (“LPI”) is an internally-generated business indicator that measures renewal activity for our North American
railcar fleet, excluding boxcars. The LPI calculation includes all renewal activity based on a 12-month trailing average, and the
renewals are weighted by the count of all renewals over the 12-month period. The average renewal lease rate change is reported as the
percentage change between the average renewal lease rate and the average expiring lease rate. The average renewal lease term is
reported in months and reflects the average renewal lease term in the LPIL.

During 2024, the renewal rate change of the LPI was positive 26.7%, compared to positive 33.5% in 2023. Lease terms on renewals
for railcars in the LPI averaged 60 months in 2024 compared to 65 months in 2023.

Lease Price Index
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The following table shows fleet activity and statistics for Rail North America boxcars for the years ended December 31:

2024 2023 2022

Beginning balance . . .. ... 9,311 8,003 12,946

Boxcarsadded . .......... ... 587 1,248 543

Boxcars scrapped ... ... (1,343) (459) (230)

Boxcars sold . ... ... (160) (141) (4,596)
Ending balance .. ......... . ... 8,395 9,311 8,063
Utilization rate at yearend (1) ....... ...t 99.8 % 100.0 % 99.9 %
Active boxcars at yearend (2) ... ... 8,376 9,310 8,657
Average active boxcars (3) ... ... 9,059 8,944 10,060

(1) Utilization is calculated as the number of boxcars on lease as a percentage of total boxcars in the fleet.

(2) Active boxcars refers to the number of boxcars on lease to customers. Changes in boxcars on lease compared to prior years are
impacted by the utilization of new boxcars purchased from builders or in the secondary market and the disposition of boxcars that
were sold or scrapped, as well as the fleet utilization rate.

(3) Average active boxcars for the year is calculated using the number of active boxcars at the end of each month.

The following table shows fleet activity and statistics for Rail North America locomotives for the years ended December 31:

2024 2023 2022

Beginning balance . . ............ .. 523 544 577

Locomotives added .. ... ... .. 156 — —

Locomotives scrapped orsold . ....... ... .. ... (18) (21) (33)
Ending balance .. ......... . ... .. 661 523 544
Utilization rate at yearend (1) ......... .. i 89.1% 88.3% 89.3%
Active locomotives at year end (2) .. ...t 589 462 486
Average active locomotives (3) .. ... 509 472 496

(1) Utilization is calculated as the number of locomotives on lease as a percentage of total locomotives in the fleet.

(2) Active locomotives refers to the number of locomotives on lease to customers. Changes in locomotives on lease compared to prior
years are impacted by locomotives that were sold or scrapped, as well as the fleet utilization rate.

(3) Average active locomotives for the year is calculated using the number of active locomotives at the end of each month.

Comparison of Reported Results
Segment Profit

In 2024, segment profit of $356.0 million increased 15.8% compared to $307.3 million in 2023. The increase was primarily due to
higher lease revenue, higher net gain on asset dispositions, and higher repair revenue, partially offset by higher interest expense and
higher maintenance expense. The amount and timing of disposition gains is dependent on a number of factors and may vary materially
from year to year.

Revenues

In 2024, lease revenue increased $94.7 million, or 10.7%, driven by higher lease rates and more railcars on lease. Other revenue
increased $21.6 million, primarily due to higher repair revenue.

Expenses

In 2024, maintenance expense increased $30.3 million, driven by higher costs of repairs, more regulatory compliance events, and
more repairs performed by the railroads. Depreciation expense increased $5.2 million, due to the timing of new railcar investments
and dispositions, partially offset by a change in the useful lives of certain railcars. Other operating expense increased $0.5 million, due
to higher insurance and storage costs, partially offset by lower switching and freight costs.
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Other Income (Expense)

In 2024, net gain on asset dispositions increased $12.3 million, driven by higher net gains on railcars sold and higher net scrapping
gains. The amount and timing of disposition gains is dependent on a number of factors and may vary materially from year to year. Net
interest expense increased $49.2 million, due to a higher average interest rate and a higher average debt balance. Other expense was
favorable $2.6 million, driven by lower legal costs, partially offset by lower customer settlement proceeds received in 2024.

Investment Volume

During 2024, investment volume was $1,162.4 million compared to $976.9 million in 2023. We acquired 3,812 newly built railcars,
purchased 2,279 railcars in the secondary market, and purchased 156 locomotives in the secondary market in 2024, compared to 3,835
newly built railcars, 1,934 railcars in the secondary market, and no locomotives in 2023.

Our investment volume is predominantly composed of acquired railcars, but also includes the acquisition of locomotives, certain
capitalized repairs and improvements to owned railcars and our maintenance facilities. As a result, the dollar value of investment
volume does not necessarily correspond to the number of railcars acquired in any given period. In addition, the comparability of
amounts invested and the number of railcars acquired in each period is impacted by the mix of railcars purchased, which may include
tank cars and freight cars, as well as newly manufactured railcars or those purchased in the secondary market.

RAIL INTERNATIONAL

Segment Summary

Rail International, composed primarily of GATX Rail Europe (“GRE”), produced solid operating results in 2024 and continued to
grow its fleet, exceeding 30,000 railcars during the current year. GRE experienced renewal lease rate increases for a majority of
railcar types in 2024. Utilization was 96.1% at the end of the year.

The fleet size of our rail business in India (“Rail India”) surpassed 10,000 railcars in 2024, and Rail India continued to focus on
investment opportunities, diversification of its fleet, and developing relationships with customers, suppliers and the Indian Railways.
Demand for railcars in India remained strong, driven by continued growth in the economy and infrastructure development. Utilization

was 100.0% at the end of the year.

In 2023, we sold Rail Russia. Financial results were not material to Rail International’s segment profit.
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The following table shows Rail International’s segment results for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Revenues
LeaSE IEVEIUC . . ..ottt et ettt e e e e e e e e e e $ 3336 $ 296.6 % 266.2
Other TeVENUE . . ...ttt 16.7 12.9 9.1
Total Revenues . .. ... ... e 350.3 309.5 275.3
Expenses
Maintenance EXPENSE . .. ..o vttt ettt e e e 70.7 64.1 514
Depreciation EXPENSE . . ..ottt ettt e e 78.7 68.2 69.1
Other Operating EXPEeNSE . . . ..ottt ettt et e et et 17.4 10.4 83
Total EXPenses . ... ... 166.8 142.7 128.8
Other Income (Expense)
Net gain (loss) on asset diSpositions .. ...ttt .. 4.5 7.0 (11.2)
Interest eXpense, NEt . .. ...ttt e (71.4) (56.2) (45.6)
Other INCOME (EXPENSE) . . v vt vttt ettt e ettt e e ettt et 3.2 4.2) (3.8)
Segment Profit . ..... ... . ... . . ... . ... $ 119.8  $ 1134  $ 85.9
Investment VOlume . .............. ... i $ 2329  $ 3824  §$ 243.9

GRE Fleet Data

The following table shows fleet activity and statistics for GRE railcars for the years ended December 31:

2024 2023 2022

Beginning balance . . .. ... 29,216 28,005 27,109

Railcars added . . ... . 1,316 1,695 1,211

Railcars scrapped orsold . ... ... ... (505) (484) (315)
Ending balance .. ......... ... . 30,027 29,216 28,005
Utilization rate at yearend (1) .......... . i 96.1 % 95.9 % 99.3 %
Activerailcars at yearend (2) . ... ... 28,849 28,004 27,801
Average active railcars (3) ... ... 28,410 27,947 27,288

(1) Utilization is calculated as the number of railcars on lease as a percentage of total railcars in the fleet.

(2) Active railcars refers to the number of railcars on lease to customers. Changes in railcars on lease compared to prior years are
impacted by the utilization of newly built railcars, railcars purchased in the secondary market, and the disposition of railcars that
were sold or scrapped, as well as the fleet utilization rate.

(3) Average active railcars for the year is calculated using the number of active railcars at the end of each month.
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As of December 31, 2024, leases for approximately 10,300 railcars are scheduled to expire in 2025. This amount excludes railcars
on leases expiring in 2025 that have already been renewed or assigned to a new lessee.

GRE Fleet
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Rail India Fleet Data

The following table shows fleet activity and statistics for Rail India railcars for the years ended December 31:

Beginning balance . ........... ... ... ...
Railcarsadded . ........ ... .. ... ... .. L
Railcars scrapped orsold .......................

Endingbalance ............ .. ... ... .. .. .. ... ...

Utilization rate at yearend (1) .....................

Activerailcars atyearend (2) ... ........... .. ... ..

Average activerailcars (3) ......... ... ..

(1) Utilization is calculated as the number of railcars on lease as a percentage of total railcars in the fleet.
(2) Active railcars refers to the number of railcars on lease to customers. Changes in railcars on lease compared to prior years are
impacted by the utilization of railcars purchased and the disposition of railcars that were sold or scrapped, as well as the fleet

utilization rate.

(3) Average active railcars for the year is calculated using the number of active railcars at the end of each month.
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....................... 8,805 5,872 4,830
....................... 1,783 2,933 1,042
....................... 5) — —
....................... 10,583 8,805 5,872
....................... 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
....................... 10,583 8,805 5,872
....................... 9,841 7,082 5,395
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Comparison of Reported Results

Foreign Currency

Rail International’s reported results of operations are impacted by fluctuations in the exchange rates of the U.S. dollar versus the
foreign currencies in which it conducts business, primarily the euro. In 2024, fluctuations in the value of the euro, relative to the U.S.
dollar, positively impacted lease revenue by approximately $0.6 million and negatively impacted segment profit, excluding other
income (expense), by approximately $1.7 million compared to 2023.

Segment Profit

In 2024, segment profit of $119.8 million increased 5.6% compared to $113.4 million in 2023. Segment profit in 2023 included a
$0.3 million disposition gain recorded as a result of the decision to exit the Rail Russia business. Excluding this item, results for Rail
International were $6.7 million higher than 2023. The increase was primarily due to more railcars on lease and higher lease rates at
both GRE and Rail India, partially offset by higher interest expense and higher maintenance expense at GRE.

Revenues

In 2024, lease revenue increased $37.0 million, or 12.5%, due to more railcars on lease and higher lease rates at GRE and Rail India.

Expenses

In 2024, maintenance expense increased $6.6 million, primarily due to more repairs performed, and the impact of foreign exchange
rates, partially offset by lower wheelset costs. Depreciation expense increased $10.5 million, due to the impact of new railcars added

to the fleet and the impact of foreign exchange rates.
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Other Income (Expense)

In 2024, net gain (loss) on asset dispositions decreased $2.5 million, driven by fewer railcars sold, partially offset by higher net
scrapping gains due to more railcars scrapped. Net interest expense increased $15.2 million, due to a higher average interest rate and a
higher average debt balance. Other income (expense) was favorable by $7.4 million, driven by the positive impact of changes in
foreign exchange rates, primarily euro-zloty fluctuations.

Investment Volume

During 2024, investment volume was $232.9 million, compared to $382.4 million in 2023. In 2024, GRE acquired 1,316 newly
built railcars compared to 1,695 newly built railcars in 2023, and Rail India acquired 1,783 newly built railcars in 2024 compared to
2,933 newly built railcars in 2023.

Our investment volume is predominantly composed of acquired railcars, but may also include certain capitalized repairs and
improvements to owned railcars. As a result, the dollar value of investment volume does not necessarily correspond to the number of
railcars acquired in any given period. In addition, the comparability of amounts invested and the number of railcars acquired in each
period is impacted by the mix of the various railcar types acquired, as well as fluctuations in the exchange rates of the foreign
currencies in which Rail International conducts business.

ENGINE LEASING
Segment Summary

As disclosed previously, we had sold all of our marine assets as of December 31, 2023 and no longer have any marine operations.
As a result, we have changed the name of this business segment from Portfolio Management to Engine Leasing to reflect the
prospective operations of the segment.

Engine Leasing includes the RRPF affiliates, a group of 50% owned domestic and foreign joint ventures with Rolls-Royce, a
leading manufacturer of commercial aircraft jet engines. Segment profit included earnings from the RRPF affiliates of $108.3 million
for 2024, $98.7 million for 2023, and $45.4 million for 2022. In 2022, RRPF recorded an impairment charge associated with aircraft
spare engines in Russia that RRPF does not expect to recover. GATX’s 50% share of this net impairment was $15.3 million
($11.5 million after tax). GATX did not make any additional investment in the RRPF affiliates in 2024, 2023, or 2022. Dividend
distributions from the RRPF affiliates totaled $50.0 million in 2024, $25.0 million in 2023, and $46.2 million in 2022. The operating
environment for the RRPF affiliates was strong, as international air passenger travel was robust in 2024. High demand, combined with
production and maintenance constraints in the aviation industry, resulted in a very strong market for aircraft spare engines.

Engine Leasing also includes GEL, our wholly owned entity that invests directly in aircraft spare engines. In 2024, GEL acquired
10 engines for approximately $261 million. As of December 31, 2024, GEL owned 39 aircraft spare engines, with 14 on long-term
leases with airline customers and 25 that are employed in an engine capacity agreement with Rolls-Royce for use in its engine
maintenance programs. All engines at GEL are managed by the RRPF affiliates, for which we paid them a fee of $4.1 million in 2024,
$2.7 million in 2023 and $1.0 million in 2022.

Engine Leasing previously owned the Specialized Gas Vessels. In 2022, we made the decision to sell the Specialized Gas Vessels
and recorded impairment losses totaling $34.3 million and sold two vessels. In 2023, we sold the remaining three vessels and recorded

net losses of $4.0 million. In 2024, we recorded final gains of $0.6 million associated with the Specialized Gas Vessels.

In 2023, Engine Leasing sold its natural gas holdings and recorded a gain of $5.7 million.
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The following table shows Engine Leasing’s segment results for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022

Revenues
LEASE TEVENUE . .. oottt ettt e et e e e e e e e e e e $ 324 $ 326 $ 33.0
Non-dedicated engine revVenuUe . ... .........inin ittt 64.6 37.6 1.5
Marine Operating FeVEIUES . . . . . v vt vttt e e ettt e e e et — 6.9 18.9
Other TEVENUC . . ..ottt et et e e et e et 0.1 0.1 0.2

Total Revenues . . .. ........ ... .. e 97.1 77.2 53.6
Expenses
Depreciation EXPENSE . .. v v v vttt ettt e e e 37.8 28.3 17.8
Marine Operating EXPENSE . . ..« . v vttt et e e e e — 6.5 14.1
Other Operating EXPEeINSE . . . .« ottt ettt e e e e e e 9.6 7.3 2.3

Total EXPenses . .. ... . e 47.4 42.1 34.2
Other Income (Expense)
Net gain (loss) on asset diSpositions . . ........ ..ot 0.6 2.2 (3L.1)
Interest eXpense, NEt . .. ..ottt e (41.9) (29.8) (19.0)
Other INCOME .. . ...ttt e e e e e 0.6 0.2 —
Share of affiliates’ pre-tax earnings . .................uuiiiinennenenenann... 108.3 98.7 454

Segment Profit ........... ... . . .. ... ... $ 1173 § 1064 $ 14.7
Investment Volume . . ........ ... .. ... ... ... . $ 260.8 $ 2673 $ 149.7

The following table shows the net book value of Engine Leasing’s assets as of December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023

Investment in RRPF Affiliates . ... ....... ... . e $ 663.1 $ 626.8
GEL owned aircraft Spare engines . ... ... ... ...ttt e 937.0 714.0
Other OWNEd SSELS . . . .ttt et ettt e e e e e 533 14.3
TOtal ASSELS . . . ottt et $ 1,653.4 $ 1,355.1
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RRPF Affiliates Portfolio Data

The following table shows portfolio activity and statistics for the RRPF affiliates’ aircraft spare engines for the years ended
December 31:

2024 2023 2022
Beginning balance .. ........... .. 399 398 407
Engine acqUiSItions . . . ..ottt et e 47 14 9
Engine diSpositions . . . .. ..ottt (19) (13) (18)
Endingbalance .. ....... ... ... 427 399 398
Utilization rate at yearend (1) ......... . 97.4 % 95.5 % 94.2 %
Average leased engines (2) . ... ...t 398 376 372
Net book value of engines (in millions) ................. i ... $ 47160 $ 40672 § 4,176.5
(1) Utilization is calculated as the number of engines on lease as a percentage of total engines in the fleet.
(2) Average leased engines for the year is calculated using the number of leased engines at the end of each month.
RRPF Affiliates' Aircraft Spare Engine Portfolio
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The following table shows portfolio activity for GEL’s aircraft spare engines for the years ended December 31:
2024 2023 2022
Beginning balance .............. ... 29 19 14
Enginesadded .. ...... ... . . . 10 10 5
Ending balance . . ... ... ... . 39 29 19
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Comparison of Reported Results
Segment Profit

In 2024, segment profit was $117.3 million compared to $106.4 million in 2023. Segment profit included $0.6 million of gains in
2024 and $4.0 million of losses in 2023 associated with the Specialized Gas Vessels. Excluding the impact of these items, results for
Engine Leasing were $6.3 million higher than 2023, driven by higher earnings at the RRPF affiliates and GEL, partially offset by the
absence of the gain on the sale of natural gas holdings recorded in the prior year.

Revenues

In 2024, lease revenue was comparable to the prior year. Non-dedicated engine revenue increased $27.0 million, primarily due to
aircraft spare engines acquired in 2023 and 2024 and utilized in the engine capacity agreement with Rolls-Royce. Marine operating
revenue decreased $6.9 million, driven by the final sales of the Specialized Gas Vessels in 2023.

Expenses

In 2024, marine operating expense decreased $6.5 million, due to sale of the Specialized Gas Vessels in 2023. Depreciation expense
increased $9.5 million, due to aircraft spare engines acquired in 2023 and 2024.

Other Income (Expense)

In 2024, net gain (loss) on asset dispositions was unfavorable by $1.6 million, driven by the absence of gains recorded in 2023 for
the sale of natural gas holdings, partially offset by net gains in 2024 and net losses in 2023 associated with the Specialized Gas
Vessels. Net interest expense increased $12.1 million, due to a higher average debt balance and a higher average interest rate.

In 2024, income from our share of affiliates’ earnings increased $9.6 million, driven by higher income from operations, partially
offset by lower remarketing income. The amount and timing of remarketing income is dependent on a number of factors and may vary
materially from year to year.

Investment Volume

Investment volume was $260.8 million in 2024, compared to $267.3 million in 2023. In both 2024 and 2023, GEL acquired ten
aircraft spare engines.

OTHER

Other comprises our Trifleet business, as well as selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”), unallocated interest
expense, miscellaneous income and expense not directly associated with the reporting segments, and certain eliminations.

In 2024, GATX recorded settlement expenses of $3.3 million for litigation claims arising out of legacy business operations and
reserves of $10.7 million for its share of anticipated environmental remediation costs arising out of prior operations and legacy
businesses. The majority of the recorded reserves relate to a facility that GATX sold in 1974, while the remainder of the amount
relates to a landfill that GATX entities previously utilized, which was closed in 1986.

In 2022, GATX executed a multi-party amended and restated settlement agreement related to its share of estimated environmental

remediation costs to be incurred at a facility that GATX sold in 1974. As a result, GATX recorded $5.9 million of expense to establish
a reserve for its share of the remaining anticipated remediation and related costs.
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The following table shows components of Other for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022

Trifle€t TEVEIUE . . . . .o oot et e e e e e e e e $ 39.1 $ 41.5 $ 36.1
Trifleet segment profit .. ... ... . i $ 8.3 $ 13.4 $ 13.8
Unallocated Interest iNCOME . . ... ... vttt ettt e e 12.8 12.7 1.1
Other (expense) income, including eliminations ........................... (8.2) 3.1 (18.8)

Segment Profit (LoSS) ... ...... ... .. ... i $ 12.9 $ 29.2 $ (3.9)
Selling, general and administrative €Xpense . .. ..........uveiieeenneeon... $ 236.3 $ 212.7 $ 195.0
Investment Volume .. .......... ... .. . . $ 18.3 $ 38.4 $ 46.3

Trifleet Summary
The tank container leasing market remained challenging in 2024. Utilization was 84.7% at December 31, 2024.
Trifleet Tank Container Data

The following table shows fleet statistics for Trifleet’s owned and managed tank containers for the years ended December 31:

2024 2023 2022
Ending balance .. ....... ... 25,041 23,931 21,999
Utilization rate at year-end (1) .......... .. 84.7 % 87.3 % 93.1 %

(1) Utilization is calculated as the number of tank containers on lease as a percentage of total tank containers in the fleet.
SG&A, Unallocated Interest and Other

SG&A increased $23.6 million in 2024, driven by higher employee-related expenses, including higher share-based compensation
expense, and higher information technology expenses.

Unallocated interest income (the difference between external interest expense and interest expense allocated to the reporting
segments) in any year is affected by our consolidated leverage position, the timing of debt issuances and investing activities, and
intercompany allocations.

Other (expense) income, including eliminations, was unfavorable by $11.3 million in 2024 compared to 2023. The variance was
driven by environmental reserves recorded and expenses related to litigation claims settlements, as noted above, partially offset by the
absence of pension settlement charges recorded in 2023.

Consolidated Income Taxes

See “Note 13. Income Taxes” in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K for additional information on income taxes.
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CHANGE IN NET OPERATING ASSETS AND FACILITIES

The following table shows changes in net operating assets and facilities as of December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023
Beginning balance . ... ... $ 9,411.2 $ 8,250.3
INVeStMENtS . . .. e 1,665.3 1,622.2
Purchase of assets previously leased . .. ... ... . 29.4 —
Depreciation @XPENSE . .. .. v vttt e e e e e e e e e e e (414.2) (385.6)
ASSEt dISPOSILIONS . . . o\ttt et e e (129.6) (149.9)
Transfers to assets held forsale . ........ .. .. . . . . (2.6) (1.7)
Foreign exchange rate effects .. ... ... .. ... . (120.9) 87.1
ONeT . o 11.1 (11.2)
Ending balance . ... ....... . $ 10,449.7 $ 9,411.2

CASH FLOW DISCUSSION

We generate a significant amount of cash from operating activities and investment portfolio proceeds. We also access domestic and
international capital markets by issuing unsecured or secured debt. We use these resources, along with available cash balances, to
fulfill our debt, lease, and dividend obligations, to support our share repurchase programs, and to fund portfolio investments and
capital additions. We primarily use cash from operations to fund daily operations. The timing of asset dispositions and changes in
working capital impact cash flows from portfolio proceeds and operations. As a result, these cash flow components may vary
materially from year to year.

As of December 31, 2024, we had an unrestricted cash balance of $401.6 million. We also have a $600 million, 5-year unsecured
revolving credit facility in the United States that matures in 2029 and a $350 million 3-year unsecured revolving credit facility in the
United States that matures in 2027, both of which were fully available as of December 31, 2024. In addition, we have a €210 million,
3-year unsecured revolving credit facility in Europe that matures in 2027, which was fully available as of December 31, 2024.

The following table shows our cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities for the years ended December 31 (in
millions):

2024 2023 2022
Net cash provided by operating activities ............ ... . ... . ... .. ... ...... $ 602.1 $ 5204 $ 533.5
Net cash used in investing activities . . .. ... i (1,416.7) (1,219.3) (1,073.5)
Net cash provided by financing activities ................. ..ot .. 770.5 844.1 504.4
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash ........ (4.9) 1.6 4.9)
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash during the year ... $ (49.0) § 146.8 $ (40.5)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities in 2024 of $602.1 million increased $81.7 million compared to 2023. Comparability
among reporting periods is impacted by the timing of changes in working capital items. Specifically, higher cash receipts from
revenue, higher affiliate dividends received, and lower payments for operating leases were partially offset by higher cash payments for
maintenance, interest, and other operating expenses, as well as higher payments for income taxes.
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Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

The following table shows our principal sources and uses of cash flows from investing activities for the years ended December 31
(in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Portfolio investments and capital additions (1) ............................ $§ (1,6744) $ (1,665.0) $ (1,255.8)
Portfolio proceeds (2) .. ..ot 230.6 272.8 269.6
Short-term investments (3) .. ...ttt — 150.0 (148.5)
Proceeds from sales of otherassets (4) . ......... ... 24.9 20.2 31.1
Other INVesting aCtiVIty . . .. .ottt e et 2.2 2.7 30.1
Net cash used in investing activities ... .............oooiiiiineennnn... $ (14167 $ (1,2193) $ (1,073.5)

(1) Portfolio investments and capital additions primarily consist of purchases of operating assets and capitalized asset improvements.
See the discussions of segment operating results sections in this Item for more detail.

(2) Portfolio proceeds primarily consist of proceeds from sales of operating assets.

(3) Short-term U.S. Treasury obligations with an original maturity date of over 90 days.

(4) Proceeds from sales of other assets for all periods were primarily related to railcar scrapping.

The following table shows portfolio investments and capital additions by segment for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Rail North AMErica . . ... oot e e $ 1,1624  $ 9769 $ 815.9
Rail International .. ....... ... . . . . . 232.9 382.4 243.9
Engine Leasing ... ........ooiit 260.8 267.3 149.7
Other .. 18.3 38.4 46.3
Total L. $ 1,6744 % 1,665.0 $ 1,255.8

The increase in portfolio investments and capital additions of $9.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2024 was primarily due
to more railcars and locomotives acquired at Rail North America, partially offset by fewer railcars acquired at GRE and Rail India,
and fewer tank containers acquired at Trifleet. The timing of investments depends on purchase commitments, transaction
opportunities, and market conditions.

Portfolio proceeds decreased $42.2 million in 2024 compared to 2023, resulting from the absence of proceeds from the sale of three
Specialized Gas Vessels at Engine Leasing and the sale of Rail Russia at Rail International in 2023.
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Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

The following table shows our principal sources and uses of cash flows provided by financing activities for the years ended

December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Net proceeds from issuances of debt with original maturities longer than 90 days . . ... $ 1,295.6 $ 1,420.0 $ 848.3
Repayments of debt with original maturities longer than 90 days .................. (413.5) (500.0) (250.0)
Net decrease in debt with original maturities of 90 daysorless.................... — (7.1) —
Purchases of assets previously leased (1) ........ ... .. .. ... .. i, (30.4) — (1.5)
Stock repurchases (2) .. ...ttt (21.9) (2.6) (47.2)
Dividends .. ... (84.8) (80.6) (76.6)
Other .o 25.5 14.4 314
Net cash provided by financing activities ............. ... . ... ... ........... $ 770.5 $ 844.1 $ 504.4

(1) In 2024, we purchased 728 railcars that were previously leased, compared to zero railcars in 2023.

(2) During 2024, we repurchased 167,452 shares of common stock for $21.9 million, compared to 24,520 shares of common stock for

$2.6 million in 2023.

The following table shows the activity on our long-term debt principal in 2024 (in millions):

Impact of
Foreign
Balance at Exchange Balance at
12/31/23 Issuances Payments Rates 12/31/24
US.debt ..... .. ..o i $ 6,450.0 § 950.0 $ (300.0) $ — S 7,100.0
Europedebt (1) ........ ... ... ... ... 899.6 305.3 (113.5) (65.3) 1,026.1
Indiadebt(2) ....... ... .. .. ... 101.0 48.0 — (4.2) 144.8
Total debt principal ................... S 7,450.6 § 1,3033  § (413.5) $ (69.5) $ 8,270.9

(1) Denominated in euros, but presented in U.S. dollars in this table.
(2) Denominated in Indian rupees, but presented in U.S. dollars in this table.

See “Note 8. Debt” in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K for information regarding the terms of our outstanding debt.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

General

We fund our investments and meet our debt, lease, and dividend obligations using our available cash balances, as well as cash
generated from operating activities, sales of assets, distributions from affiliates, issuances of unsecured and secured debt, commercial
paper issuances, and committed revolving credit facilities. We primarily use cash from operations to fund daily operations. We use

both domestic and international capital markets and banks to meet our debt financing needs.
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Material Cash Obligations

The following table shows our material cash obligations, including debt principal and related interest payments, lease payments, and
purchase commitments at December 31, 2024 (in millions):

Material Cash Obligations by Period

Total 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Thereafter
Recoursedebt ......................... $ 82709 $ 6324 $§ 6023 $ 8361 $§ 7307 § 6744 $§ 4,795.0
Interest on recourse debt (1) .............. 3,365.2 357.9 340.5 307.7 275.9 237.1 1,846.1
Borrowings under bank credit facilities .. ... 10.4 10.4 — — — — —
Operating lease obligations ............... 203.5 35.6 35.8 32.8 25.6 18.4 553
Purchase commitments (2) ............... 2,057.8 651.9 446.2 437.1 397.2 125.4 —
Total ... ..o $ 13,907.8 $ 1,688.2 $ 14248 $ 1,613.7 $ 1,4294 $ 1,0553 $ 6,696.4

(1) For floating rate debt, future interest payments are based on the applicable interest rate as of December 31, 2024.

(2) Primarily railcar purchase commitments. The amounts shown for all years are based on management’s estimates of the timing,
anticipated railcar types, and related costs of railcars to be purchased under its agreements. For additional details on our purchase
agreements, refer to the discussion of Rail North America operating results within this Item.

Liquidity Outlook

In addition to our contractual obligations, expenditures in 2025 may also include the purchase of railcars, tank containers, and
aircraft spare engines and other discretionary capital spending for opportunistic asset purchases or strategic investments. We plan to
fund these expenditures in 2025 using available cash at December 31, 2024 in combination with cash from operations, portfolio
proceeds, and long-term debt issuances. We also have access to our revolving credit facilities if needed. Based on the available
sources of liquidity, we also expect to meet our funding needs beyond 2025.

Contractual Cash Receipts

Information regarding our contractual cash receipts arising from future rental receipts from noncancelable operating leases and from
our finance leases as of December 31, 2024 is presented in “Note 6. Leases” within Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

Debt

The following table shows the carrying value of our debt and lease obligations by major component as of December 31 (in
millions):

2024 2023

Secured Unsecured Total Total
Borrowings under bank credit facilities . . ....................... $ $ 104 § 104 § 11.0
Recourse debt . . ... ... . .. . .. — 8,215.3 8,215.3 7,388.1
Operating lease obligations ................. ... ..c.iiuin.... 180.0 — 180.0 226.8
Total ..o $ 180.0 § 82257 $ 8,405.7 $ 7,625.9

As of December 31, 2024, our outstanding debt had a weighted-average remaining term of 8.6 years and a weighted-average interest
rate of 4.59%, compared to 8.4 years and 4.08% at December 31, 2023. See “Note 8. Debt” in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

Short-Term Borrowings and Credit Lines and Facilities
We use short-term borrowings as a source of working capital and to temporarily fund differences between our operating cash flows
and portfolio proceeds, and our capital investments and debt maturities. We do not maintain or target any particular level of short-term

borrowings on a permanent basis. Rather, we will temporarily utilize short-term borrowings at levels we deem appropriate until we
decide to pay down these balances.
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In 2024, we entered into a $600 million, 5-year unsecured revolving credit facility in the United States, expiring in May 2029. The
facility contains two one-year extension options. This replaced our prior $600 million, 5-year unsecured revolving credit facility. As
of December 31, 2024, the full $600 million was available under this facility. We also entered into a $350 million 3-year unsecured
revolving credit facility in the United States, expiring in May 2027. This facility contains two one-year extension options. This
replaced our prior $250 million 3-year unsecured revolving credit facility. As of December 31, 2024, the full $350 million was
available under this facility.

In 2024, we entered into a new €210 million, 3-year unsecured revolving credit facility in Europe, expiring in December 2027. As
of December 31, 2024, the full €210 million was available under this facility. In addition, our European subsidiaries have smaller
unsecured credit facilities with an aggregate limit of €35.0 million. As of December 31, 2024, €25.0 million was available under these
credit facilities, as €10.0 million ($10.4 million) was drawn. The weighted-average interest rate of these outstanding borrowings
during 2024 was 4.24%.

Delayed Draw Term Loans
As of December 31, 2024, we had INR 2.0 billion ($23.4 million) available under an outstanding delayed draw term loan in India.

Restrictive Covenants

Our credit facilities and certain other debt agreements contain various restrictive covenants. See “Note 8. Debt” in Part II, Item 8 of
this Form 10-K.

Credit Ratings

The global capital market environment and outlook may affect our funding options and our financial performance. Our access to
capital markets at competitive rates depends on our credit rating and rating outlook, as determined by rating agencies.

The following table shows our credit rating and rating outlook as of December 31, 2024:

Rating Agency
Standard & Poor’s Moody’s Investor Service Fitch Ratings, Inc
Long-term unsecured debt ............ BBB Baa2 BBB+
Short-term unsecured debt . ........... A-2 P-2 F2
Rating outlook ..................... Stable Positive Stable
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Leverage

Leverage is expressed as a ratio of debt (including debt and lease obligations, net of unrestricted cash and short-term investments)
to equity. The following table shows the components of recourse leverage as of December 31 (in millions, except recourse leverage
ratio):

2024 2023 2022

Debt and lease obligations, net of unrestricted cash and short-term investments:

Unrestricted cash and short-term investments . . ............................... $ (401.6) $ (450.7) $  (452.2)

Borrowings under bank credit facilities . . . .......... .. ... 10.4 11.0 17.3

Recourse debt . . ... . 8,215.3 7,388.1 6,431.5

Operating lease obligations . ............. ... it 180.0 226.8 257.9
Total debt and lease obligations, net of unrestricted cash and short-term investments ... $§ 8,004.1 $ 7,1752 § 6,254.5
Total recourse debt (1) ... ... oo i $ 8,0041 $ 71752 $ 62545
Shareholders” EQUity . ... ... ...t $ 24389 $ 2273.0 $ 2,029.6

Recourse Leverage (2) ... ..ot 33 3.2 3.1

(1) Includes recourse debt, borrowings under bank credit facilities, and operating and finance lease obligations, net of unrestricted
cash and short-term investments.
(2) Calculated as total recourse debt / shareholders’ equity.

Shelf Registration Statement

During 2022, we filed an automatic shelf registration statement that enables us to issue debt securities and pass-through certificates.
The registration statement is effective for three years and does not limit the amount of debt securities and pass-through certificates we
can issue.

Commercial Commitments

We have entered into various commercial commitments, including standby letters of credit, performance bonds, and guarantees
related to certain transactions. These commercial commitments require us to fulfill specific obligations in the event of third-party
demands. Similar to our balance sheet investments, these commitments expose us to credit, market, and equipment risk. Accordingly,
we evaluate these commitments and other contingent obligations using techniques similar to those we use to evaluate funded
transactions.

We are parties to standby letters of credit and performance bonds, which primarily relate to contractual obligations and general
liability insurance coverages. No material claims have been made against these obligations, and no material losses are anticipated.

Our commercial commitments at December 31, 2024 are presented in “Note 15. Commercial Commitments” within Item 8§ of this
Form 10-K.

Defined Benefit Plan Contributions
In 2024, we contributed $2.9 million to our defined benefit pension plans and other post-retirement benefit plans. In 2025, we
expect to contribute approximately $4.2 million. As of December 31, 2024, our funded pension plans in the aggregate were 106.8%

funded. Additional contributions will depend primarily on plan asset investment returns and actuarial experience, and subject to the
impact of these factors, we may make additional material plan contributions.
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GATX Common Stock Repurchases

On January 25, 2019, our board of directors approved a $300.0 million share repurchase program, pursuant to which we are
authorized to purchase shares of our common stock in the open market, in privately negotiated transactions, or otherwise, including
pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 plans. The share repurchase program does not have an expiration date, does not obligate the Company to
repurchase any dollar amount or number of shares of common stock, and may be suspended or discontinued at any time. The timing
of share repurchases will be dependent on market conditions and other factors. During 2024, we repurchased 167,452 shares of
common stock for $21.9 million, excluding commissions, compared to 24,520 shares repurchased for $2.6 million, excluding
commissions, in 2023. As of December 31, 2024, $65.1 million remained available under the repurchase authorization.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP, which requires us to use judgment in making estimates
and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses, as well as information in the related
disclosures. We regularly evaluate our estimates and judgments based on historical experience, market indicators, and other relevant
factors and circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Operating Assets

We state operating assets, including assets acquired under finance leases, at cost and depreciate them over their estimated economic
useful lives to an estimated residual value using the straight-line method. We determine the economic useful life based on our
estimate of the period over which the asset will generate revenue. For the majority of our operating assets, the economic useful life is
greater than 30 years. We periodically review the appropriateness of our estimates of useful lives based on changes in economic
circumstances and other factors. Changes in these estimates would result in a change in future depreciation expense.

Lease Classification

We analyze all new and modified leases to determine whether we should classify the lease as an operating or finance lease. Our
lease classification analysis relies on certain assumptions that require judgment, such as the asset’s fair value, the asset’s estimated
residual value, the interest rate implicit in the lease, and the asset’s economic useful life. While most of our leases are classified as
operating leases, changes in the assumptions we use could result in a different lease classification, which could change the impacts of
the lease transactions on our results of operations and financial position. See “Note 6. Leases” in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We review long-lived assets, such as operating assets, right-of-use assets, and facilities, for impairment annually, or whenever
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of those assets may not be recoverable. We evaluate the recoverability of assets to be
held and used by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to the undiscounted future net cash flows we expect the asset to generate.
We base estimated future cash flows on a number of assumptions, including lease rates, lease term (including renewals), operating
costs, the life of the asset, and final disposition proceeds. If we determine an asset is impaired, we recognize an impairment loss equal
to the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the asset’s fair value. We classify assets we plan to sell or otherwise dispose of
as held for sale, provided they meet specified accounting criteria, and we record those assets at the lower of their carrying amount or
fair value less costs to sell. See “Note 10. Asset Impairments and Assets Held for Sale” in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

Impairment of Investments in Affiliated Companies

We review the carrying amount of our investments in affiliates annually, or whenever circumstances indicate that their value may
have declined. If management determines that indicators of impairment are present for an investment, we perform an analysis to
estimate the fair value of that investment. Active markets do not typically exist for our affiliate investments and as a result, we may
estimate fair value using a discounted cash flow analysis at the investee level, price-earnings ratios based on comparable businesses,
or other valuation techniques that are appropriate for the particular circumstances of the affiliate. For all fair value estimates, we use
observable inputs whenever possible and appropriate.
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Once we make an estimate of fair value, we compare the estimate of fair value to the investment’s carrying value. If the
investment’s estimated fair value is less than its carrying value, then we consider the investment impaired. If an investment is
impaired, we assess whether the impairment is other-than-temporary. We consider factors such as the expected operating results for
the near future, the length of the economic life cycle of the underlying assets of the investee, and our ability to hold the investment
through the end of the underlying assets’ useful life to determine if the impairment is other-than-temporary. We may also consider
actions we anticipate the investee will take to improve its business prospects if it seems probable the investee will take those actions.
If we determine an investment to be only temporarily impaired, we do not record an impairment loss. Alternatively, if we determine
an impairment is other-than-temporary, we record a loss equal to the difference between the estimated fair value of the investment and
its carrying value. See “Note 7. Investments in Affiliated Companies.”

Impairment of Goodwill

We review the carrying amount of our goodwill annually, or if circumstances indicate an impairment may have occurred. We
perform the impairment review at the reporting unit level, which is one level below an operating segment. The goodwill impairment
test performed is a two-tiered approach and requires us to make certain judgments to determine the assumptions we use in the
calculation. We first complete a qualitative assessment to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit
exceeds its carrying value. If necessary, the fair value is then compared to its carrying value, including goodwill. When estimating the
fair value of the reporting unit, we use a discounted cash flow model and base our estimates of future cash flows on revenue and
expense forecasts and include assumptions for future growth. We also consider observable multiples of book value and earnings for
companies that we believe are comparable to the applicable reporting units. If the estimated fair value is less than the carrying
amount, we record an impairment loss for the difference. See “Note 17. Goodwill” in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

Pension and Post-Retirement Benefits Assumptions

We use actuarial assumptions to calculate pension and other post-retirement benefit obligations and related costs. The discount rate
and the expected return on plan assets are two assumptions that influence the plan expense and liability measurement. Other
assumptions involve demographic factors such as expected retirement age, mortality, employee turnover, health care cost trends, and
the rate of compensation increases.

We use a discount rate to calculate the present value of expected future pension and post-retirement cash flows as of the
measurement date. The discount rate is based on yields for high-quality, long-term bonds with durations similar to the projected
benefit obligation. We base the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets on current and expected asset allocations, as well as
historical and expected returns on various categories of plan assets. We evaluate these assumptions annually and make adjustments as
required in accordance with changes in underlying market conditions, valuation of plan assets, or demographics. Changes in these
assumptions may increase or decrease periodic benefit plan expense as well as the carrying value of benefit plan obligations. See
“Note 11. Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefits” in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

Share-Based Compensation

We grant equity awards to certain employees and non-employee directors in the form of non-qualified stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock, performance shares, and phantom stock. We recognize compensation expense for our equity
awards over the applicable service period for each award, based on the award’s grant date fair value. We use the Black-Scholes
options valuation model to calculate the grant date fair value of stock options and stock appreciation rights. This model requires us to
make certain assumptions that affect the amount of compensation expense we will record. The assumptions we use in the model
include the expected stock price volatility (based on the historical volatility of our stock price), the risk-free interest rate (based on the
treasury yield curve), the expected life of the equity award (based on historical exercise patterns and post-vesting termination
behavior), and the dividend equivalents we expect to pay during the estimated life of the equity award since our stock options and
stock appreciation rights are dividend participating. We base the fair value of other equity awards on our stock price on the grant date.
We recognize forfeitures when they occur. See “Note 12. Share-Based Compensation” in Part II, Item 8§ of this Form 10-K.
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Income Taxes

Our operations are subject to taxes in the United States, various states, and foreign countries, and as a result, we may be subject to
audit in all of these jurisdictions. Tax audits may involve complex issues and disagreements with taxing authorities that could require
several years to resolve. GAAP requires that we presume the relevant tax authority will examine uncertain income tax positions. We
must determine whether, based on the technical merits of our position, it is more likely than not that our uncertain income tax
positions will be sustained by taxing authorities upon examination, which may include related appeals or litigation processes. We
must then evaluate income tax positions that meet the “more likely than not” recognition threshold to determine the probable amount
of benefit we would recognize in the financial statements. Establishing accruals for uncertain tax benefits requires us to make
estimates and assessments with respect to the ultimate outcome of tax audit issues for amounts recorded in the financial statements.
The ultimate resolution of uncertain tax benefits may differ from our estimates, potentially impacting our financial position, results of
operations, or cash flows.

We evaluate the need for a deferred tax asset valuation allowance by assessing the likelihood that we will realize tax assets,
including net operating loss and tax credit carryforward benefits. Our assessment of whether a valuation allowance is required
involves judgment, including forecasting future taxable income and evaluating tax planning initiatives, if applicable.

We expect to continue to reinvest foreign earnings outside the United States indefinitely. If future earnings are repatriated to the
United States, or if we expect such earnings to be repatriated, a provision for additional taxes may be required. Under provisions of
the territorial tax system, repatriated earnings are generally exempt from United States income taxation, however, incremental income
taxes may occur from withholding taxes, foreign exchange gains, or other taxable gains recognized in connection with tax basis
differences in our foreign investments. The ultimate tax cost of repatriating such earnings will depend on tax laws in effect and other
circumstances at that time. See “Note 13. Income Taxes” in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

See “Note 2. Accounting Changes” in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K for a summary of new accounting pronouncements that may
impact our business.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

In addition to financial results reported in accordance with GAAP, we compute certain financial measures using non-GAAP
components, as defined by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). These measures are not in accordance with, or a
substitute for, GAAP, and our financial measures may be different from non-GAAP financial measures used by other companies. We
have provided a reconciliation of our non-GAAP measures to the most directly comparable GAAP measures.

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Components Used in the Computation of Certain Financial Measures

We exclude the effects of certain tax adjustments and other items for purposes of presenting net income, diluted earnings per share,
and return on equity because we believe these items are not attributable to our business operations. Management utilizes net income,
excluding tax adjustments and other items, when analyzing financial performance because such amounts reflect the underlying
operating results that are within management’s ability to influence. Accordingly, we believe presenting this information provides
investors and other users of our financial statements with meaningful supplemental information for purposes of analyzing year-to-year
financial performance on a comparable basis and assessing trends.
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The following tables show our net income, diluted earnings per share, and return on equity, excluding tax adjustments and other

items for the years ended December 31 (in millions, except per share data):

Impact of Tax Adjustments and Other Items on Net Income:

2024 2023 2022

Netincome (GAAP) . ..ot e $ 2842 § 2592 § 1559
Adjustments attributable to consolidated pre-tax income:

Litigation claims settlements (1) . .......... .. i, $ 33 § — 3 —

Environmental 1eServes (2) . .. ..o ottt 10.7 — 59

Net (gain) loss on Specialized Gas Vessels at Engine Leasing (3) ................. (0.6) 4.0 343

Net (gain) loss on Rail Russia at Rail International (4) .......................... — (0.3) 14.6
Total adjustments attributable to consolidated pre-tax income ...................... $ 134  § 37 $ 54.8
Income taxes thereon, based on applicable effective taxrate . ....................... $ 35 § —  $ (1.5)
Other income tax adjustments attributable to consolidated income:

Income tax rate changes (5) . ... ...ttt $ 6.0) $ 3.0 $ (3.0)

Net operating loss valuation allowance adjustment (6) .......................... — (2.3) —
Total other income tax adjustments attributable to consolidated income .............. $ 6.0) $ 53) $ (3.0)
Adjustments attributable to affiliates’ earnings, net of taxes:

Aircraft spare engine impairment at RRPF (7) ............ ... .. ... ... .. ... .... $ — 8 — 11.5
Total adjustments attributable to affiliates’ earnings, net of taxes . ................... $ —  § — 11.5
Net income, excluding tax adjustments and other items (non-GAAP) ................ § 2881 § 2576 & 2177
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Impact of Tax Adjustments and Other Items on Diluted Earnings per Share:

2024 2023 2022

Diluted earnings per share (GAAP) . ... .. $ 778 % 712 $ 4.35
Adjustments attributable to consolidated income, net of taxes:

Litigation claims settlements (1) . ........... .. i, $ 0.07 $ — 3 —

Environmental 1eServes (2) . .. ..ot t 0.22 — 0.12

Net (gain) loss on Specialized Gas Vessels at Engine Leasing (3) ................. (0.02) 0.11 0.96

Net (gain) loss on Rail Russia at Rail International (4) .......................... — (0.01) 0.41
Other income tax adjustments attributable to consolidated income:

Income tax rate changes (5) .. ...... ...t (0.16) (0.08) (0.08)

Net operating loss valuation allowance adjustment (6) .......................... — (0.06) —
Adjustments attributable to affiliates’ earnings, net of taxes:

Aircraft spare engine impairment at RRPF (7) ............ .. ... ... ... ... ... .. — — 0.32
Diluted earnings per share, excluding tax adjustments and other items (non-GAAP)* .... § 789 §$ 7.07 $ 6.07

(*) Sum of individual components may not be additive due to rounding.

(1) Expenses recorded for the settlements of litigation claims arising out of legacy business operations.

(2) Reserves recorded in 2024 for our share of anticipated environmental remediation costs arising out of prior operations and legacy
businesses and reserves recorded in 2022 as part of an executed agreement for anticipated remediation costs at a previously owned
property, sold in 1974.

(3) In 2022, we made the decision to sell the Specialized Gas Vessels. We have recorded gains and losses associated with the
subsequent impairments and sales of these assets. As of December 31, 2023, all vessels had been sold.

(4) In 2022, we made the decision to exit Rail Russia and recorded losses in 2022 associated with the impairment of the net assets. In
2023, we sold Rail Russia and recorded a gain on the final sale of this business.

(5) Deferred income tax adjustments attributable to state tax rate reductions in 2024 and 2023 and an enacted corporate income tax
rate reduction in Austria in 2022.

(6) Valuation allowance adjustment associated with the realizability of state net operating losses in future tax years.

(7) Impairment losses related to aircraft spare engines in Russia that RRPF does not expect to recover.

2024 2023 2022
Return on Equity (GAAP) ..o 12.1 % 12.0 % 7.7 %
Return on Equity, excluding tax adjustments and other items (non-GAAP) ............... 122 % 12.0 % 10.8 %
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate risks that could impact our
financial results. To manage these risks we may enter into certain derivative transactions, principally interest rate swaps, Treasury rate
locks, options and currency forwards and swaps. These instruments and other derivatives are entered into only for hedging existing
underlying exposures. We do not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Interest Rate Exposure — Our reported interest expense is affected by changes in interest rates as a result of the issuance of floating
rate debt instruments. We generally manage the amount of floating rate debt exposure in order to reduce interest expense volatility.
Based on our floating rate debt instruments at December 31, 2024, and giving effect to related derivatives, a hypothetical increase in
market interest rates of 100 basis points would cause an increase in after-tax interest expense of $5.3 million in 2024. Comparatively,
at December 31, 2023, a hypothetical 100 basis point increase in interest rates would have resulted in a $4.2 million increase in
after-tax interest expense in 2024. Our earnings are also exposed to interest rate changes from affiliates’ earnings. Certain affiliates
issue floating rate debt instruments to finance their investments.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Exposure — Certain of our foreign subsidiaries conduct business in currencies other than the U.S.
dollar, principally those operating in Austria, Canada, Germany, Poland, India, and the Netherlands. As a result, we are exposed to
foreign currency risk attributable to changes in the exchange value of the U.S. dollar in terms of the euro, Canadian dollar, Polish
zloty, and Indian rupee. Based on 2024 local currency earnings and considering non-functional currency assets and liabilities recorded
as of December 31, 2024, and giving effect to related derivatives, a uniform and hypothetical 10% strengthening in the U.S. dollar
versus applicable foreign currencies would decrease after-tax income in 2024 by $9.6 million. Comparatively, based on 2023 local
currency earnings and considering non-functional currency assets and liabilities recorded as of December 31, 2023, a uniform and
hypothetical 10% strengthening in the U.S. dollar versus applicable foreign currencies would have decreased after-tax income in 2024
by $9.7 million.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of GATX Corporation
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of GATX Corporation and subsidiaries (the Company) as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the
“consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company at December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013
framework), and our report dated February 19, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to
be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material
to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of the
critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not,
by communicating the critical audit matter below providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the account or
disclosures to which it relates.
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Description of the
Matter

How We
Addressed the
Matter in Our
Audit

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets within the Rail North America Segment

As described in Notes 3 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company reviews long-lived assets
for impairment annually, or if circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of those assets may not be
recoverable. The Company evaluates the recoverability of assets to be held and used by comparing the carrying
amount of the asset to the undiscounted future net cash flows the asset is expected to generate. If the Company
determines that an asset is impaired, an impairment loss is recognized equal to the excess of the asset’s carrying
amount over its fair value.

Auditing management’s evaluation of long-lived assets for impairment involved subjectivity due to the significant
estimation required to determine the undiscounted future net cash flows for assets with indicators of potential
impairment. In particular, the estimated lease revenue is a significant assumption, which can be affected by
changes to the Company’s business and industry factors.

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the
Company’s long-lived asset impairment review process, including controls over management’s review of the
significant assumption discussed above.

To test the Company’s long-lived asset impairment review process, we performed audit procedures that included,
among others, assessing the methodology used, evaluating the significant assumptions discussed above and testing
the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data used by the Company in its analysis. We assessed the
historical accuracy of management’s estimates used in their analysis and compared the estimated lease revenue
used by management to current year lease rates. In addition, we evaluated whether changes to the Company’s
business and industry factors would affect the reasonableness of the estimated lease revenues.

M ¥ MLLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1916.

Chicago, Illinois
February 19, 2025
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GATX CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In millions, except share data)

December 31
2024 2023
Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents .. ............... ... .. . . .. i, $ 401.6 $ 450.7
Restricted Cash . .. ... ... . 0.2 0.1
Receivables
Rent and other receivables .. ... ... . i 86.5 87.9
Finance 1eases (as 1€SS0r) . .. ..ottt 118.3 136.4
Less: allowance for l0SSES . . . ..ottt e (5.7) (5.9)
199.1 218.4
Operating Assets and Facilities .. ......... .. . . . . . . . 14,330.6 13,081.9
Less: allowance for depreciation .. .............. .ttt (3,880.9) (3,670.7)
10,449.7 9,411.2
Lease Assets (as lessee)
Right-of-use assets, net of accumulated depreciation .. ............. ... .. ..., 165.4 212.0
Investments in Affiliated Companies ........... ... . . . .. . 663.3 627.0
GoodWwill . ... 114.1 120.0
Other ASSets . ... ..o 303.1 286.6
TOtal ASSEES . . ..ottt $ 12,2965 $§ 11,326.0
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses . ... ............ ... $ 2171 $ 239.6
Debt
Borrowings under bank credit facilities . .............. . . 10.4 11.0
ReCOUISE . .. 8,215.3 7,388.1
8,225.7 7,399.1
Lease Obligations (as lessee)
Operating leases . . ... ..ottt 180.0 226.8
Deferred Income Taxes ... .. ... ... ... .. 1,127.3 1,081.1
Other Liabilities ... ... ... ... 107.5 106.4
Total Liabilities . . ... ... ... ... . . 9,857.6 9,053.0
Shareholders’ Equity
Common stock, $0.625 par value:
Authorized shares — 120,000,000
Issued shares — 69,075,329 and 68,797,027
Outstanding shares — 35,575,691 and 35,464,841 .. ... ... .. .. 42.7 42.5
Additional paid in capital ... ... ... ... 847.1 816.1
Retained earnings .. ... ...ttt 3,208.1 3,009.5
Accumulated other comprehensive 10Ss .. ... ... (209.6) (167.6)
Treasury stock at cost (33,499,638 and 33,332,186 shares) .............. ... ..., (1,449.4) (1,427.5)
Total Shareholders’ Equity . ... ... ... ... . 2,438.9 2,273.0
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity ............. ... ... ... ... .. ... ... .......... $§ 122965 § 11,3260

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GATX CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In millions, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31
2024 2023 2022

Revenues
LEASE TEVEIUE . . o o e eee e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 1,381.1  $ 1,2514 $ 1,154.6
Non-dedicated engine revVenuUe . . .. .. ..ottt e 64.6 37.6 1.5
Marine Operating reVEINUE . . .. .. vt vttt et e et et e e et — 6.9 18.9
Other TEVENUE . . . . ..ottt e e 139.8 115.0 98.0
Total Revenues . .......... ... . . 1,585.5 1,410.9 1,273.0
Expenses
Maintenance EXPENSE . . . . vt vttt e e e e e e e e e 381.6 344.8 292.7
Depreciation @XPENSE . . . . vt vttt e e e e e e e 402.4 376.3 357.5
Operating 1€ase €XPENSe . . . . ..ottt e et e e 33.9 36.0 36.1
Marine Operating EXPENSE . . ..« . v v vttt et e e e e — 6.5 14.1
Other Operating EXPEeINSE . . . . o . v vttt e ettt et e e e 57.7 46.6 37.4
Selling, general and administrative €Xpense . ... ............oeueennennennenn . 236.3 212.7 195.0
Total EXpenses . ... ... ... 1,111.9 1,022.9 932.8
Other Income (Expense)
Net gain on asset diSPOSIHIONS . .. ..o\ ut vttt ettt 138.3 130.3 77.9
Interest eXPense, NEt . . . ...ttt e (341.0) (263.4) (214.0)
Other EXPENSE . . o oottt ettt e e e e e (9.5) (9.4) (27.0)
Income before Income Taxes and Share of Affiliates’ Earnings ................ 261.4 245.5 177.1
INCOME taXES . ..ttt (60.0) (58.7) (54.8)
Share of affiliates’ earnings, net oftaxes . ............... .. .. ... 82.8 72.4 33.6
Net INCOME ... ...t $ 2842 $ 2592 § 155.9
Other Comprehensive Income, Net of Taxes
Foreign currency translation adjustments . ............ ... ... . ..., $ (53.8) $ 458 $ (56.7)
Unrealized gain on derivative instruments . ....................iiiinenon... 1.0 1.3 1.4
Post-retirement benefitplans . ........... ... . . . 10.8 3.1 4.3

Other comprehensive (10SS) INCOME . . ... ...t (42.0) 44.0 (51.0)
Comprehensive Income . .......... ... ... ... ... ... $ 2422 $ 3032 $ 104.9
Share Data
Basic earnings pershare . . ... ... . $ 7.80 $ 7.13 S 441
Average number of common shares . ............. .. .. .. .. ... i 35.8 35.7 354
Diluted earnings per Share . ......... ...ttt $ 778 $ 712§ 4.35
Average number of common shares and common share equivalents ............... 359 35.7 359

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GATX CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In millions)

Operating Activities
NEEINCOME . . . oottt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization . .. ...ttt
Net gains on sales 0f assets . ...t
ASSEt IMPAITIMENLS . . . o\ vttt et et ettt et et e et
Employee benefitplans .......... .. ...
Share-based compensation . ...............c..uiiininiin
Deferred iINCOME taXES . . .. vt v ettt e e e et e
Share of affiliates’ earnings, net of dividends ...............................
Changes in working capital items . ..............o ittt

Net cash provided by operating activities ..............................

Investing Activities

Portfolio investments and capital additions . . .............. ... .. ... .. .. .. ... ...
Portfolio proceeds .. ... ... .
Proceeds from sales of otherassets ......... ... ... .. ... .. i
Short-term INVEStMENTS . . .. .. ...ttt et e e
Other . .o

Net cash used in investing activities . .................uiiiiinnenan...

Financing Activities

Net proceeds from issuances of debt with original maturities longer than 90 days . ... ..
Repayments of debt with original maturities longer than 90 days ...................
Net decrease in debt with original maturities of 90 daysorless .....................
Purchases of assets previously leased ............ ... .. .. .. . . i
Stock repurchases . .........
Dividends . .. ... o
Other .o

Net cash provided by financing activities ................ .. ...ciiiinon...

Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash . . . .

Net (decrease) increase in Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash during the year ..
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash at beginning of year ... ............

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash atend ofyear ................. ...

Year Ended December 31

2024 2023 2022
2842 §$ 2592 § 155.9
421.4 392.1 3713
(137.8) (130.9) (121.2)
— 1.5 48.9
(0.8) 4.3) 1.8
23.0 18.3 12.7
458 38.3 36.3
(32.8) (47.4) 12.7
(0.9) (6.4) 15.1
602.1 520.4 533.5
(1,674.4) (1,665.0) (1,255.8)
230.6 272.8 269.6
24.9 20.2 31.1
— 150.0 (148.5)
2.2 2.7 30.1
(1,416.7) (1,219.3) (1,073.5)
1,295.6 1,420.0 848.3
(413.5) (500.0) (250.0)
— (7.1) —
(30.4) — (1.5)
(21.9) (2.6) (47.2)
(84.8) (80.6) (76.6)
25.5 14.4 314
770.5 844.1 504.4
(4.9) 1.6 4.9)
(49.0) 146.8 (40.5)
450.8 304.0 344.5
401.8 $ 450.8 $ 304.0

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GATX CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In millions)

2024 2024 2023 2023 2022 2022

Shares Dollars Shares Dollars Shares Dollars
Common Stock
Balance at beginning of year .................... 68.8 $ 42.5 68.6 $ 42.4 683 $ 422
Issuance of common stock ...................... 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.3 0.2
Balanceatendofyear.......................... 69.1 42.7 68.8 42.5 68.6 42.4
Treasury Stock
Balance at beginning of year .................... (33.3) (1,427.5) (33.3) (1,424.9) (32.8) (1,377.7)
Stock repurchases ............ ... ... ... .. (0.2) (21.9) — (2.6) (0.5) (47.2)
Balanceatendofyear.......................... (33.5) (1,4494) (33.3) (1,427.5) (33.3) (1,424.9)
Additional Paid In Capital
Balance at beginning of year .................... 816.1 792.2 763.8
Share-based compensation effects ................ 31.0 23.9 28.4
Balanceatendofyear.......................... 847.1 816.1 792.2
Retained Earnings
Balance at beginning of year .................... 3,009.5 2,831.5 2,751.5
Netincome ..........ooiininininnannen... 284.2 259.2 155.9
Dividends declared per share ($2.32 in 2024, $2.20 in
2023 and $2.08 in2022) ... ... (85.6) (81.2) (75.9)
Balanceatendofyear.......................... 3,208.1 3,009.5 2,831.5
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
Balance at beginning of year .................... (167.6) (211.6) (160.6)
Other comprehensive (loss) income ............... (42.0) 44.0 (51.0)
Balanceatendofyear.......................... (209.6) (167.6) (211.6)
Total Shareholders’ Equity ....................

$ 2,438.9

$ 2,273.0

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GATX CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. Description of Business

As used herein, “GATX,” “we,” “us,” “our,” and similar terms refer to GATX Corporation and its subsidiaries, unless indicated
otherwise.

We lease, operate, manage, and remarket long-lived, widely used assets, primarily in the rail market. We report our financial results
through three primary business segments: Rail North America, Rail International, and Engine Leasing (previously named Portfolio
Management). Financial results for our tank container leasing business (“Trifleet”) are reported in the Other segment.

In 2024, we changed the name of our Portfolio Management business segment to Engine Leasing to reflect the prospective
operations of this business segment. Historically, this business segment included marine operations from our liquefied gas-carrying
vessels (the “Specialized Gas Vessels”). As of December 31, 2023, we had sold all of our marine assets and no longer have any
marine operations. The segment is now almost entirely composed of our engine leasing operations, which include our ownership
interest in the Rolls-Royce & Partners Finance (“RRPF”) affiliates, a group of joint ventures with Rolls-Royce plc (or affiliates
thereof, collectively “Rolls-Royce”) that lease aircraft spare engines, and GATX Engine Leasing (“GEL”), our business that directly
owns aircraft spare engines that are leased to airline customers or employed in an engine capacity agreement.

NOTE 2. Accounting Changes

New Accounting Pronouncements Adopted

Effective Date and
Adoption Effect on Financial Statements or Other
Standard/Description Considerations Significant Matters

Segment Reporting

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, | The company adopted | The application of this guidance did not have a
Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to this standard in 2024. significant impact on the Company’s consolidated

Reportable Segment Disclosures, to improve financial statement disclosures on Segment
reportable segment disclosure requirements, Reporting as presented in “Note 24. Financial Data
particularly around the disclosure of segment of Business Segments”.

expenses that are regularly reported to the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM?”) and included
within each reported measure of segment profit.
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GATX CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

New Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

Standard/Description

Effective Date and
Adoption
Considerations

Effect on Financial Statements or Other
Significant Matters

Income Taxes

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU
2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements
to Income Tax Disclosures, to enhance disclosures
for the effective rate reconciliation and income

The new guidance will
be effective for the
Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for

We continue to assess the effect the new guidance
will have on our disclosures. We expect the
primary impact to be the level of disaggregation
disclosed in the effective rate reconciliation table

and the addition of income taxes paid by
jurisdiction.

the year-ended
December 31, 2025.
Early adoption is
permitted.

taxes paid.

Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses

The new guidance will
be effective for the
Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended
December 31, 2027 and
subsequent interim
periods. Early adoption
is permitted.

We are currently assessing the requirements and
the level of disclosure that will be required for our
income statement expenses.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU
2024-03, Income Statement - Reporting
Comprehensive Income - Expense Disaggregation
Disclosures to require public companies to disclose
a disaggregation of certain expenses that are
presented on the face of the income statement
including amounts of purchased inventory,
employee compensation, depreciation,
amortization, and other related costs and expenses.

NOTE 3. Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

We prepared the accompanying consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”).

Consolidation

Our consolidated financial statements include our assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses, as well as the assets, liabilities,
revenues, and expenses of subsidiaries in which we had a controlling financial interest. We have eliminated intercompany transactions
and balances.

Use of Estimates

Preparing financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts we
report. We regularly evaluate our estimates and judgments based on historical experience and other relevant facts and circumstances.
Actual amounts could differ from our estimates.

Lease Classification

We determine the classification of a lease at its inception. If the provisions of the lease subsequently change, we evaluate whether
the modification requires a reassessment of the classification per the guidance around lease modifications within ASC Topic 842,
Leases (“Topic 842”") and will reassess lease classification, if required. See “Note 6. Leases.”

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to our customers, in an amount that reflects the
consideration we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those goods and services.
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GATX CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We disaggregate revenue into four categories as presented on our statements of comprehensive income:
Lease Revenue
Lease revenue, which includes operating lease revenue and finance lease revenue, is our primary source of revenue.
Operating Lease Revenue

We lease railcars, locomotives, aircraft spare engines, and tank containers under full-service and net operating leases. We
price full-service leases as an integrated service that includes amounts related to maintenance, insurance, and ad valorem taxes.
We do not offer stand-alone maintenance service contracts. Operating lease revenue is within the scope of Topic 842, and we
have elected not to separate non-lease components from the associated lease component for qualifying leases. Operating lease
revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the underlying lease. As a result, lease revenue may not be
recognized in the same period as maintenance and other costs, which we expense as incurred. Variable rents are recognized
when applicable contingencies are resolved. Revenue is not recognized if collectability is not reasonably assured. See “Note 6.
Leases.”

Finance Lease Revenue

In certain cases, we lease railcars and tank containers that, at lease inception, are classified as finance leases. In accordance
with Topic 842, finance lease revenue is recognized using the effective interest method, using the interest rate implicit in the
lease. See “Note 6. Leases.”

Non-Dedicated Engine Revenue

Certain of our owned aircraft spare engines are part of a pool of non-dedicated spare engines managed under a capacity
agreement with Rolls-Royce. Revenue is earned based on our ability to meet engine capacity requirements under the agreement,
which requires us to enroll a minimum number of engines in a pool of non-dedicated spare engines for short-term lease to Rolls-
Royce customers. We recognize revenue based on our right to receive a portion of the revenue earned by the pool, which is
calculated based on the average engine flight hours reported for each type of engine enrolled into the pool.

Marine Operating Revenue

Historically, we generated marine operating revenue through shipping services completed by our marine vessels. As of 2024, we
no longer have marine operating revenue, as all marine vessels were sold as of December 31, 2023.

Other Revenue

Other revenue is comprised of customer repair revenue, termination fees, interest income, and other miscellaneous revenues.
Select components of other revenue are within the scope of ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Revenue
attributable to terms provided in our lease contracts are variable lease components that are recognized when earned, in accordance
with Topic 842.

Earnings Per Share

We compute basic and diluted earnings per share using the two-class method, which is an earnings allocation calculation that
determines Earnings Per Share (“EPS”) for each class of common stock and participating security. Our vested and exercisable stock
options contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents and are classified as participating securities in the
calculation of EPS. Our unvested stock options, restricted stock units, performance shares and non-employee director awards do not
contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents and are therefore not classified as participating securities. Vested
non-employee director awards are treated as shares outstanding for basic and diluted earnings per share because these awards are
guaranteed to be settled in shares upon the passage of time.
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GATX CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Under the two-class method, net income is allocated between shares of common stock and participating securities based on their
participating rights. Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income, adjusted for earnings allocated to participating securities, by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding. We weight shares issued or reacquired for the portion of the period that
they were outstanding. Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing net income, adjusted for earnings allocated to participating securities, by
the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding adjusted for the dilutive effect of unvested stock options, restricted stock
units and performance shares. The dilutive effect of participating securities is calculated using the more dilutive of the treasury stock
method or the two-class method. Earnings allocated to participating securities include their portion of dividends declared and
undistributed earnings during the period.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

We classify all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase as cash equivalents.
Investments with maturities greater than three months but less than one year at the date of purchase are classified as short-term
investments.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash is cash and cash equivalents that are restricted as to withdrawal and use. Our restricted cash primarily relates to cash
received from a specific customer and held to pay for potential repairs.

Finance Lease Receivables

We record a gross lease payment receivable and an estimated residual value, net of unearned income for our finance leases. For
sales-type leases, we may also recognize a gain or loss in the period the lease is recorded. Lease payment receivables represent the
present value of the rents we expect to receive through the end of the lease term for a leased asset. Estimated residual values are our
estimates of value of an asset at the end of a finance lease term. The combination of these is considered the net investment in a lease.
Over the lease term, the net investment in these leases is reduced and finance lease income is recognized in our consolidated
statements of comprehensive income. We evaluate our net investment in finance leases for impairment based on current conditions
and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future conditions under ASC Topic 326, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses. See the
“Allowance for Losses” section within this Note for more information.

Allowance for Losses

The allowance for losses is our estimate of credit losses associated with receivable balances. Receivables include rent and other
receivables and finance lease receivables.

Our loss reserves for rent and other receivables are based on historical loss experience and judgments about the impact of economic
conditions, the state of the markets we operate in, and collateral values, if applicable. In addition, we may establish specific reserves
for known troubled accounts.

We evaluate reserve estimates for finance lease receivables under ASC 326, on a customer-specific basis, considering each
customer’s particular credit situation, current economic conditions, and expected value of the underlying collateral upon its
repossession, to adjust the allowance when necessary. We also consider the factors we use to evaluate rent and other receivables,
which are outlined above.

We record charges against the allowance when we deem them uncollectable. We made no material changes in our estimation
methods or assumptions for the allowance during 2024. We believe that the allowance is adequate to cover losses inherent in our
receivables balances as of December 31, 2024. Since the allowance is based on judgments and estimates, it is possible that actual
losses incurred will differ from the estimate. See “Note 18. Allowance for Losses.”
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GATX CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Operating Assets and Facilities
We record operating assets, facilities, and capitalized improvements at cost. We depreciate operating assets and facilities over their

estimated useful lives to estimated residual values using the straight-line method. We depreciate leasehold improvements over the
shorter of their useful lives or the lease term. Our estimated depreciable lives of operating assets and facilities are as follows:

RaAIlCaTS . .ot 1545 years
AIreraft Spare @NZINES . . .. ..ottt e 20-30 years
LOCOMOLIVES . . oottt e 10-20 years
Tank CONtAINGTS . . . ..ottt e e e e e 15-25 years
BUildings . . ..o 40-50 years
Leasehold Improvements . . . . ... ..ottt e 5—15 years
Other eqUIPIMENL . . . ..ottt et e e e e e e e e e 3-30 years

We review our operating assets and facilities for impairment annually, or if circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of those
assets may not be recoverable. We evaluate the recoverability of assets to be held and used by comparing the carrying amount of the
asset to the undiscounted future net cash flows we expect the asset to generate. If we determine an asset is impaired, we recognize an
impairment loss equal to the amount the carrying amount exceeds the asset’s fair value. We classify assets we plan to sell or otherwise
dispose of as held for sale, provided they meet specified accounting criteria, and we record those assets at the lower of their carrying
amount or fair value less costs to sell. See “Note 10. Asset Impairments and Assets Held for Sale” for further information about asset
impairment losses and assets held for sale.

Leased Assets as a Lessee

We record right-of-use assets for operating leases and finance leases as a lessee and we record the related obligations as liabilities.
We amortize the leased assets over the lease terms. We review our right-of-use assets for impairment annually, or if circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of those assets may not be recoverable.

Investments in Affiliates

We use the equity method to account for investments in joint ventures and other unconsolidated entities if we have the ability to
exercise significant influence over the financial and operating policies of those investees. Under the equity method, we record our
initial investments in these entities at cost and subsequently adjust the investment for our share of the affiliates’ earnings (losses), and
distributions. We review the carrying amount of our investments in affiliates annually, or whenever circumstances indicate that the
value of these investments may have declined. If we determine an investment is impaired on an other-than-temporary basis, we record
a loss equal to the difference between the fair value of the investment and its carrying amount. See “Note 7. Investments in Affiliated
Companies.”

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

We recognize goodwill when the consideration paid to acquire a business exceeds the fair value of the net assets acquired. We assign
goodwill to the same reporting unit as the net assets of the acquired business and we assess our goodwill for impairment on an annual
basis in the fourth quarter, or if impairment indicators are present. Goodwill is initially assessed for impairment by performing a
qualitative assessment to determine if it was more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit exceeded its carrying value. If
necessary, the fair value of the reporting unit is then compared to its carrying value, including goodwill. If the carrying amount of the
applicable reporting unit exceeds its fair value, we record an impairment loss for the difference. The fair values of our reporting units are
determined using discounted cash flow models. See “Note 17. Goodwill.”

We recognize intangible assets acquired in a business combination at their estimated fair value at the time of the business
combination. Intangible assets consist of customer relationships and trade names and are amortized on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives ranging from 10 years to 25 years. We review intangible assets for potential impairment if circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of those assets may not be recoverable. Intangible assets are included in other assets on the balance
sheet.
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GATX CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Income Taxes

We calculate provisions for federal, state, and foreign income taxes on our reported income before income taxes. We base our
calculations of deferred tax assets and liabilities on the differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and
liabilities, using enacted rates in effect for the year we expect the differences will reverse. We reflect the cumulative effect of changes
in tax rates from those we previously used to determine deferred tax assets and liabilities in the provision for income taxes in the
period the change is enacted. Provisions for income taxes in any given period can differ from those currently payable or receivable
because certain items of income and expense are recognized in different periods for financial reporting purposes than for income tax
purposes. We may deduct expenses or defer income attributable to uncertain tax positions for tax purposes, and include those items in
our liability for uncertain tax positions in other liabilities on the balance sheet. See “Note 13. Income Taxes.”

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is the price that a market participant would receive to sell an asset or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction at
the measurement date. We classify fair value measurements according to the three-level hierarchy defined by GAAP, and those
classifications are based on our judgment about the reliability of the inputs we use in the fair value measurement. Level 1 inputs are
quoted prices available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly,
and may include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by observable market data. For assets or liabilities with a specified contractual term, Level 2 inputs
must be observable for substantially the full term of that asset or liability. Level 3 inputs are unobservable, meaning they are
supported by little or no market activity. Fair value measurements classified as Level 3 typically rely on pricing models and
discounted cash flow methodologies, both of which require significant judgment. See “Note 9. Fair Value.”

Derivatives

We use derivatives, such as interest rate swap agreements, treasury rate locks, options, cross currency swaps, and currency
forwards, to hedge our exposure to interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate risk on existing and anticipated transactions. We
formally designate derivatives that meet specific accounting criteria as qualifying hedges at inception. These criteria require us to
have the expectation that the derivative will be highly effective at offsetting changes in the fair value or expected cash flows of the
hedged exposure, both at the inception of the hedging relationship and on an ongoing basis.

We recognize all derivative instruments at fair value and classify them on the balance sheet as either other assets or other liabilities.
We generally base the classification of derivative activity in the statements of comprehensive income and cash flows on the nature of
the hedged item. For derivatives we designate as fair value hedges, we recognize changes in the fair value of both the derivative and
the hedged item in interest expense, and we include the related cash flows in the cash flow section corresponding to the hedged item.
For derivatives we designate as cash flow hedges, we record the effective portion of the change in the fair value of the derivative as
part of other comprehensive (loss) income, and we recognize those changes in earnings in the period the hedged transaction affects
earnings. We recognize any ineffective portion of the change in the fair value of the derivative immediately in earnings. Cash flows
from derivatives designated as cash flow hedges are included in the cash flow section corresponding to the hedged item. Although we
do not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for purposes other than hedging, we may not designate certain derivatives as
accounting hedges. We recognize changes in the fair value of these derivatives in earnings immediately. We classify gains and losses
on derivatives that are not designated as hedges as other expenses, and we include the related cash flows in cash flows from operating
activities. See “Note 9. Fair Value.”

Foreign Currency

We translate the assets and liabilities of our operations that have non-US dollar functional currencies at exchange rates in effect at
year-end. Revenue, expenses, and cash flows are translated monthly using average exchange rates. We defer gains and losses resulting
from foreign currency translation and record those gains and losses as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive
loss. Gains and losses resulting from foreign currency transactions and from the remeasurement of non-functional currency assets and
liabilities are recognized in other expense during the periods in which they occur. Net gains (losses) recognized were $0.6 million,
$6.9 million and $(4.6) million for 2024, 2023, and 2022.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Environmental Liabilities

We record accruals for environmental remediation costs at applicable sites when they are probable and when we can reasonably
estimate the expected costs. We record adjustments to initial estimates as necessary. Since these accruals are based on estimates,
actual environmental remediation costs may differ. We expense or capitalize environmental remediation costs related to current or
future operations as appropriate. See “Note 23. Legal Proceedings and Other Contingencies.”

Defined Benefit Pension and Other Post-Retirement Plans

Our balance sheet reflects the funded status of our pension and post-retirement plans, which is the difference between the fair value
of the plan assets and the projected benefit obligation. We recognize the aggregate overfunding of any plans in other assets, the
aggregate underfunding of any plans in other liabilities, and the corresponding adjustments for unrecognized actuarial gains (losses)
and prior service cost (credits) in accumulated other comprehensive loss. We record the service cost component of net periodic cost in
selling, general, and administrative expense in the statements of comprehensive income and the non-service components in other
expense. See “Note 11. Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefits.”

Maintenance and Repair Costs

We expense maintenance and repair costs as incurred. We capitalize certain costs incurred in connection with planned major
maintenance activities if those activities improve the asset or extend its useful life. We depreciate those capitalized costs over the
estimated useful life of the improvement.

Operating Lease Expense

We classify leases of certain railcars and other equipment as operating leases. We record the lease expense associated with these
leases in operating lease expense on a straight-line basis. We also classify our leases of office facilities and related administrative
assets as operating leases, and we record the associated expense in selling, general and administrative expense. See “Note 6. Leases.”

Share-Based Compensation

We base our measurement of share-based compensation expense on the grant date fair value of an award, and we recognize the
expense over the requisite service period. Forfeitures are recorded when they occur. For awards accounted for as liability awards, the
liability and related compensation expense is adjusted to reflect the fair value of the underlying shares at the end of each reporting
period. We recognize compensation expense for these awards over the applicable vesting period. See “Note 12. Share-Based
Compensation.”

Net Gain on Asset Dispositions

Net gain on dispositions includes gains and losses on sales of operating assets and residual sharing income, which we also refer to
as asset remarketing income; non-remarketing disposition gains, primarily from scrapping of railcars; and asset impairment losses.
We recognize disposition gains, including non-remarketing gains, upon completion of the sale or scrapping of operating assets.
Residual sharing income includes fees we receive from the sale of managed assets, and we recognize these fees upon completion of
the underlying transactions.

The following table presents the net gain on asset dispositions for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Net disposition @ains . . ... ...t $ 1220 $ 1198 $ 104.1
Residual sharing income .. .......... .. ... 0.5 0.9 5.6
Non-remarketing net disSposition gains .. ..............uiitennnenenaen . 15.8 11.1 17.1
Asset impairments (1) .. ... ... — (1.5) (48.9)
Net gain on asset diSpOSItIONS . ... ..ottt e $ 1383  $ 1303  $ 77.9

(1) See “Note 10. Asset Impairments and Assets Held for Sale” for further information about asset impairment losses.
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Interest Expense, net

Interest expense is the interest we accrue on indebtedness and the amortization of debt issuance costs and debt discounts and
premiums. We defer debt issuance costs and debt discounts and premiums and amortize them over the term of the related debt. We
report interest expense net of interest income on bank deposits. Interest income on bank deposits was $24.3 million in 2024,
$15.2 million in 2023, and $6.4 million in 2022.
Other Expense

We include fair value adjustments on certain financial instruments, gains and/or losses on foreign currency transactions, legal
defense costs and litigation settlements, along with other miscellaneous income and expense items in other expense.

NOTE 4. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

The following table shows supplemental cash flow information for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022

Interest paid (1) ... ... $ 350.1 $ 260.1 S 202.7
Income taxes paid, Net ... ... ... ... 23.0 17.3 18.7

(1) Interest paid consisted of interest on debt obligations and interest rate swaps (net of interest received).
NOTE 5. Operating Assets and Facilities

The following table shows the components of our operating assets and facilities as of December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023

Railcars and [oCOMOLIVES . . .. ...ttt e e e $ 12,7029 $ 11,700.8
Aircraft Spare ENGINES . . .. .ottt 1,030.4 769.7
Tank CONtAINGTS . . . . ..ot 2414 237.7
Buildings, leasehold improvements, and other equipment ... ............. .. ... ... .. .. ...... 265.3 253.0
Ot . .o 90.6 120.7

$ 143306 $ 13,0819
Less: allowance for depreciation ... ... ... ... ...ttt (3,880.9) (3,670.7)
Net operating assets and facilities . .. ... ... i $ 10,4497 $§ 94112

The following table shows the components of our total depreciation expense for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Operating assets and facilities, included in depreciation expense ................ $ 4024 § 3763 § 357.5
Maintenance operating assets and facilities, included in maintenance expense . . . . . . 11.8 9.3 7.5
Depreciation on operating assets and facilities . . ............................. $ 4142 § 3856 § 365.0
Non-operating assets, included in SG&A .. ... ... ... . i 6.7 5.9 6.3
Total depreciation EXPENSE . .. ...ttt $ 4209 $ 3915 § 371.3
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NOTE 6. Leases
GATX as Lessor

We lease railcars, locomotives, aircraft spare engines, and tank containers under full-service and net operating leases. We price full-
service leases as an integrated service that includes amounts related to maintenance, insurance, and ad valorem taxes. In accordance
with applicable guidance, we do not separate lease and non-lease components when reporting revenue for our full-service operating
leases. In some cases, we lease railcars and tank containers that, at commencement, are classified as finance leases. For certain
operating leases, revenue is based on equipment usage and is recognized when earned. Typically, our leases do not provide customers
with renewal options or options to purchase the asset. Our lease agreements do not generally have residual value guarantees. We
collect reimbursements from customers for damage to our railcars, as well as additional rental payments for usage above specified
levels, as provided in the lease agreements.

The following table shows the components of our lease revenue for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Operating lease revenue:
Fixed 1€ase reVENUE . . . . . ..ottt e $ 1,263.5  $ 1,1451 $ 1,058.3
Variable lease revenue .. ... ........ ... 104.1 93.7 86.5
Total operating [€ase FEVENUE . . ... ..ottt ettt $ 13676 $ 1,2388 $§ 1,144.8
Finance lease revenue . ... ... ... ... ..t 13.5 12.6 9.8
Total 1€aSE TEVENUE . . . ..ot e et ettt et e e e e $ 13811 $ 1,2514 $ 1,154.6

In accordance with the terms of our leases with customers, we may earn additional revenue, primarily for customer repairs. This
additional revenue is reported in other revenue in the statements of comprehensive income and was $115.8 million, $94.6 million and
$81.5 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022.

The following table shows the components of our finance leases as of December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023
Total contractual lease payments receivable . ............ ... ... i $ 160.0 § 171.8
Estimated unguaranteed residual value of leased assets .. ......... .. .. .. .. .. .. ... .. . ... 17.2 17.2
Unearned INCOME . . . ...ttt et ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e (58.9) (52.6)
FINANCE [CASES . . . . vttt $ 1183 § 136.4

The following table shows our future contractual receipts from our noncancelable operating and finance leases as of December 31,
2024 (in millions):

Operating Finance

Leases (1) Leases Total
202 $ 1,L157.5  § 359 § 1,193.4
2020 . 915.0 333 948.3
202 720.9 23.7 744.6
202 565.8 20.7 586.5
202 400.5 12.8 413.3
Thereafter . ... ... ... 1,048.0 33.6 1,081.6

$ 4,807.7 $ 160.0 § 4,967.7

(1) The future contractual receipts due under our full-service operating leases include executory costs such as maintenance, car taxes,
and insurance.

We recorded gains on finance leases of $8.5 million, $12.9 million and $1.0 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022. The gains are reported
in net gain on asset dispositions in the statements of comprehensive income.
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GATX as Lessee

We lease assets, including railcars at North America, as well as other assets such as offices, maintenance facilities, and other
general purpose equipment. Railcars are subleased to customers as part of our normal course of operations. Certain leases have
options to purchase the underlying assets early, renew the lease, or purchase the underlying assets at the end of the lease term. The
specific terms of the renewal and purchase options vary, and we did not include these amounts in our future contractual rental
payments. Additionally, the contractual rental payments do not include amounts we are required to pay for licenses, taxes, insurance,
and maintenance. Our lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees. At December 31, 2024, we leased
4,432 railcars at Rail North America, all of which are accounted for as operating leases.

To calculate the right-of-use asset and lease liability for our leases, we use the implicit rate if readily determinable or when the
implicit rate is not readily determinable, we use our incremental borrowing rate. Our incremental borrowing rate is the interest rate we
estimate we would have to pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term of the lease payments. The implicit rate was
measurable for railcars leased at Rail North America. For our other operating leases, we used our incremental borrowing rate. Leases
with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet. Operating lease expense is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

The following table shows the components of lease expense for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Operating lease cost (1):
Fixed lease cost - operating [€ases . ...............uiriiuiernennennann.. $ 40.0 $ 416 $ 41.4
Finance lease cost:
Amortization of right-of-use assets .............. .. .. .. .. .., 0.2 — —
Interest on lease liabilities . ............. .. .. .. i, 0.3 — —
TOtal 16ASE COST . . . v vttt $ 405 $ 41.6 $ 414

(1) Total operating lease cost includes amounts recorded in operating lease expense and selling, general and administrative expense.
Operating lease cost also includes short-term leases, which are immaterial.

Operating lease cost includes amounts attributable to sale lease-back financing transactions for railcars we lease to customers. Lease
revenue of $41.9 million for 2024 was recognized in connection with these operating leases compared to $41.3 million for 2023 and

$40.1 million for 2022.

The following table shows the maturities of our lease liabilities as of December 31, 2024 (in millions):

Operating
Leases
202 e $ 35.6
2026 35.8
2027 e 32.8
2028 e e 25.6
2020 18.4
TherCa T . . o 553
Total undiscounted 1€aSe PAYMENLS . . . . ...\ttt et e e $ 203.5
Less: amounts repreSenting iNtereSt . . . .. .. ..ottt et e et e e e e e e e (23.5)
Total discounted lease lHabilities . . .. .. .. ... .t $ 180.0
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The following table shows the lease terms and discount rates related to leases as of December 31:

2024 2023
Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years):
Operating [@aseS . . . ..ottt 6.5 7.0
Weighted-average discount rate:
OPerating [@aSES . . . ..ttt ittt e 3.66 % 3.61 %

The following table shows other information related to leases for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows for operating leases .....................veeion.. $ 400 $ 412 $ 424
Financing cash flows for finance leases ................................. 30.4 — 1.5
Total cash for leases ... ....... ... e $ 704 $ 412 % 43.9
Non-cash financing lease transactions (1) ........... ... ... ... .. .o, $ 30.1 $ — 3 —

(1) Non-cash financing lease transactions are a result of the reclassification from operating lease liability to finance lease liability
upon notice of the intent to exercise an early buy-out option.

In 2024, we exercised options to acquire 728 railcars previously recorded on the balance sheet as a finance lease for $30.4 million,
compared to no activity in 2023 and 21 railcars for $1.5 million in 2022.

NOTE 7. Investments in Affiliated Companies

Investments in affiliated companies is composed of investments in domestic and foreign affiliates, and primarily include entities
that lease aircraft spare engines.

The following table presents our investments in affiliated companies and our ownership percentage in those companies by segment
as of December 31 (in millions):

Percentage

Segment 2024 2023 Ownership
Rolls-Royce & Partners Finance (1) .................... Engine Leasing $ 663.1 $ 626.8 50.0%
RailPulse LLC ... ... Rail North America 0.2 0.2 10.0%

Investments in Affiliated Companies ................... $ 6633 § 627.0

(1) Combined investment balances of a group of 50% owned domestic and foreign joint ventures with Rolls-Royce.

The following table shows our share of affiliates’ earnings (losses) by segment for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Rail North America . . ... ... e $ —  § 0.6) $ 0.5
Engine Leasing .. ... ...ttt 108.3 98.7 45.4
Share of affiliates’ pre-tax earnings .................uiriinininernenenann... 108.3 98.1 459
INCOME tAXES . . oottt (25.5) (25.7) (12.3)
Share of affiliates’ earnings, net of taxes ................o i, $ 82.8 $ 724 % 33.6
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There were no cash investments in affiliates in any of the periods presented. The following table shows distributions received from
affiliates, by segment, for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

Cash Distributions
2024 2023 2022

Engine Leasing ... ...ttt $ 50.0 $ 250 $ 46.3
Total .o $ 50.0 $ 250 $ 46.3

Summarized Financial Data of Affiliates

The following table shows the aggregated operating results for the years ended December 31 for the affiliated companies we held at
December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
REVENUES . . oottt e et e e e e e e e e e $ 5140  $ 487.2 $ 417.7
Net gains on sales 0f assets . .. ... ...ttt 75.2 91.7 22.9
NEtINCOME ..\ttt e e e e e e e e 164.0 150.6 73.9

The following table shows aggregated summarized balance sheet data for our affiliated companies as of December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023
CUITENT SSEES . . .\ ot ettt et et e e e e e e e e e $ 6105 $ 495.9
NONCUITENT ASSELS . . . vttt et e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e 4,709.1 4,108.3
TOtal @SSELS . . o\ vt ettt $ 53196 $ 46042
Current Habilities . ... ... oot $ 6184 § 351.5
Noncurrent HabilitieS . . ... . ... . 3,405.1 3,024.1
Shareholders” equUIty . .. ... ... . 1,296.1 1,228.6
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity .. ........ ... . it $ 53196 § 4,6042

Summarized Financial Data for the RRPF Affiliates

Our affiliate investments include interests in each of the RRPF affiliates, a group of 50% owned domestic and foreign joint ventures
with Rolls-Royce plc, a leading manufacturer of commercial aircraft jet engines. The RRPF affiliates are primarily engaged in two
business activities: lease financing of aircraft spare engines to a diverse group of commercial aircraft operators worldwide and lease
financing of aircraft spare engines to Rolls-Royce for use in its engine maintenance programs. In aggregate, the RRPF affiliates
owned 427 aircraft engines at December 31, 2024, of which 198 were on lease to Rolls-Royce. Aircraft engines are generally
depreciated over a useful life of 20 to 30 years to their estimated residual value. Lease terms vary but typically range from 5 to 12
years. Seconded Rolls-Royce employees act as manager for each of the RRPF affiliates and also perform substantially all required
maintenance activities. In addition, the RRPF affiliates manage all of GEL’s aircraft spare engines, for which we paid them a fee of
$4.1 million in 2024, $2.7 million in 2023, and $1.0 million in 2022. Our share of affiliates’ earnings (after-tax) from the RRPF
affiliates was $82.8 million in 2024, $72.8 million in 2023, and $33.2 million in 2022. In 2022, financial results included
$11.5 million (after-tax) of impairment losses related to aircraft spare engines in Russia that RRPF does not expect to recover.
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We derived the following financial information from the combined financial statements of the RRPF affiliates.

The following table shows condensed income statements of the RRPF affiliates for the years ending December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Lease revenue from third parties ................ ..., $ 268.1 $ 2248 $ 192.8
Lease revenue from Rolls-Royce .......... ... .. .. . i, 2253 253.0 222.8
Other revenue .. ... ... 18.9 6.0 —
Depreciation €XPeNSe . . . ..o vttt e e (206.2) (223.7) (230.6)
INEETeSt EXPENSE . . o o v vt ettt e e (127.3) (135.9) (110.1)
Other EXPEINSES . . v vttt ettt e et (37.7) (19.3) (7.0)
Other income, including net gains on sales of assets .......................... 75.5 92.6 22.9
Income before INCOME taXeS . . . ..ottt et 216.6 197.5 90.8
Income taxes (1) . ...ttt (49.4) (42.5) (17.5)
NEtINCOME . ..ottt ettt e ettt et e e e e e e $ 1672 $ 1550 $ 73.3

(1) Represents income taxes directly attributable to the RRPF affiliates in the United Kingdom. Certain of the RRPF affiliates are
disregarded entities for income tax purposes and, as a result, income taxes are incurred at the shareholder level.

The following table shows the condensed balance sheets of the RRPF affiliates as of December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023

CUITENE @SSELS .+« o v vttt ettt e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e § 6079 § 4932
Noncurrent assets, including operating assets, net of accumulated depreciation of $1,618.4 and

BLL046.3 (1) ..ot 4,709.1 4,108.3
TOtAl @SSELS . . o v e et et e e $ 5,317.0 $ 4,601.5
Accounts payable and accrued EXPenSes . .. .. ...t § 2396 § 170.0
Debt:

CUITENE . o ottt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 378.2 181.5

Noncurrent, net of adjustments for hedges .. .......... . .. . . 2,673.7 2451.1
Other HabIlities . . . ... ... e e e e e e e 731.3 571.9
Shareholders’ equity . ... ... ..o 1,294.2 1,227.0
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity .. .......... ... i e $ 5317.0 $ 4,601.5

(1) $3,954.7 million of operating assets were pledged as collateral for long-term debt obligations at December 31, 2024.

The following table shows contractual future lease receipts from noncancelable leases of the RRPF affiliates as of December 31,
2024 (in millions):

Third
Rolls-Royce Parties Total
202 $ 188.0 § 329.1  § 517.1
2026 . . 190.8 323.8 514.6
202 134.8 264.2 399.0
2028 61.3 234.4 295.7
2020 49.0 218.1 267.1
Thereafter ... ... ... 142.1 700.5 842.6
Total . $ 766.0 $§ 2,070.1 § 2,836.1
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The following table shows the scheduled principal payments of debt obligations of the RRPF affiliates as of December 31, 2024 (in
millions):

2025 e $ 366.0
2020 e 465.6
2027 e 427.9
2 438.0
2020 e 75.0
Thereafter . . . .. e 1,024.0
Total debt principal (1) ... ..ot $ 2,796.5

(1) All debt obligations are nonrecourse to the shareholders.
NOTE 8. Debt
Debt Obligations

The following table shows the outstanding balances of our debt obligations and the applicable interest rates as of December 31 (in
millions):

2024 2023

Unsecured Recourse Fixed Rate Debt:
U.S.
3.25% Notes due March 2025 . ... ... . $ 300.0 $ 300.0
3.25% Notes due September 2026 .. ... ..ot 350.0 350.0
5.40% Notes due March 2027 . . .. ... 350.0 —
3.85% Notes due March 2027 . ... ... 300.0 300.0
3.50% Notes due March 2028 . . . .. ... .. . 300.0 300.0
4.55% Notes due November 2028 . ... ... .. e 300.0 300.0
4.70% Notes due April 2029 . . . .. . 500.0 500.0
4.00% Notes due June 2030 . .. ... ... 500.0 500.0
1.90% Notes due June 2031 . . ... ... 400.0 400.0
3.50% Notes due June 2032 . . ... 400.0 400.0
4.90% Notes due March 2033 . . ... ... 400.0 400.0
5.45% Notes due September 2033 . ... ... 400.0 400.0
6.05% Notes due March 2034 . . .. ... . 500.0 300.0
6.90% Notes due May 2034 . . ... . 400.0 400.0
5.20% Notes due March 2044 . . . . ... . 300.0 300.0
4.50% Notes due March 2045 . . ... ... 250.0 250.0
3.10% Notes due June 2051 .. ... 550.0 550.0
6.05% Notes due May 2054 . . ... 400.0 —
4.35% Notes due February 2024 . . . ... . — 300.0

$ 6,900.0 $ 6,250.0
Europe (1)
1.00% Notes due March 2025 . . . ... . . $ 103.5 $ 110.4
1.13% Notes due August 2025 . .. ... 103.5 110.4
0.90% Schuldschein loan due October 2026 .. ... ... .. ... . . . 23.8 25.4
1.07% Notes due November 2026 . .. ... ... 77.7 82.8

75



GATX CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2024 2023

5.23% Schuldschein loan due November 2026 . ... ... ... ..ttt 38.8 414
4.37% Schuldschein loan due May 2027 ... ... .. . e 36.2 —
1.17% Schuldschein loan due October 2028 .. ... ... ... .. e 53.8 57.4
1.56% Schuldschein loan due October 2031 . ... ... . .. e 77.7 82.8
3.62% Loan due December 2031 (3) .. ..ottt 103.5 110.4
0.85% Notes due May 2024 . . ... . — 115.8

$ 618.5 $ 736.8
India (2)
8.39% - 8.83% Term loan due June 2027 (4) . ..ot o it $ 479 $ 494
8.13% - 8.53% Term loan due February 2028 (4) . ... ..ot 26.9 27.6
8.43% - 8.94% Term loan due February 2029 (4) . ... ... i 46.7 24.0
8.51% - 8.88% Term loan due January 2030 (4) ... ..ottt 23.4 —

$ 144.9 $ 101.0
Total unsecured fixed rate debt . . .. ... ... .. . $ 7,663.4 $ 7,087.8

Unsecured Recourse Floating Rate Debt (5):

U.S.
6.47% Notes due January 2026 . . ... ..ot $ 100.0 $ 100.0
6.30% Notes due January 2028 . . .. ... o 50.0 50.0
7.14% Notes due September 2029 ... ... .. 50.0 50.0
$ 200.0 $ 200.0
Europe (1)
4.32% Loan due December 2025 .. ... $ 1253  $ —
4.84% Notes due December 2027 . . ... ..o 113.9 121.4
5.36% Loan due May 2029 . . ... . 77.7 —
6.05% Loan due November 2030 . ... ... it 38.8 41.4
5.02% Loan due March 2031 . .. ... . 51.8 —
$ 407.5 $ 162.8
Total recourse floating rate debt . .. ... .. .. . $ 607.5 $ 362.8
Total debt principal . ... ... ... $§ 82709 §  7,450.6
Unamortized debt discount and debt iSSUANCE COSS . . . ..o vt i ittt (51.6) (54.5)
Debt adjustment for fair value hedges ........... ... .. (4.0) (8.0)
Total Debt . . ..o § 82153 $  7,388.1

(1) Denominated in euros, but presented in U.S. dollars in this table.

(2) Denominated in Indian rupees, but presented in U.S. dollars in this table.

(3) The loan was originally set to mature in November 2024 but was extended to December 2031 at a new rate of 3.62%.

(4) Term loans were drawn against delayed draw term loans in multiple tranches, resulting in various interest rates for each tranche.
(5) For floating rate debt, the interest disclosed is the applicable interest rate as of December 31, 2024.
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The following table shows the weighted-average interest rate and term of our recourse debt as of December 31:

2024 2023

Weighted-average INtereSt rate . .. ... ..ottt e e 4.59% 4.08%
Weighted-average term, in YEarS . .. .. .. ...ttt ettt e 8.6 8.4

The following table shows the scheduled principal payments of our debt obligations as of December 31, 2024 (in millions):

202 e $ 632.4
2020 e 602.3
202 e 836.1
202 e 730.7
202 674.4
Thereafter . . ... 4,795.0
Total debt principal . .. ... ... .. $ 8,270.9

Borrowings Under Bank Credit Facilities

The following table shows the balance and weighted-average interest rate of our borrowings under bank credit facilities as of
December 31 (in millions):
2024 2023

Balance ... ... $ 104 $ 11.0
Weighted-average INtereSt rate . .. ... .. ..o. ittt e e e 4.24% 3.86%

Credit Lines and Facilities

In 2024, we entered into a $600 million, 5-year unsecured revolving credit facility in the United States, expiring in May 2029. The
facility contains two one-year extension options. This replaced our prior $600 million, 5-year unsecured revolving credit facility. As
of December 31, 2024, the full $600 million was available under this facility. We also entered into a $350 million 3-year unsecured
revolving credit facility in the United States, expiring in May 2027. This facility contains two one-year extension options. This
replaced our prior $250 million 3-year unsecured revolving credit facility. As of December 31, 2024, the full $350 million was
available under this facility.

In 2024, we entered into a new €210 million, 3-year unsecured revolving credit facility in Europe, expiring in December 2027. In
total, our European subsidiaries have unsecured credit facilities with an aggregate limit of €245.0 million. As of December 31, 2024,
€235.0 million was available under these credit facilities.

Annual commitment fees for GATX’s credit facilities were $1.3 million for 2024, $1.1 million for 2023, and $1.2 million for 2022.

Delayed Draw Term Loans

As of December 31, 2024, we had INR 2.0 billion ($23.4 million) available under an outstanding delayed draw term loan in India.
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Restrictive Covenants

Our $600 million and $350 million revolving credit facilities in the United States, and our €210 million revolving credit facility in
Europe, contain various restrictive covenants, including requirements to maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio and an asset coverage
test. Our ratio of earnings to fixed charges, as defined in this facility, was 2.0 for the period ended December 31, 2024, which is in
excess of the minimum covenant ratio of 1.2. Some of our bank term loans have the same financial covenants as these facilities.

The indentures for our public debt also contain various restrictive covenants, including limitations on liens provisions that restrict
the amount of additional secured indebtedness that we may incur. As of December 31, 2024, this limit was $2.4 billion. Additionally,
certain exceptions to the covenants permit us to incur an unlimited amount of purchase money and nonrecourse indebtedness.

At December 31, 2024, our European subsidiaries had outstanding term loans, public debt, and private placement debt balances
totaling €991.0 million. The loans are guaranteed by GATX Corporation and are subject to similar restrictive covenants as the
revolving credit facility noted above.

At December 31, 2024, we were in compliance with all covenants and conditions of all of our credit agreements, indentures and
loans. We do not anticipate any covenant violations nor do we expect that any of these covenants will restrict our operations or our
ability to obtain additional financing.

NOTE 9. Fair Value

The assets and liabilities that GATX records at fair value on a recurring basis consisted entirely of derivatives at December 31, 2024
and December 31, 2023.

In addition, we review long-lived assets, such as operating assets and facilities, investments in affiliates, and goodwill, for
impairment whenever circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable or when assets may be
classified as held for sale. We determine the fair value of the respective assets using Level 3 inputs, including estimates of discounted
future cash flows, independent appraisals, and market comparables, as applicable.

Certain assets were subject to non-recurring Level 3 fair value measurements during 2024 and 2023 and continue to be held at
December 31, 2024 and 2023. The fair value of such assets at the time of their measurement was $0.4 million at December 31, 2024
and $0.8 million at December 31, 2023 and primarily consisted of railcars in both periods. See “Note 10. Asset Impairments and
Assets Held for Sale” for further information.

Derivative Instruments
Fair Value Hedges

We use interest rate swaps to manage the fixed-to-floating rate mix of our debt obligations by converting a portion of our fixed rate
debt to floating rate debt. For fair value hedges, we recognize changes in fair value of both the derivative and the hedged item as
interest expense. We had four instruments outstanding with an aggregate notional amount of $200.0 million as of December 31, 2024
with maturities ranging from 2025 to 2027 and four instruments outstanding with an aggregate notional amount of $200.0 million as
of December 31, 2023 with maturities ranging from 2025 to 2027.

Cash Flow Hedges

We use Treasury rate locks and swap rate locks to hedge our exposure to interest rate risk on anticipated transactions. We also use
currency swaps, forwards, and put/call options to hedge our exposure to fluctuations in the exchange rates of foreign currencies for
certain loans and operating expenses denominated in non-functional currencies. There were no instruments outstanding as of
December 31, 2024 and one instrument outstanding with an aggregate notional amount of $131.0 million as of December 31, 2023
that matured in 2024. Within the next 12 months, we expect to reclassify $1.1 million ($0.8 million after-tax) of net losses on
previously terminated derivatives from accumulated other comprehensive loss to interest expense. We reclassify these amounts when
interest and operating lease expense on the related hedged transactions affect earnings.

Non-Designated Derivatives

We do not hold derivative financial instruments for purposes other than hedging, although certain of our derivatives are not
designated as accounting hedges. We recognize changes in the fair value of these derivatives in other expense immediately.
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Certain of our derivative instruments contain credit risk provisions that could require us to make immediate payment on net liability
positions in the event that we default on certain outstanding debt obligations. The aggregate fair value of our derivative instruments
with credit risk related contingent features that were in a liability position was $4.0 million as of December 31, 2024 and $8.0 million
as of December 31, 2023. We are not required to post any collateral on our derivative instruments and do not expect the credit risk
provisions to be triggered.

In the event that a counterparty fails to meet the terms of an interest rate swap agreement or a foreign exchange contract, our
exposure is limited to the fair value of the swap, if in our favor. We manage the credit risk of counterparties by transacting with
institutions that we consider financially sound and by avoiding concentrations of risk with a single counterparty. We believe that the
risk of non-performance by any of our counterparties is remote.

The following tables show our derivative assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value (in millions):
Significant Observable Inputs (Level 2)

Balance Sheet Fair Value Fair Value
Location December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Derivative Assets
Foreign exchange contracts (1) ............ ... ... ......... Other assets $ — 0.5

Total derivative assets . ... .......ouurue . $ $ 0.5

Derivative Liabilities

Interest rate contracts (1) ............ ... ... Other liabilities $ 40 § 8.0
Foreign exchange contracts (2) ................oiiiao.. .. Other liabilities 8.1 10.5
Total derivative liabilities ................................ $ 2.1 % 18.5

(1) Designated as hedges.
(2) Not designated as hedges.

We value derivatives using a pricing model with inputs (such as yield curves and foreign currency rates) that are observable in the
market or that can be derived principally from observable market data. As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, all
derivatives were classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. There were no derivatives classified as Level 1 or Level 3.

The following table shows the amounts recorded on the balance sheet related to cumulative basis adjustments for fair value hedges
as of December 31 (in millions):

Cumulative Amount of Fair
Value Hedging Adjustment
Included in the Carrying

Carrying Amount of the Amount of the Hedged
Hedged Assets/(Liabilities) Assets/(Liabilities)
Line Item in the Balance Sheet in Which the Hedged Item is
Included 2024 2023 2024 2023
Recourse debt . ..... ... ..o $ (198.9) $ (196.8) $ (4.0) $ (8.0)

The following tables show the impact of our derivative instruments on our statements of comprehensive income for the years ended
December 31 (in millions):

Amount of (Gain) Loss Recognized in Other
Comprehensive (Loss) Income

Derivative Designation 2024 2023 2022
Derivatives in cash flow hedging relationships:
Foreign exchange contracts . . ...ttt $ (34 $ 36 $ (5.7)
Total o $ 34 8 3.6 § (5.7)
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Amount of Loss (Gain) Reclassified from
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss into

Location of Loss (Gain) Reclassified from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Earnings

Loss into Earnings 2024 2023 2022
INLETESt EXPENSE .« . o o v e e et e e e e e e e e e e e $ 1.6 $ 1.6 $ 1.7
Other EXPeNSE . .t i ittt e e 3.7) 3.7 (5.7)
Total . $ 2.1) $ 53 % (4.0)

The following tables show the impact of our fair value and cash flow hedge accounting relationships, as well as the impact of our
non-designated derivatives, on the statements of comprehensive income for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Interest
Expense on Fair Value and Cash Flow

Hedging Relationships
2024 2023 2022
Total INtEreSt EXPENSE . . o o v\ ettt et e e et e e e e e $ (341.0) $ (263.4) $ (214.0)
Gain (loss) on fair value hedging relationships
Interest rate contracts:
Hedgeditems . ... ... i e 4.0) (3.6) 14.1
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments . ........................ 4.0 3.6 (14.1)
Gain (loss) on cash flow hedging relationships
Interest rate contracts:
Amount of loss reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into
CAIMINES . . o\ vttt et ettt et et e e e e e (1.6) (1.6) (1.7)

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Other
Expense on Cash Flow Hedging Relationships
and Non-Designated Derivative Contracts

2024 2023 2022
Total Other EXPENSE . . ... oottt e et $ 9.5 $ 94) $ (27.0)
Gain (loss) on cash flow hedging relationships
Foreign exchange contracts:
Amount of gain (loss) reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive
loss into earnings (1) . ... .. it 3.7 3.7) 5.7
Gain (Loss) on non-designated foreign exchange derivative contracts (2) .. .. 1.7 (11.3) 0.7

(1) These amounts are substantially offset by foreign currency remeasurement adjustments on related hedged instruments, also
recognized in other expense.
(2) Foreign exchange contracts.

Other Financial Instruments

Except for derivatives, as disclosed above, GATX has no other assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The
carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, rent and other receivables, accounts payable, and borrowings under
bank credit facilities with maturities under one year approximate fair value due to the short maturity of those instruments.

We estimate the fair values of fixed and floating rate debt using discounted cash flow analyses that are based on interest rates

currently offered for loans with similar terms to borrowers of similar credit quality. The inputs we use to estimate each of these values
are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy because they are directly or indirectly observable inputs.
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The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of our other financial instruments as of December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
Liabilities
Recourse fixedrate debt . ... .. ... . $ 7,609.5 $ 72439 $ 17,0266 $ 6,614.6
Recourse floatingratedebt . ........ ... ... .. .. .. ... .. .. 605.8 617.3 361.5 362.9
Total .. $ 82153 $§ 78612 $§ 73881 § 69775

NOTE 10. Asset Impairments and Assets Held for Sale

In 2022, we made the decision to exit Rail Russia, which was historically reported within the Rail International segment. The net
assets of Rail Russia were classified as held for sale and adjusted to the lower of carrying amount or fair value less costs to dispose.
As a result, we recorded impairment losses totaling $14.6 million in 2022. The impairment charges included $1.2 million for the
anticipated liquidation of the cumulative translation adjustment. We sold Rail Russia in 2023.

In 2022, we made the decision to sell our five Specialized Gas Vessels within the Engine Leasing segment. The Specialized Gas
Vessels were classified as held for sale and adjusted to the lower of their respective carrying amounts or fair value less costs to
dispose. As a result, we recorded impairment losses of $34.3 million in 2022 and $1.2 million in 2023. All vessels were sold as of
December 31, 2023.

The following table summarizes the components of asset impairments for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Attributable to Consolidated Assets
Rail International . ... ...... ...t $ — 3 03$ 14.6
Engine Leasing .. ... ...ttt — 1.2 343
TOtal oo $ — 3 15 8% 48.9

We had no asset impairments in 2024. Impairment losses at Rail International in 2023 were due to declines in value of railcars from
functional obsolescence and to the decision to sell Rail Russia in 2022, as noted above. Impairment losses at Engine Leasing in 2023
and 2022 were due to the decision to sell the Specialized Gas Vessels, as noted above.

In the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, impairment losses related to consolidated assets were included in net gain
on asset dispositions.

Assets held for sale, all at Rail North America, were $0.4 million as of December 31, 2024 and $0.8 million as of December 31,
2023. All assets held for sale at December 31, 2024 are expected to be sold within one year and are included in Other Assets on the
balance sheet.

NOTE 11. Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefits

We maintain both funded and unfunded noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering our domestic employees and the
employees of our subsidiaries. We also have a funded noncontributory defined benefit pension plan related to a former business in the
United Kingdom that has no active employees. The plans base benefits payable on years of service and/or final average salary. We
base our funding policies for the pension plans on actuarially determined cost methods allowable under IRS regulations and statutory
requirements in the United Kingdom.

In addition to the pension plans, we have other post-retirement plans that provide health care, life insurance, and other benefits for
certain retired domestic employees who meet established criteria. Most domestic employees that retire with immediate benefits under
our pension plan are eligible for health care and life insurance benefits. The other post-retirement plans are either contributory or
noncontributory, depending on various factors.
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Certain lump sum distributions paid to retirees triggered settlement accounting, resulting in the recognition of $1.4 million of
expense in 2023.

We use a December 31 measurement date for all of our plans. The following tables show pension obligations, plan assets, and other
post-retirement obligations as of December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2024 Retiree 2023 Retiree
Pension Pension Health Health
Benefits Benefits and Life and Life

Change in Benefit Obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year ........................ .. ...... § 3469 § 3418 § 149 S 15.6
SEIVICE COSE . . o vttt et e 6.1 53 0.1 0.1
INterest COSt . . ..ottt 16.4 16.6 0.7 0.8
Plan amendments .. .......... ... .. . .. — 0.5 — —
Actuarial 10Ss (Zain) ... ... ... (14.9) 12.4 (1.0) 0.2
Benefits paid .. ... (24.3) (30.8) (1.6) (1.8)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ... ............. .. ... ... ....... (0.5) 1.1 — —
Benefit obligation atend of year .. ......... ... ... ... ... ... $§ 3297 $§ 3469 $ 13.1  $ 14.9
Change in Fair Value of Plan Assets
Plan assets at beginning of year ............ ... ... . ... i § 3288 § 3238 § — 3 —
Actual return on plan assets . ......... .. 19.6 29.1 — —
Effect of exchange rate changes .. ........... .. .. .. .. .. ... ... (0.4) 1.4 — —
Company contribUtions . . .. .......ttn ittt e 1.3 53 1.6 1.8
Benefits paid . ... ... (24.3) (30.8) (1.6) (1.8)
Plan assets atend of year . ...............ouiiiriiiii § 3250 § 3288 § — 8 —
Funded Status atend of year ................. ... ... .............. $ 4.7) § (18.1) § (13.1) $ (14.9)
Amount Recognized
Other liabilities .. ....... oo $ 4.7) $§ (181) § (13.1) $ (14.9)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (income):

Net actuarial 0SS (aIN) .. ... ..ottt 58.0 72.0 (7.1) (6.7)

Prior service cost (credit) ....... ... ... 0.5 0.6 — (0.2)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (income) ........................ 58.5 72.6 (7.1) (6.9)
Total recognized . ... ... ... $ 538 $ 545 $ (20.2) $ (21.8)
After-tax amount recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss (income) .. $ 46.2 3 56.8 % (5.6) $ (5.4)

The aggregate accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plans was $316.1 million at December 31, 2024 and
$334.0 million at December 31, 2023.
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The following table shows our pension plans that have a projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets as of December 31 (in
millions):

2024 2023
Projected benefit obligations ... ......... ... it $ 254 % 259.4
Fair value of plan assets .. ... ... . . — 2273

The following table shows our pension plans that have an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets as of December 31
(in millions):

2024 2023

Accumulated benefit 0bligations ... ........... ... $ 220 § 22.8
Fair value of plan assets

The following table shows the components of net periodic cost for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
2024 2023 2022 Retiree Retiree Retiree
Pension Pension Pension Health and Health and Health and
Benefits Benefits Benefits Life Life Life
Service cost .. ... $ 6.1 $ 53 % 77 $ 0.1 $ 0.1 $ 0.2
Interestcost . ....... ... i 16.4 16.6 10.1 0.7 0.8 0.4
Expected return on plan assets ........... (21.6) (21.4) (15.6) — —
Settlement accounting adjustment ........ — 1.4 7.1 — —
Amortization of (1):
Unrecognized prior service cost (credit) . . 0.1 — — 0.2) 0.3) (0.2)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss (gain) . .. 1.0 0.9 8.6 (0.5) (0.5) (0.3)
Net periodic cost . ..................... $ 20 $ 28 $ 179 § 0.1 $ 0.1 $ 0.1

(1) Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss.

The service cost component of net periodic cost was $6.2 million in 2024, $5.4 million in 2023, and $7.9 million in 2022 and is
recorded in selling, general and administrative expense. The non-service components totaled income of $4.1 million in 2024, income

of $2.5 million in 2023, and expense of $10.1 million in 2022 and are recorded in other expense in the statements of comprehensive
income.

We amortize the unrecognized prior service credit using a straight-line method over the average remaining service period of the
employees we expect to receive benefits under the plan. We amortize the unrecognized net actuarial loss (gain), which is subject to
certain averaging conventions, over the average remaining service period of active employees.
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We use the following assumptions to measure the benefit obligation, compute the expected long-term return on assets, and measure
the periodic cost for our defined benefit pension plans and other post-retirement benefit plans for the years ended December 31:

2024 2023
Domestic defined benefit pension plans
Benefit Obligation at December 31:
Discount rate — salaried funded plans . . .. ... ... .. 5.59 % 4.95 %
Discount rate — salaried unfunded plans . . . ........ .. ... . 5.11%-5.55% 4.74%-4.92 %
Discount rate — hourly funded plan ........ .. ... ... ... . 5.74 % 5.06 %
Cash balance interest crediting rate — salaried funded plan . ........ ... ... ... ... . ... 4.54% -4.78 % 4.14% - 4.66 %
Rate of compensation increases — salaried funded and unfunded plans ............... 3.00 % 3.00 %
Rate of compensation increases — hourly funded plans . ........................... n/a n/a
Net Periodic Cost (Benefit) for the years ended December 31:
Discount rate — salaried funded and unfunded plans ............ ... ... ... ... .. ... 4.95 % 5.15%
Discount rate — hourly funded plan ....... ... ... ... . . . 5.06 % 524 %
Expected return on plan assets — salaried funded plan .. ....... ... .. ... ... ... ... .. 6.40 % 6.30 %
Expected return on plan assets — hourly funded plan . ......... .. .. .. ... ... ... 5.60 % 5.60 %
Rate of compensation increases — salaried funded and unfunded plans ............... 3.00 % 3.00 %
Rate of compensation increases — hourly fundedplan .. ................. ... .. ... ... n/a n/a
Foreign defined benefit pension plan
Benefit Obligation at December 31:
DISCOUNTTALE . . . o .o ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e 5.40 % 4.50 %
Rate of pension-in-payment iNCreases . ... ... ... ....ouuuiunenneunennennennennnn. 3.00 % 2.80 %
Net Periodic Cost (Benefit) for the years ended December 31:
DISCOUNTTALE . . . o .o ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e 4.50 % 4.90 %
Expected return on plan @ssets . ... ...t 4.80 % 4.70 %
Rate of pension-in-payment iNCreases . ... ... ... ....ouuuiunenneunennennennennnn. 2.80 % 3.00 %
Other post-retirement benefit plans
Benefit Obligation at December 31:
Discount rate — combined health ......... ... ... ... .. . 541 % 4.85%
Discount rate — combined life insurance ............. .. ... . i i i 5.61 % 4.97 %
Rate of compensation INCIEASES . . .. .. .ottt et ettt n/a n/a
Net Periodic Cost (Benefit) for the years ended December 31:
Discount rate — combined health ......... ... ... ... .. . 4.84 % 5.04 %
Discount rate — combined life insurance ............. .. ... i i i 4.97 % 5.16 %
Rate of compensation INCIEASES . . .. .. .ottt ettt ettt n/a n/a
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We calculate the present value of expected future pension and post-retirement cash flows as of the measurement date using a
discount rate. We base the discount rate on yields for high-quality, long-term bonds with durations similar to that of our projected
benefit obligation. We base the expected return on our plan assets on current and expected asset allocations, as well as historical and
expected returns on various categories of plan assets. We routinely review our historical returns along with current market conditions
to ensure our expected return assumption is reasonable and appropriate.

2024 2023
Assumed Health Care Cost Trend Rates at December 31:
Health care cost trend assumed for next year
Medical claims — Pre age 05 . . ..ottt 7.50 % 6.75 %
Medical claims — POSt AE 05 . .. ..ttt 6.00 % 6.25 %
Prescription drugs claims — pre age 65 . . ... .o 13.00 % 8.25%
Prescription drugs claims — post age 65 . ... ... 12.00 % 8.25%
Post age 65 Medicare Advantage Part D . ... ... ... 18.75 % 17.95 %
Rate to which the cost trend is expected to decline (the ultimate trend rate)
Medical Claims . ... ... .. 4.50 % 4.50 %
Prescription drugs Claims .. ...... ..ot 4.50 % 4.50 %
Year that rate reaches the ultimate trend rate
Medical Claims .. .. ... . 2034 2033
Prescription drugs claims . .. ... ... .. 2034 2033

Our investment policies require that asset allocations of domestic and foreign funded pension plans be maintained at certain targets.
The following table shows our weighted-average asset allocations of our domestic funded pension plans at December 31, 2024 and
2023, and current target asset allocation for 2024, by asset category:

Plan Assets for Salaried
Employees at
December 31

Target 2024 2023
Asset Category
EqUity SECUITEIES . . .\ttt ettt e e e e e e e e e 43.7 % 44.4 % 49.7 %
Debt SECUITLICS . . . . vttt et e e e e e 53.0% 513 % 46.1 %
Real estate .. ... ... 33% 24 % 2.5%
Cash . . — % 1.9 % 1.7 %
100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %

Plan Assets for Hourly
Employees at

December 31
Target 2024 2023

Asset Category
EqUity SECUITI®S . ..ttt e e 9.3 % 9.2 % 16.5 %
Dbt SECUITLIES . . o\ oot ettt et e e e e e 90.0 % 87.5% 78.7 %
Real estate . ... ..o 0.7 % 1.3 % 1.5 %
Cash . . —% 2.0 % 33%

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
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The following table shows the weighted-average asset allocations of our foreign funded pension plan at December 31, 2024 and
2023, and current target asset allocation for 2024, by asset category:

Plan Assets at

December 31
Target 2024 2023
Asset Category
Dbt SECUITLIES . . o\ vt ettt et e e e e e 50.0 % 47.4 % 99.8 %
Cash . . 50.0 % 52.6 % 0.2 %
100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
The following table sets forth the fair value of our pension plan assets as of December 31 (in millions):
2024 2023
Assets measured at net asset value (1):
Short-term investment collective trust fund .. ....... ... .. ... .. . . . .. $ 185 $ 0.7
Common stock collective trust funds . ......... ... . . i 107.5 127.4
Fixed-income collective trust funds . ......... ... .. . . 192.6 193.7
Real estate collective trust funds . ... . 6.4 7.0
Total . $ 3250 $ 328.8

(1) In accordance with the relevant accounting standards, investments measured at fair value using the net asset value per share (or its
equivalent) practical expedient are not recorded in any specific category of the fair value hierarchy.

The following is a description of the valuation techniques and inputs used as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.
Short-term investment collective trust fund

We value the short-term investment collective trust fund based on the closing net asset values (“NAV”) quoted by the funds. The
short-term investment collective trust fund is a highly liquid investment in obligations of the U.S. Government, or its agencies or
instrumentalities, and the related money market instruments. The short-term investment fund has no restrictions on redemption
frequency or advance notice periods required for redemption. The fund seeks to provide safety of principal, daily liquidity, and a
competitive yield over the long term.

Common stock collective trust funds and fixed-income collective trust funds

We value common stock collective trust funds and fixed-income collective trust funds based on the closing NAV prices quoted by
the funds. None of the collective trust funds have restrictions on redemption frequency or advance notice periods required for
redemption. The investment objective of each of the common stock funds is long-term total return through capital appreciation and
current income. The fixed-income funds are each designed to deliver safety and stability by preserving principal and accumulated
earnings. The fixed-income fund seeks to achieve, over an extended period of time, total returns comparable or superior to broad
measures of the long-term domestic investment grade credit bond market.

Real estate collective trust funds

We value real estate collective trust funds based on the NAV provided by the funds’ administrators. A lack of liquidity in the funds
may limit or delay redemptions. The investment objective of the real estate funds, which are diversified by location and property type,
is long-term return through property appreciation, current income, and timely sales.

The primary investing objective of the pension plans is to provide benefits to plan participants and their beneficiaries. To achieve
this goal, we invest in a diversified portfolio of equities, debt, and real estate investments to maximize return and to keep long-term
investment risk at a reasonable level. Equity investments are diversified across U.S. and non-U.S. stocks, growth and value stocks,
and small cap and large cap stocks. Debt securities are predominately investments in long-term, investment-grade corporate bonds.
Real estate investments include investments in funds that are diversified by location and property type.
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On a timely basis, but not less than twice a year, we formally review pension plan investments to ensure we adhere to investment
guidelines and our stated investment approach. Our review also evaluates the reasonableness of our investment decisions and risk
positions. We compare our investments’ performance to indices and peers to determine if investment performance has been
acceptable.

In 2025, we expect to contribute approximately $4.2 million to our pension and other post-retirement benefit plans. Additional
contributions to the domestic funded pension plans will depend on investment returns on plan assets and actuarial experience.

The following table shows expected future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service (in millions):

Retiree

Funded Unfunded Health and

Plans Plans Life
202 $ 288 $ 2.6 $ 1.6
2020 28.9 2.7 1.6
20T 28.0 2.8 1.5
202 27.8 2.8 1.4
2020 26.8 2.7 1.3
Years 2030-2034 . ... 125.8 11.7 5.0
Total . .. $ 266.1 $ 253 % 12.4

In addition to our defined benefit plans, we have two 401(k) retirement savings plans available to substantially all salaried
employees and certain other employee groups. We may contribute to the plans as specified by their respective terms and as our Board
of Directors determines. Contributions to our 401(k) retirement plans were $4.0 million for 2024, $2.6 million for 2023, and
$2.3 million for 2022.

NOTE 12. Share-Based Compensation

We provide equity awards to our employees under the GATX Corporation 2012 Incentive Award Plan, including grants of
non-qualified employee stock options, restricted stock units, performance shares, and phantom stock awards and restricted stock units
to non-employee directors. As of December 31, 2024, 4.9 million shares were authorized under the 2012 Plan and 1.7 million shares
were available for future issuance. We recognize compensation expense for our equity awards in selling, general and administrative
expenses over the applicable service period of each award. Share-based compensation expense was $23.0 million for 2024,
$18.3 million for 2023, and $12.7 million for 2022, and the related tax benefits were $5.8 million for 2024, $4.6 million for 2023, and
$3.2 million for 2022.

Stock Options

Stock options entitle the holder to purchase shares of common stock for periods up to seven years from the grant date. Stock options
entitle the holder to purchase shares of our common stock at a specified exercise price. The dividends that accrue on all stock options
are paid upon vesting and continue to be paid until the stock options are exercised, canceled, or expire. The exercise price for stock
options is equal to the average of the high and low trading prices of our common stock on the date of grant. We recognize
compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the award, which is generally three years.

The estimated fair value of a stock option is the sum of the value we derive using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the
present value of dividends we expect to pay over the expected term of the award. The Black-Scholes valuation incorporates various
assumptions, including expected term, expected volatility, and risk free interest rates. We base the expected term on historical exercise
patterns and post-vesting terminations, and we base the expected volatility on the historical volatility of our stock price over a period
equal to the expected term. We use risk-free interest rates that are based on the implied yield on recently-issued U.S. Treasury
zero-coupon bonds with a term comparable to the expected term.
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The following table shows the weighted-average fair value for our stock options and the assumptions we used to estimate fair value:

2024 2023 2022
Weighted-average estimated fairvalue ........... ... ... ... ... .. . .. ... $§ 4522 $ 41.06 § 34.77
Quarterly dividend rate ... ... ... ... $§ 058 $§ 055 $§ 052
Expected term of stock options, in years . ...............iiitirinintt. 4.2 4.2 4.3
Risk-free interest rate ... ... ... ...ttt 4.0% 3.7% 1.6%
Dividend yield . .. ... .o 1.8% 1.9% 2.0%
Expected stock price volatility . ......... ... 34.7% 35.4% 35.0%

Present value of dividends . ... ... . $ 8.87 $ 8.57 $ 8.58

The following table shows information about outstanding stock options for the year ended December 31, 2024:

Number of Weighted-

Stock Options Average

(in thousands)  Exercise Price
Outstanding at beginning of the year .. ......... .. ... .. . . . . . . . 997 § 89.85
Granted . ... .. 194 126.47
EXercised ... o (241) 78.61
Forfeited/Cancelled .. ......... ... e e 2) 122.15
Outstanding atend of the year .. ... ... 948 100.13
Vested and exercisable atend of theyear .......... .. ... ... . . . . . . . i 569 87.98

The following table shows the aggregate intrinsic value of stock options exercised in 2024, 2023, and 2022, and the weighted-
average remaining contractual term and aggregate intrinsic value of stock options outstanding and vested as of December 31, 2024:

Weighted-Average Aggregate Intrinsic

Remaining Contractual Value
Stock Options Term (in years) (in millions)
Exercised in 2022 ... ... ... $ 13.4
Exercised in 2023 . ... .. 9.0
Exercised in 2024 . ... ... 13.6
Outstanding at December 31,2024 (a) ..., 3.8 52.0
Vested and exercisable at December 31,2024 ........ ... ... .. ... .. ..... 2.8 38.1

(a) As of December 31, 2024, 948,100 stock options were outstanding.

Total cash received from employees for exercises of stock options during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 was
$32.1 million, $22.3 million, and $30.9 million. As of December 31, 2024, we had $8.8 million of unrecognized compensation
expense related to nonvested stock options, which we expect to recognize over a weighted-average period of 1.7 years.

Restricted Stock Units and Performance Shares

Restricted stock units entitle the recipient to receive a specified number of restricted shares of common stock upon vesting.
Restricted stock units do not carry voting rights and are not transferable prior to the expiration of a specified restriction period, which
is generally three years, as determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (“Compensation Committee™). We

accrue dividends on all restricted stock units and pay those dividends when the awards vest. We recognize compensation expense for
these awards over the applicable vesting period.
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Performance shares are restricted shares that we grant to key employees for achieving certain strategic objectives. The shares
convert to common stock at the end of a specified performance period if predetermined performance goals are achieved, as
determined by the Compensation Committee. We estimate the number of shares we expect will vest as a result of actual performance
against the performance criteria at the time of grant to determine total compensation expense to be recognized. We reevaluate the
estimate annually and adjust total compensation expense for any changes to the estimate of the number of shares we expect to vest.
The performance shares granted include an option to settle shares earned in cash upon vesting for certain eligible employees. As a
result, these awards are accounted for as liability awards and recorded in other liabilities. The liability and related compensation
expense is adjusted to reflect the fair value of the underlying shares at the end of each reporting period. We recognize compensation
expense for these awards over the applicable vesting period, which is generally three years.

We value our restricted stock units and performance share awards using the average of the high and low values of our common
stock on the grant date of the awards. As of December 31, 2024, there was $10.9 million of unrecognized compensation expense
related to these awards, which we expect to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.7 years.

The following table shows information about restricted stock units and performance shares for the year ended December 31, 2024:

Number of Share Weighted-
Units Outstanding Average Grant-
(in thousands)  Date Fair Value

Restricted Stock Units:

Nonvested at beginning of the year .. ........... .. .. .. . . i 100 $ 103.19
Granted ... ... 32 126.52
Vst oo (30) 91.52
Forfeited . ... ... — 124.41
Nonvested at end of the year . ... ... ... 102 113.79
Performance Shares:

Nonvested at beginning of the year . .. ....... ... . .. .. . . . 97 $ 106.89
Granted . ... ... 39 126.47
Net increase due to estimated performance ............... .. .. .. .. ... ... 5 115.81
VSt . oot (52) 101.03
Nonvested at end of the year . . ... ... ... 89 119.39

The total fair value of restricted stock units and performance shares that vested during the year was $11.9 million in 2024,
$9.7 million in 2023, and $7.7 million in 2022. Cash paid to settle performance share awards was $4.7 million in 2024, $4.1 million in
2023, and $5.5 million in 2022.

Non-Employee Director Awards

We grant awards to non-employee directors as a component of their compensation for service on our board of directors. Currently,
these awards are in the form of restricted stock units. Previously, these awards were in the form of phantom stock, which are units that
equate to, but are not common shares. Restricted stock unit awards and phantom stock awards are both dividend participating and, for
awards that are deferred, dividends are reinvested in additional shares at the average of the high and low trading prices of our stock on
the dividend payment date. At the expiration of each director’s service on the board of directors, or in accordance with the deferral
election, whole units of both restricted stock units and phantom stock will be settled with shares of common stock, and fractional units
will be paid in cash. In 2024, we granted 14,213 units of restricted stock and there were a total of 250,464 restricted stock units and
phantom stock outstanding as of December 31, 2024.
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NOTE 13. Income Taxes

The following table shows the components of income before income taxes, excluding affiliates, for the years ended December 31
(in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Income before Income Taxes
DOMESLIC .« o v e e e e e e e e e e $ 806 $ 829 $ 55.8
Foreign . ... 180.8 162.6 121.3
Total .o $ 2614 $ 2455 $ 177.1

The following table shows income taxes, excluding domestic and foreign affiliates, for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Income Tax Expense
Current
Domestic:
Federal ... ... ... e $ — 3 29 §$ 0.2
State and local . ... ... . 0.7 0.2 —
$ 0.7 $ 31§ 0.2
Foreign . ... 13.5 17.3 18.3
Total CUTTENT . .. oottt et e e e e e e e $ 142 $ 204 $ 18.5
Deferred
Domestic:
Federal .. ... . . $ 184 $ 135 $ 11.1
Stateand local . ........ .. .. .. . (6.4) (1.8) 2.7
$ 120 $ 11.7  $ 13.8
Foreign . ... ... 33.8 26.6 22.5
Total deferred . ... ... $ 458 $ 383 § 36.3
INCOME TAXES .« . v vt ettt e e e e e e e e e e $ 60.0 $ 587 § 54.8

The following table is a reconciliation between the federal statutory income tax rate and our effective income tax rate for the years
ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Income taxes at federal statutory rate ............... .ot $ 549 § 516 $ 37.2
Adjust for effect of:
Foreign earnings taxed at applicable statutory rates .. ....................... 9.3 9.8 18.0
Foreign deferred tax rate change impact .. ......... .. .. .. ... .. .. ... .. ..... — — (2.9)
Nondeductible compensation . ................iutitir ittt 4.3 2.7 2.6
Share-based compensation . ..............otiriniiinr .. (2.2) (1.7) (2.3)
State INCOME tAXES . . . vt ottt et ettt e 3.0 3.7 2.6
State income tax rate change impact .. ............ ... .. . i, (6.0) (3.0) (8.3)
State net operating loss valuation allowance .............................. (1.8) (2.3) 9.9
Other . . (1.5) (2.1) (2.0)
INCOME tAXES . . oottt ettt ettt e e e e e e et e e e e e $ 600 $ 587 9§ 54.8
Effective income tax rate .. ....... ...t 23.0 % 23.9 % 30.9 %

In 2024, our effective tax rate was 23.0% compared to 23.9% in 2023 and 30.9% in 2022.
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The adjustment for foreign earnings in each year reflected the impact of applicable statutory tax rates on income earned at our
foreign subsidiaries. Compensation is adjusted for the difference between the deductibility of these expenses under the U.S. tax law
versus U.S. GAAP. State income taxes are recognized on domestic pretax income or loss. The amount of our domestic income subject
to state taxes relative to our total worldwide income impacts the effect state income tax has on our overall income tax rate.

Separately, our affiliates incurred income taxes of $25.5 million, $25.7 million, and $12.3 million respectively in 2024, 2023, and
2022.

The following table shows the significant components of our deferred tax liabilities and assets as of December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Book/tax basis difference due to depreciation ............ ... ... ... .. $ 1,3279 $ 1,263.5
Right-0f-USe aSSetS . . ...ttt 41.3 52.9
Investments in affiliated companies . ... .......... ... i 4.5 16.8
Lease acCOUNtING . . . . ..ottt et e e e e 18.0 17.2
Intangible amoOrtization . . ... ... .. ...t 1.5 1.7
Other . .o 4.9 4.5
Total deferred tax labilities ... ... ... ... i $ 1,398.1 §$ 1,356.6
Deferred Tax Assets
Lease liability .. ... ... .. $ 444 % 56.6
Federal net operating 10Ss . . ... ..ot 82.6 75.0
Foreign tax credit ... ... ... . 0.8 0.8
Valuation allowance on foreign tax credit . ......... ... ... i (0.8) (0.8)
Federal interest limitation carryforward . ........ .. .. .. . . 72.5 77.3
State net operating loSS . . . .. ..o e 37.4 40.1
Valuation allowance on state net operating loss . .. ......... . i (20.4) (20.3)
State interest limitation carryforward .. ......... .. 11.4 13.0
Foreign net operating loSs . . . ... ... 4.4 4.1
Accruals not currently deductible for tax purposes ............... i 32.3 21.0
Allowance for 10SSES . . . . oot 1.3 1.0
Pension and post-retirement benefits ............. . .. ... 2.1 5.8
OtheT . .o 2.8 1.9
Total deferred tax @SSELS . . . ..o\ttt ettt e e $ 270.8 $ 275.5
Net deferred tax labilities . . . .. .. .. $ 1,1273  $ 1,081.1

Deferred income taxes are the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. We expect at this time to continue reinvestment of foreign
earnings outside the U.S. indefinitely. Consequently, our tax provision does not include any deferred tax costs that might arise due to
book versus tax basis differences in investments in foreign subsidiaries. Under provisions of the territorial tax system, future dividend
distributions from foreign subsidiaries and affiliates are generally exempt from U.S. income tax. Taxes may arise from withholding
taxes or on foreign exchange or other gains recognized in connection with the basis differences in our investments in foreign
subsidiaries. The ultimate tax cost of repatriating these earnings depends on tax laws in effect and other circumstances at the time of
distribution.

At December 31, 2024, we had a U.S. federal tax net operating loss carryforward of $393.2 million that can be carried forward
indefinitely until the loss is fully recovered. The utilization of net operating losses carried forward are limited to 80% of future taxable
income. We also had foreign tax credits of $0.8 million that expire after 2027. We have recorded a $0.8 million valuation allowance
related to these credits, as we believe it is more likely than not that we will be unable to utilize them.
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At December 31, 2024, due to a provision of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Tax Act”), the deductibility of interest
expense may be limited on our federal tax return. Disallowed amounts can be carried forward indefinitely until the expense is fully
utilized. As a result of this limitation, we have a federal interest expense carryforward amount of $356.5 million.

At December 31, 2024, we had state tax net operating losses of $37.4 million, net of federal benefits that are scheduled to expire at
various times beginning in 2025. We have recorded a $20.4 million valuation allowance related to state net operating losses, as we
believe it is more likely than not that we will be unable to use all of these losses. Also, as a result of the provision in the Tax Act limiting
the deductibility of interest expense on our federal tax return, as referenced above, we had a corresponding state interest limitation of
$11.4 million that can be carried forward indefinitely until the expense is fully utilized.

At December 31, 2024, we had foreign net operating losses of $4.4 million, with various carryforward periods. It is more likely than
not that we will be able to use these losses in the future, and therefore, no valuation allowance is required at this time.

At December 31, 2024, our gross liability for unrecognized tax benefits was $8.3 million. Of this amount, $8.1 million is attributed
to our foreign operations. We recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. To the
extent interest is not assessed or is otherwise reduced with respect to uncertain tax positions, we will record any required adjustment
as a reduction of income tax expense.

We file one separate federal income tax return and one consolidated federal income tax return with our domestic subsidiaries in the
U.S. jurisdiction, as well as tax returns in various state and foreign jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2024, all audits or statutes of
limitations with respect to our federal tax returns for years prior to 2021 have been closed or expired. Additionally, we currently have
no open federal income tax audits, no open state income tax audits, and three of our foreign jurisdictions have open income tax audits.

NOTE 14. Concentrations
Concentration of Revenues

We derived revenue from a wide range of industries and companies. In 2024, we generated approximately 25% of our total
revenues from customers in the transportation industry, 24% from the chemical industry, 22% from the petroleum industry, 12% from
food/agriculture industries and 5% from the mining, minerals and aggregates industry. Our foreign identifiable revenues were
primarily derived in Canada, Germany, United Kingdom, Poland and India.

Concentration of Credit Risk

We did not have revenue concentrations greater than 10% from any particular customer for any of the years ended December 31,
2024, 2023, and 2022. Under our lease agreements with customers, we typically retain legal ownership of the assets unless such assets
have been financed by sale-leasebacks. We perform a credit evaluation prior to approval of a lease contract. Subsequently, we monitor
the creditworthiness of the customer and the value of the collateral on an ongoing basis. We maintain an allowance for losses to
provide for credit losses inherent in our receivables balances.

Concentration of Labor Force

As of December 31, 2024, collective bargaining agreements covered approximately 39% of our employees, of which agreements
covering 2% of employees will expire within the next year. The hourly employees at our U.S. service centers are represented by the
United Steelworkers. Employees at three of Rail North America’s Canadian service centers are represented by Unifor and the
Employee Shop Committee of Riviere-des-Prairies. Certain employees of GATX Rail Europe are represented by one union in Poland.

NOTE 15. Commercial Commitments

We have entered into various commercial commitments, including standby letters of credit, performance bonds, and guarantees
related to certain transactions. These commercial commitments require us to fulfill specific obligations in the event of third-party
demands. Similar to our balance sheet investments, these commitments expose us to credit, market, and equipment risk. Accordingly,
we evaluate these commitments and other contingent obligations using techniques similar to those we use to evaluate funded
transactions.
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As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we had commercial commitments of $8.7 million, consisting of standby letters
of credit and performance bonds. There were no liabilities recorded on the balance sheet for commercial commitments at
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2024, our outstanding commitments expire in 2025 through 2028.
We are not aware of any event that would require us to satisfy any of our commitments.

We are parties to standby letters of credit and performance bonds, which primarily relate to contractual obligations and general
liability insurance coverages. No material claims have been made against these obligations, and no material losses are anticipated.

NOTE 16. Earnings per Share

We compute basic and diluted earnings per share using the two-class method, which is an earnings allocation calculation that
determines EPS for each class of common stock and participating security. Our vested and exercisable stock options contain
non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents and are classified as participating securities in the calculation of EPS. Our
unvested stock options, restricted stock units, performance shares and non-employee director awards do not contain nonforfeitable
rights to dividends or dividend equivalents and are therefore not classified as participating securities. See “Note 3. Significant
Accounting Policies” for more detail of our EPS calculation methodology.

The following table shows the computation of our basic and diluted earnings per common share for the years ended December 31
(in millions, except per share amounts):

2024 2023 2022

Basic earnings per share:
NELINCOME . .o\ttt e e et e e e e e e e e e $ 2842 § 2592 § 155.9

Less: Net income allocated to participating securities . ...................... (4.9) (4.9) —
Net income available to common shareholders .............................. $ 2793 $ 2543 § 155.9
Weighted-average shares outstanding -basic . .......... ... ... .. .. .. ... ..... 35.8 35.7 354
Basic earnings pershare . ........... ... ... ... $ 7.80 $ 713 $ 441
Diluted earnings per share:
NEtINCOME . .ottt t ettt e e e e ettt e e e et e e $ 2842 $ 2592 $ 155.9

Less: Net income allocated to participating securities . ...................... (4.9) (4.9) —
Net income available to common shareholders .............................. $ 2793 % 2543 $ 155.9
Weighted-average shares outstanding -basic . .............. ... ... ... ....... 35.8 35.7 354
Effect of dilutive securities:

Equity compensation plans . ............. ... 0.1 0.1 0.5
Weighted-average shares outstanding - diluted * .. .......... ... ... .. ... ..... 35.9 35.7 35.9
Diluted earnings per Share . ......... ...ttt $ 7.78 $ 7.12 S 4.35

(*) Sum of individual components may not be additive due to rounding.
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NOTE 17. Goodwill
Our goodwill was $114.1 million as of December 31, 2024 and $120.0 million as of December 31, 2023. In the fourth quarter of

2024, we performed a review for impairment of goodwill, and concluded that goodwill was not impaired. The following table
summarizes the components of goodwill by segment for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023
Rail North AMErica . . ... ... e e e $ 238 $ 23.8
Rail International (1) .. ... .. e e 533 56.8
Other (1) .« ottt 37.0 39.4
Total .o $ 114.1 $ 120.0

(1) Goodwill relates to our rail operations in Europe at the Rail International segment and Trifleet at the Other segment.
The changes in the carrying amount of our goodwill for 2024 resulted from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.
NOTE 18. Allowance for Losses

The following table shows changes in the allowance for losses at December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023
Beginning balance . ... ... ... $ 59§ 5.9
Provision for lOSSES . . . ..o o i 2.0 0.4
Charges to allowance . ... .. ... ... i (1.9) 0.4)
Recoveries and other, including foreign exchange adjustments . ........... .. ... ... ... ...... (0.3) —
Ending balance ... ...... ... $ 57 % 5.9

NOTE 19. Other Assets and Other Liabilities

The following table shows the components of other assets reported on our balance sheets as of December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023
INVENLOTY . . oot $ 71.8 $ 74.0
Office furniture, fixtures and other equipment, net of accumulated depreciation ................. 26.8 28.5
UIHZAtION @SSEL . . .« .o ettt et e e e e e e e 26.5 24.1
Prepaid Pension . . . ...t 20.7 14.0
Prepaid IteMS . . .« .o o 18.4 14.3
Deferred financing CoStS . . . ... ..ottt 3.5 2.0
Assets held forsale . ... ... 0.4 0.8
DETIVALIVES . o . ottt ettt e — 0.5
OtNeT . o 135.0 128.4
TOtal .o $ 303.1 $ 286.6

The following table shows the components of other liabilities reported on our balance sheets as of December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023
Accrued pension and other post-retirement benefits ............. . ... . ... . . ... .. $ 385§ 47.0
DeIIVALIVES . . o\ ettt ettt e e 12.1 18.5
Environmental accruals . .. ... ... .. 12.0 2.8
Other . . 449 38.1
Total .. $ 107.5 $ 106.4
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NOTE 20. Shareholders’ Equity

On January 25, 2019, our board of directors (“Board”) approved a $300 million share repurchase program, pursuant to which we are
authorized to purchase shares of our common stock in the open market, in privately negotiated transactions, or otherwise, including
pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 plans. The share repurchase program does not have an expiration date, does not obligate the Company to
repurchase any dollar amount or number of shares of common stock, and may be suspended or discontinued at any time. The timing
of share repurchases will be dependent on market conditions and other factors. During 2024, we repurchased 167,452 shares of
common stock for $21.9 million. In 2023, we purchased 24,520 shares of common stock for $2.6 million. In 2022, we repurchased

472,609 shares of common stock for $47.2 million.

In accordance with our certificate of incorporation, 120 million shares of common stock are authorized, at a par value of $0.625 per

share. As of December 31, 2024, 69.1 million shares were issued and 35.6 million shares were outstanding.

The following shares of common stock were reserved as of December 31, 2024 (in millions):

GATX Corporation 2004 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan .. ... ... ... .. .. .. .. . .. .. . ... . ...,
GATX Corporation 2012 Incentive Award Plan ... ... .. .. .

Our certificate of incorporation also authorizes five million shares of preferred stock at a par value of $1.00 per share. We had no

outstanding shares of preferred stock as of December 31, 2024 or December 31, 2023.

NOTE 21. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The following table shows the change in components for accumulated other comprehensive loss (in millions):

Post-
Foreign Unrealized Retirement
Currency Loss on Benefit
Translation Derivative Plans
Adjustments Instruments Adjustments Total
Accumulated other comprehensive loss at December 31, 2021 .. . .. $ 95.4) $ (12.6) $ (52.6) $§  (160.6)
Change in component . ..............ouuiinenennnnenenn.n. (56.7) 5.8 (1.6) (52.5)
Reclassification adjustments into earnings (1) ................ — (4.0) 8.1 4.1
Incometaxeffect ......... ... .. ... ... . — (0.4) (2.2) (2.6)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss at December 31, 2022 . .. .. $ (152.1) $ (11.2) $ (483) $ (211.6)
Change in component . ................uuuinennenenann.n. 45.8 (3.6) 4.1 38.1
Reclassification adjustments into earnings (1) ................ — 53 0.1 54
Incometaxeffect ......... ... .. . ... ... — (0.4) 0.9 0.5
Accumulated other comprehensive loss at December 31, 2023 .. ... $ (106.3) $ 9.9) $ (514) § (167.6)
Change in component . .............c.o.uinenennenenanon. (53.8) 34 13.9 (36.5)
Reclassification adjustments into earnings (1) ................ — (2.1) 0.4 (1.7)
Incometaxeffect ......... ... .. i — (0.3) (3.5) (3.8)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss at December 31,2024 .. . .. $ (160.1) $ 8.9) $ (40.6) §  (209.6)

(1) See “Note 9. Fair Value” and “Note 11. Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefits” for impacts of the reclassification

adjustments on the statements of comprehensive income.
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NOTE 22. Foreign Operations
For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, we did not derive revenues in excess of 10% of our consolidated revenues
from any one foreign country. At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the United Kingdom was the only foreign country that

held more than 10% of our identifiable assets.

The following table shows our domestic and foreign revenues and identifiable assets for the years ended or as of December 31 (in
millions):

2024 2023 2022

Revenues

FOTeign . ... $ 6373 $ 548.1 $ 466.9
United STates . ... ..ot 948.2 862.8 806.1
Total .. e $ 1,5855 §$ 1,4109 $ 1,273.0
Identifiable Assets

FOTeIgn . .. $ 51672 $ 4,7185 $ 3,910.2
United States . .. ..ottt 7,129.3 6,607.5 6,161.8
Total .. $ 122965 $ 11,3260 $ 10,072.0

NOTE 23. Legal Proceedings and Other Contingencies

Various legal actions, claims, assessments, and other contingencies arising in the ordinary course of business are pending against
GATX and certain of our subsidiaries. These matters are subject to many uncertainties, and it is possible that some of these matters
could ultimately be decided, resolved, or settled adversely.

Norfolk Southern Train Derailment in East Palestine, Ohio

On June 30, 2023, a third-party complaint was filed by Norfolk Southern Railway Company and Norfolk Southern Corporation
(collectively, “Norfolk Southern™) against GATX and several other parties in the Northern District of Ohio (Eastern Division) for
contribution and recovery of environmental damages related to the derailment of a Norfolk Southern train in East Palestine, Ohio that
included railcars owned by GATX Corporation. The Company filed a motion to dismiss Norfolk Southern’s third-party complaint on
September 15, 2023. On March 6, 2024, the Court granted GATX’s and the other third-party defendants’ motions and dismissed all
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (“CERCLA”) claims. The Court also dismissed all state
law claims, declining to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over them in light of its dismissal of the CERCLA claims. On March 26,
2024, Norfolk Southern moved the Court for entry of partial final judgment as to the order dismissing the third-party complaint in
order to appeal before final judgment the Court’s dismissal order as to GATX and the other third-party defendants. The Court has not
yet ruled on Norfolk Southern’s motion. In the interim, on May 23, 2024, Norfolk Southern entered into a Consent Decree settling
claims with the United States Department of Justice and Environmental Protection Agency (but not the State of Ohio) to which GATX
1s not a party.
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On July 25, 2023, a separate third-party complaint was filed by Norfolk Southern against GATX and two other defendants in the
Northern District of Ohio (Eastern Division) for contribution to personal injury and property damages class claims related to the
derailment of the Norfolk Southern train in East Palestine, Ohio. The plaintiffs who had originally filed the complaint against Norfolk
Southern (“Plaintiffs”) themselves subsequently filed direct claims against GATX and the two other third-party defendants alleging
many of the same facts as Norfolk Southern. On September 15, 2023, the Company filed a motion to dismiss Norfolk Southern’s
third-party complaint, and on September 26, 2023, filed a motion to dismiss the Plaintiffs’ complaint. Briefing was completed on
October 30, 2023, and the Court issued an order on March 13, 2024, denying in part, and granting in part, the Company’s motion
against Norfolk Southern and Plaintiffs. The Court held that Norfolk Southern’s contribution action was premature and dismissed the
claim without prejudice but otherwise allowed the remaining claims against GATX to proceed. The Court also dismissed Plaintiffs’
claim for medical monitoring but held that Plaintiffs could seek such damages through their other claims, which could proceed. The
Court also consolidated an additional action filed against GATX and others titled Almasy, et al. v. Norfolk Southern Corp., et al. by
over 40 individual residents, employees and property owners in East Palestine, Ohio. Plaintiffs and Norfolk Southern reached a
settlement for $600 million to resolve the consolidated class action claims of those within a 20-mile radius from the derailment, and,
for those residents who choose to participate, personal injury claims within a 10-mile radius from the derailment. On September 25,
2024, the Court held a final approval hearing and two days later issued its final approval order for the settlement. To date, a handful of
appeals challenging the fairness, reasonableness and adequacy of the settlement have been filed with the Sixth Circuit Court of
Appeals. On October 9, 2024, all parties to the litigation filed motions for summary judgment for the pending claims. All motions
have been fully briefed and are pending. The Court has indicated that rulings are imminent. Norfolk Southern has requested and has
been granted leave to reinstate its contribution claims against GATX and others. Trial is currently scheduled for March 31, 2025.

On December 8, 2023, GATX and three other defendants were named as additional defendants in a putative class action lawsuit
originally filed in federal court in Pennsylvania against Norfolk Southern by four Pennsylvania school districts and their students. The
allegations largely mirror those in the action filed in federal court in Ohio. The amended complaint seeks monetary damages for the
Pennsylvania plaintiffs for personal injury and property damage allegedly related to the derailment. The Company and other
defendants filed a motion to dismiss on February 23, 2024. Briefing has been completed and the motions remain pending and
undecided. The Court has not set any further deadlines.

GATX recently learned of two new lawsuits filed on February 3, 2025, in the Court of Common Pleas, Franklin County, Ohio on
behalf of approximately 750 plaintiffs, of whom approximately 184 have opted out of the prior settlement agreements with Norfolk
Southern or were not included and are now suing GATX and approximately 30 other defendants. The remaining plaintiffs who opted
into the settlement with Norfolk Southern (approximately 550) are not suing GATX.

The Company is vigorously defending itself against each of these lawsuits. At this time, the Company cannot reasonably estimate
the loss or range of loss, if any, that may ultimately be incurred in connection with any of these lawsuits and has not established any
accruals for potential liability related to this incident.

Other Litigation

GATX and its subsidiaries have been named as defendants in various legal actions and claims, governmental proceedings, and
private civil suits arising in the ordinary course of business, including environmental matters, workers’ compensation claims, and
other personal injury claims. Some of these proceedings include claims for punitive as well as compensatory damages. Several of our
subsidiaries have also been named as defendants or co-defendants in cases alleging injury caused by exposure to asbestos. The
plaintiffs seek an unspecified amount of damages based on common law, statutory, or premises liability. In addition, demand has been
made against GATX for asbestos-related claims under limited indemnities given in connection with the sale of certain of our former
subsidiaries. These matters are subject to many uncertainties, and it is possible that some of these matters could ultimately be decided,
resolved, or settled adversely.

Litigation Accruals

We have recorded accruals totaling $4.9 million at December 31, 2024 for losses related to those litigation matters that we believe
to be probable and for which an amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. However, we cannot determine a reasonable estimate of
the maximum possible loss or range of loss for these matters given that they are at various stages of the litigation process and each
case is subject to the inherent uncertainties of litigation (such as the strength of our legal defenses and the availability of insurance
recovery). Although the maximum amount of liability that may ultimately result from any of these matters cannot be predicted with
absolute certainty, management expects that none of the matters for which we have recorded an accrual, when ultimately resolved,
will have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or liquidity. It is possible, however, that the ultimate
resolution of one or more of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations in a particular quarter or
year if such resolution results in liability that materially exceeds the accrued amount.
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In addition, we have other litigation matters pending for which we have not recorded any accruals because our potential liability for
those matters is not probable or cannot be reasonably estimated based on currently available information. For those matters where we
have not recorded an accrual but a loss is reasonably possible, we cannot determine a reasonable estimate of the maximum possible
loss or range of loss for these matters given that they are at various stages of the litigation process and each case is subject to the
inherent uncertainties of litigation (such as the strength of our legal defenses and the availability of insurance recovery). Although the
maximum amount of liability that may ultimately result from any of these matters cannot be predicted with absolute certainty,
management expects that none of the matters for which we have not recorded an accrual, when ultimately resolved, will have a
material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or liquidity. It is possible, however, that the ultimate resolution of one or
more of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations in a particular quarter or year if such resolution
results in a significant liability for GATX.

Environmental

Our operations are subject to extensive federal, state, and local environmental regulations. Our operating procedures include
practices to protect the environment from the risks inherent in full service railcar leasing, which involves maintaining railcars used by
customers to transport chemicals and other hazardous materials. Under some environmental laws in the U.S. and certain other
countries, the owner of a leased transportation asset may be liable for environmental damage and cleanup or other costs in the event of
a spill or discharge of material from such asset without regard to the owner’s fault. While our standard forms of lease agreements
require the lessee to indemnify us against environmental claims and to carry liability insurance coverage, such indemnities and
insurance may not fully protect us against claims for environmental damage. Additionally, some of our real estate holdings, including
previously owned properties, are or have been used for industrial or transportation-related purposes or leased to commercial or
industrial companies whose activities might have resulted in discharges on the property. As a result, we are subject to environmental
cleanup and enforcement actions. In particular, CERCLA, also known as the Superfund law, as well as similar state laws, impose joint
and several liability for cleanup and enforcement costs on current and former owners and operators of a site without regard to fault or
the legality of the original conduct. If there are other potentially responsible parties (“PRPs”), we generally contribute to the cleanup
of these sites through cost-sharing agreements with terms that vary from site to site. Costs are typically allocated based on the relative
volumetric contribution of material, the period of time the site was owned or operated, and/or the portion of the site owned or operated
by each PRP.

At the time a potential environmental issue is identified, initial accruals for environmental liability are established when such
liability is determined to be probable and a reasonable estimate of the associated costs can be made. Costs are estimated based on the
type and level of investigation and/or remediation activities that our internal environmental staff (and where appropriate, independent
consultants) have advised to be necessary to comply with applicable laws and regulations. Activities include surveys and
environmental studies of potentially contaminated sites as well as costs for remediation and restoration of sites determined to be
contaminated. In addition, we have provided indemnities for potential environmental liabilities to buyers of divested companies. In
these instances, accruals are based on the scope and duration of the respective indemnities together with the extent of known
contamination. Estimates are periodically reviewed and adjusted as required to reflect additional information about facility or site
characteristics or changes in regulatory requirements. We conduct a quarterly environmental contingency analysis, which considers a
combination of factors including independent consulting reports, site visits, legal reviews, analysis of the likelihood of participation in
and the ability of other PRPs to pay for cleanup, and historical trend analyses.

We are involved in administrative and judicial proceedings and other voluntary and mandatory cleanup efforts at 9 sites, including
Superfund sites, for which we are contributing to the cost of performing the study or cleanup, or both, of alleged environmental
contamination. As of December 31, 2024, we have recorded accruals of $12.0 million for remediation and restoration costs that we
believe to be probable and for which the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. These amounts are included in other liabilities
on our balance sheet. Our environmental liabilities are not discounted.

We did not materially change our methodology for identifying and calculating environmental liabilities in the last three years.
Currently, no known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties exist that are reasonably likely to occur and materially
affect the methodology or assumptions described above.

The recorded accruals represent our best estimate of all costs for remediation and restoration of affected sites, without reduction for
anticipated recoveries from third parties, and include both asserted and unasserted claims. However, we are unable to provide a
reasonable estimate of the maximum potential loss associated with these sites because cleanup costs cannot be predicted with
certainty. Various factors beyond our control can impact the amount of loss GATX will ultimately incur with respect to these sites,
including the extent of corrective actions that may be required; evolving environmental laws and regulations; advances in
environmental technology, the extent of other parties’ participation in cleanup efforts; developments in periodic environmental
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analyses related to sites determined to be contaminated, and developments in environmental surveys and studies of potentially
contaminated sites. As a result, future charges associated with these sites could have a significant effect on results of operations in a
particular quarter or year if the costs materially exceed the accrued amount as individual site studies and remediation and restoration
efforts proceed. However, management believes it is unlikely that the ultimate cost to GATX for any of these sites, either individually
or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or liquidity.

NOTE 24. Financial Data of Business Segments

The financial data presented below depicts the profitability, financial position, and capital expenditures of each of our business
segments.

We lease, operate, manage, and remarket long-lived, widely used assets, primarily in the rail market. We report our financial results
through three primary business segments: Rail North America, Rail International, and Engine Leasing (previously named Portfolio
Management). Financial results for Trifleet are reported in the Other segment.

Rail North America is composed of our operations in the United States, Canada, and Mexico. Rail North America primarily
provides railcars pursuant to full-service leases under which it maintains the railcars, pays ad valorem taxes and insurance, and
provides other ancillary services.

Rail International is an aggregation of our operating segments in Europe (“GATX Rail Europe” or “GRE”), India (‘“Rail India”)
and, until January 31, 2023, Rail Russia. In 2023, we completed the sale of Rail Russia. GRE primarily leases railcars to customers
throughout Europe pursuant to full-service leases under which it maintains the railcars and provides value-added services according to
customer requirements. Rail India primarily leases railcars to customers in India pursuant to net leases, under which the lessee
assumes responsibility for maintenance of the railcars.

As previously disclosed, we changed the name of our Portfolio Management business segment to Engine Leasing in 2024 to reflect
the prospective operations of the segment. Historically, this business segment included marine operations from our Specialized Gas
Vessels. As of December 31, 2023, we had sold all of our marine assets and no longer have any marine operations.

Engine Leasing is now almost entirely composed our engine leasing operations, which include our ownership interest in the RRPF
affiliates, a group of joint ventures with Rolls-Royce that lease aircraft spare engines, and GEL, our business that directly owns
aircraft spare engines that are leased to airline customers or employed in engine capacity agreements.

Other includes Trifleet operations, as well as selling, general and administrative expenses, income taxes, and certain other amounts
not allocated to the segments.

Segment profit is an internal performance measure reported to GATX’s President and Chief Executive Officer, our chief operating
decision maker (“CODM?”), for purposes of assessing performance and allocating capital and resources to each segment. Segment
profit includes all revenues, expenses, pre-tax earnings from affiliates, and net gains on asset dispositions that are directly attributable
to each segment. We allocate interest expense to the segments based on what we believe to be the appropriate risk-adjusted borrowing
costs for each segment. Segment profit excludes selling, general and administrative expenses, income taxes, and certain other amounts
not allocated to the segments. We have disclosed in each segment the significant expense categories that are reviewed by the CODM,
and there are no additional significant expenses within the expense categories presented in the segment tables. The CODM uses
segment profit during the annual budget and forecasting processes and considers comparisons of actual segment profit against budget,
forecast, and prior periods to assess current period performance and when making decisions about allocating capital and resources to
each segment.
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The following tables show certain segment data for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 (in millions):

Rail North Rail Engine GATX
America  International Leasing Other Consolidated
2024 Profitability
Revenues
Lease TEVENUE . .. oo o v e et et $ 983.5 $ 3336 $ 324 % 316 $ 1,381.1
Non-dedicated engine revenue .................. — — 64.6 — 64.6
Otherrevenue .. ........... ..., 115.5 16.7 0.1 7.5 139.8
Total Revenues . ........................... 1,099.0 350.3 97.1 39.1 1,585.5
Expenses
Maintenance eXpPense . .. .. .......vurnenarnan.. 306.9 70.7 — 4.0 381.6
Depreciation eXpense . .. .........vueneneenan.. 271.1 78.7 37.8 14.8 402.4
Operating lease eXpense ....................... 339 — — — 33.9
Other operating exXpense ....................... 26.4 17.4 9.6 4.3 57.7
Total Expenses ............................ 638.3 166.8 47.4 23.1 875.6
Other Income (Expense)
Net gain on asset dispositions ................... 132.8 4.5 0.6 0.4 138.3
Interest (expense) income, net . .................. (232.1) (71.4) (41.9) 4.4 (341.0)
Other (expense) income . ....................... (5.4) 3.2 0.6 (7.9) 9.5)
Share of affiliates’ pre-tax earnings . .............. — — 108.3 — 108.3
Segmentprofit ............................ $ 356.0 $ 1198 § 1173 § 129 § 606.0
Less:
Selling, general and adminiStrative @XPEINSE . . .. .ot vttt et e e e e 236.3
Income taxes (includes $25.5 related to affiliates’ earnings) . .. .. ... ...ttt 85.5
NetiNCOMIE . . . ..ottt e e e e $ 284.2
Net Gain on Asset Dispositions
Asset Remarketing Income:
Net gains on dispositions of owned assets . ....... $ 1194 § 1.7 $ 06 $ 03 $ 122.0
Residual sharing income ..................... 0.5 — — — 0.5
Non-remarketing net gains (1) ................... 12.9 2.8 — 0.1 15.8
$ 1328 § 45 $ 06 $ 04 $ 138.3
Capital Expenditures
Portfolio investments and capital additions . ........ $ 11,1624 $ 2329 $ 2608 $ 183 $ 1,674.4
Selected Balance Sheet Data
Investments in affiliated companies .............. $ 02 § — 3 663.1 $ — 3 663.3
Identifiable assets . ........... ... ..., $ 77516 $ 2,2333 $ 1,653.4 $ 6582 $ 12,296.5

(1) Includes net gains from scrapping of railcars.
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Rail North Rail Engine GATX
America  International Leasing Other Consolidated
2023 Profitability
Revenues
Lease TeVENUE . ..o vove ettt $ 888.8 $ 296.6 $ 326 $ 334 1,251.4
Non-dedicated engine revenue . ................ — — 37.6 — 37.6
Marine operating revenue . .................... — — 6.9 — 6.9
Otherrevenue .. ............c. i, 93.9 12.9 0.1 8.1 115.0
Total Revenues . .......................... 982.7 309.5 77.2 41.5 1,410.9
Expenses
Maintenance eXpense . . ... .........oenenan.... 276.6 64.1 — 4.1 344.8
Depreciation eXpense . . ... .......ouvenenen.... 265.9 68.2 28.3 13.9 376.3
Operating lease expense ...................... 36.0 — — — 36.0
Marine operating eXpense . .................... — — 6.5 — 6.5
Other operating expense ...................... 25.9 10.4 7.3 3.0 46.6
Total Expenses ........................... 604.4 142.7 421 21.0 810.2
Other Income (Expense)
Net gain on asset dispositions .................. 120.5 7.0 2.2 0.6 130.3
Interest (expense) income, net .................. (182.9) (56.2) (29.8) 5.5 (263.4)
Other (expense) income . ...................... (8.0) (4.2) 0.2 2.6 9.4)
Share of affiliates’ pre-tax (loss) earnings . ........ (0.6) — 98.7 — 98.1
Segment profit ........................... $ 3073 $ 1134 § 1064 $ 292§ 556.3
Less:
Selling, general and adminiStrative @XPEINSE . . .. ... vttt ettt e e e e e 212.7
Income taxes (includes $25.7 related to affiliates’ €arnings) . .. .. ... ..ottt 84.4
NetiNCOMIE . . . ..ottt e e e e $ 259.2
Net Gain on Asset Dispositions
Asset Remarketing Income:
Net gains on dispositions of owned assets . . . . . .. $ 1117 § 49 $ 29 $ 03 $ 119.8
Residual sharing income .................... 0.4 — 0.5 — 0.9
Non-remarketing net gains (1) .................. 8.4 2.4 — 0.3 11.1
Asset iImpairments . ..............oiuinana... — (0.3) (1.2) (1.5)
$ 120.5 $ 70 S 22§ 06 $ 130.3
Capital Expenditures
Portfolio investments and capital additions . .. ..... $ 9769 $ 3824 % 2673 $ 384 % 1,665.0
Selected Balance Sheet Data
Investments in affiliated companies ............. $ 02 § — 3 626.8 $ — 3 627.0
Identifiable assets . ... ... ... $ 69938 $ 2,1752  § 1,355.1 §$ 8019 $ 11,326.0

(1) Includes net gains from scrapping of railcars.
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Rail North Rail Engine GATX
America International Leasing Other Consolidated
2022 Profitability
Revenues
Lease TeVENUE . ..o vove ettt $ 8260 $ 2662 $ 330 $ 294 $ 1,154.6
Non-dedicated engine revenue . ................ — — 1.5 — 1.5
Marine operating revenue . .................... — — 18.9 — 18.9
Otherrevenue ................iiiiian.... 82.0 9.1 0.2 6.7 98.0
Total Revenues . .......................... 908.0 275.3 53.6 36.1 1,273.0
Expenses
Maintenance eXpense . . ... .........oenenan.... 238.5 514 — 2.8 292.7
Depreciation eXpense . . ... .......ouvenenen.... 258.6 69.1 17.8 12.0 357.5
Operating lease expense ...................... 36.1 — — — 36.1
Marine operating eXpense . .................... — — 14.1 — 14.1
Other operating expense ...................... 24.5 8.3 2.3 2.3 37.4
Total Expenses ........................... 557.7 128.8 342 17.1 737.8
Other Income (Expense)
Net gain (loss) on asset dispositions ............. 119.7 (11.2) (31.1) 0.5 77.9
Interest expense, net . ..., (144.6) (45.6) (19.0) (4.8) (214.0)
Other expense . .............c.couiuiinienen... (4.6) (3.8) — (18.6) (27.0)
Share of affiliates’ pre-tax earnings . ............. 0.5 — 454 — 45.9
Segment profit (loss) ...................... $ 3213 $ 859 $ 147 $ 39 $ 418.0
Less:
Selling, general and adminiStrative @XPEINSE . . .. ... vttt ettt e e e e e 195.0
Income taxes (includes $12.3 related to affiliates’ €arnings) . .. ....... ...ttt 67.1
NetiNCOMIE . . . ..ottt e e e e $ 155.9
Net Gain (Loss) on Asset Dispositions
Asset Remarketing Income:
Net gains on dispositions of owned assets . . . . . .. $ 1022 § 1.6 $ — 3 03 $ 104.1
Residual sharing income .................... 2.4 — 3.2 — 5.6
Non-remarketing net gains (1) .................. 15.1 1.8 — 0.2 17.1
Asset iImpairments .. .............iuiniia... — (14.6) (34.3) (48.9)
$ 119.7 $ (11.2) § (31.1) $ 05 $ 77.9
Capital Expenditures
Portfolio investments and capital additions . .. ..... $ 8159 $ 2439 $ 149.7 $ 463 % 1,255.8
Selected Balance Sheet Data
Investments in affiliated companies ............. $ 08 § — 3 5743 $ — 3 575.1
Identifiable assets . ... ... ... $ 64457 $ 1,7744  $ 1,106.6 $ 7453 §  10,072.0

(1) Includes net gains from scrapping of railcars.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Management’s Report Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has conducted an evaluation of
our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”)). Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the
end of the period covered by this annual report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act for us. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that:

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
our assets;

(i1)) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and

(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. In addition,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate as a result
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the applicable policies and procedures may deteriorate.

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has conducted an evaluation of
our internal control over financial reporting as of the end of the period covered by this annual report based on the framework in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013
framework). Such evaluation included reviewing the documentation of our internal controls, evaluating the design effectiveness of the
internal controls and testing their operating effectiveness.

Based on such evaluation, our management has concluded that as of the end of the period covered by this annual report, our internal
control over financial reporting was effective. Management reviewed the results of its assessment with the Audit Committee of our

Board of Directors.

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the financial statements included in this annual
report, has issued a report on our internal control over financial reporting. That report follows.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of GATX Corporation
Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited GATX Corporation and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, GATX Corporation and subsidiaries (the Company) maintained,
in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2024, and the related notes and our report dated February 19, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities
and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

M ¥ MLLP

Chicago, Illinois
February 19, 2025
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

No changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) occurred
during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2024, that materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information
Insider Trading Plans

None of the Company’s directors or officers adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1
trading arrangement”, as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K, during the quarter ended December 31, 2024.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections
Not Applicable.
PART II1
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information required by this item regarding our directors, our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, Code of Ethics for Senior
Company Officers, Audit Committee Financial Experts, compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, corporate governance,
and policies and procedures regarding insider trading is contained in sections entitled “Board of Directors”, “Board Independence”,
“Board Leadership Structure”, “Board Committees”, “Insider Trading Policy”, “Director and Officer Indemnification and Insurance
Arrangements”, “Communication with the Board”, “Director Criteria and Nomination Process”, “Nominees for Election to the Board
of Directors”, and “Audit Committee Report” in our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC on or about March 14, 2025,
which sections are incorporated herein by reference.

Information regarding executive officers is included after Item 1 in Part I of this Form 10-K.
Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information required by this item regarding compensation of our directors and executive officers, as well as our policies and
practices on the timing of awards of stock options in relation to the disclosure of material nonpublic information, is contained in
sections entitled “Director Compensation”, “Compensation Discussion and Analysis”, “Compensation Committee Report”, and

“Executive Compensation Tables”, in our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC on or about March 14, 2025, which
sections are incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Equity Compensation Plan Information as of December 31, 2024:

Number of
Securities to be Weighted-
Issued Upon Average Exercise Number of Securities
Exercise of Price of Remaining Available for
Outstanding Outstanding Future Issuance Under
Options, Options, Equity Compensation Plans
Warrants and Warrants and (excluding securities reflected
Rights Rights in Column (a))
Plan Category (a) (b) (©)
Equity Compensation Plans Approved by
Shareholders ................ ... .. .. ... ..... 1,441,484 (1) $ 118.34 (2) 1,745,998
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by
Shareholders ............ ... .. ... .. .. ... — —
Total . ... 1,441,484 1,745,998

(1) Consists of 948,100 non-qualified stock options, 141,094 performance shares, 101,826 restricted stock units and 250,464
non-employee directors awards, which consist of a mix of phantom shares and restricted stock units.
(2) The weighted-average exercise price does not include performance shares, restricted stock or phantom stock units.

For additional information about issuable securities under our equity compensation plans and the related weighted-average exercise
price, see “Note 12. Share-Based Compensation” in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

Other information required by this item regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is contained in
sections entitled “Security Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers” and “Principal Shareholders” in our definitive Proxy
Statement to be filed with the SEC on or about March 14, 2025, which sections are incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information required by this item regarding transactions with related persons and director independence is contained in the sections
entitled “Related Party Transactions” and “Board Independence” in our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC on or
about March 14, 2025, which sections are incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
Information required by this item regarding fees paid to Ernst & Young LLP is contained in sections entitled “Pre-Approval Policy”

and “Audit and Other Related Fees” in our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC on or about March 14, 2025, which
sections are incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) 1. Financial Statements

Page
Documents Filed as Part of this Report:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Financial Statements ... ........ ... ... ... ... ... ...... 56
Consolidated Balance Sheets — December 31,2024 and 2023 . . ... ... . 58
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income — Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 .............. 59
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 .. ....... ... ... ... ..... 60
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Sharcholders’ Equity — Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 .. ... .. 61
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements . . . .. .. ... .. . e e e e et 62
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting .. ............. 104

2. Financial Statement Schedules:

Schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
are not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable, and, therefore, have been omitted.

3. Exhibits.
EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number  Exhibit Description

Filed with this Report:

10.1
10.2
19
21
23
31.1
31.2
32
101

104

Summary of Non-Employee Directors’ Compensation.*

Amended and Restated GATX Corporation Directors’ Voluntary Deferred Fee Plan, effective as of January 1, 2025.*
GATX Corporation Insider Trading Policy.

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

Certification Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) (CEO Certification).

Certification Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) (CFO Certification).

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (CEO and CFO Certification).

The following materials from GATX Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024,
are formatted in Inline XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31,
2024 and December 31, 2023, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31,
2024, 2023, and 2022, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and
2022, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and
2022, and (v) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document).

Incorporated by Reference:

3.1

32

4.1

4.2

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of GATX Corporation is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to GATX’s
Form 8-K dated October 31, 2013, file number 1-2328.

Amended and Restated By-Laws of GATX Corporation, as amended and restated on October 28, 2022, are incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of GATX’s Form 8-K dated November 1, 2022, file number 1-2328.

Indenture dated as of November 1, 2003 between GATX Financial Corporation and JP Morgan Chase Bank is incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 4Q to GATX Financial Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003, file number 1-8319.

Indenture dated as of February 6, 2008, between GATX Corporation and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee, is
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.12 to GATX’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2007, file number 1-2328.
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10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

Description of the Registrant’s Securities is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to GATX’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, file number 1-2328.

Five Year Credit Agreement dated as of May 21, 2024, among GATX Corporation, as borrower, Citibank, N.A. and BofA
Securities, Inc., as joint lead arrangers and joint book managers, Bank of America, N.A., as syndication agent, BMO Bank N.A.,
CIBC Bank USA, KeyBank National Association, Morgan Stanley MUFG Loan Partners, LLC, PNC Bank, National Association
and U.S. Bank, National Association, as co-documentation agents, Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the lenders party
thereto is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to GATX’s Form 8-K dated May 22, 2024, file number 1-2328.

Supply Agreement by and between GATX Corporation, as Buyer, and Trinity Rail Group, LLC, as Seller, dated
September 30, 2022 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to GATX’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended September 30, 2022, file number 1-2328 (Note: Portions of this document have been omitted pursuant to Item
601 of Regulation S-K).

GATX Corporation 2012 Incentive Award Plan is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit A to the Definitive Proxy
Statement filed on March 16, 2012 in connection with GATX’s 2012 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, file number 1-2328.*

i.  Amendment and Restatement of said Plan, effective May 5, 2017, is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit C to the
Definitive Proxy Statement filed on March 24, 2017 in connection with GATX’s 2017 Annual Meeting of Shareholders,
file number 1-2328.*

Form of Corporate Officers’ Incentive Plan under the GATX Corporation 2012 Incentive Award Plan is incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 of GATX’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2024.*

Form of Amended and Restated Agreement for Employment Following a Change of Control dated as of January 1, 2009,
between GATX Corporation and Robert C. Lyons is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to GATX’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008, file number 1-2328.*

Form of Agreement for Employment Following a Change of Control between GATX Corporation and Thomas A. Ellman
(dated as of January 1, 2014), Paul F. Titterton (dated as of August 1, 2022), Kim Nero (dated as of May 1, 2021) and Brian
L. Glassberg (dated as of December 1, 2022) is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to GATX’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2015, file number 1-2328.*

Form of Agreement for Employment following a Change of Control between GATX Corporation and Niyi Adedoyin (dated as of
January 29, 2016), Jennifer McManus (dated as of October 30, 2020), Jennifer Van Aken (dated as of October 30, 2020), Jeffery R.
Young (dated as of February 1, 2015), and Robert A. Zmudka (dated as of August 9, 2018) is incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to GATX’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2015, file number 1-2328.*

GATX Corporation U.S. Executive Severance Plan, effective as of February 15, 2023, is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to GATX’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, file number 1-2328.*

Form of GATX Corporation Indemnification Agreement for directors as of February 23, 2009, is incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to GATX’s Form 8-K dated February 24, 2009, file number 1-2328.

Form of Performance Share Agreement (with cash-election option) for grants under the GATX Corporation 2012 Incentive Award
Plan to executive officers with Agreements for Employment Following a Change of Control is incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.4 of GATX’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2022, file number 1-2328.*

Form of Performance Share Agreement for grants under the GATX Corporation Amended and Restated 2012 Incentive
Award Plan to executive officers is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of GATX’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarterly period ended March 31, 2024.*

Form of Performance Share Agreement (with cash-election option) for grants under the GATX Corporation Amended and
Restated 2012 Incentive Award Plan to executive officers following adoption of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 is
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to GATX’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
March 31, 2018, file number 1-2328.*

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for awards under the GATX Corporation 2012 Incentive Award Plan to
executive officers is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of GATX’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended March 31, 2024.*

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for awards under the GATX Corporation 2012 Incentive Award Plan to
executive officers with Agreements for Employment Following a Change of Control, is incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.3 to GATX’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2022, file number 1-2328.*

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Grants under the Amended and Restated 2012 Incentive Award Plan to Thomas
A. Ellman and Paul F. Titterton is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to GATX’s Form 8-K dated January 28, 2022,
file number 1-2328.*

Form of Confidential Information, Non-Competition, and Non-Solicitation Agreement between the Corporation and Thomas
A. Ellman and Paul F. Titterton is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to GATX’s Form §-K dated January 28, 2022,
file number 1-2328.*
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10.17 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Grants under the Amended and Restated 2012 Incentive Award Plan to
directors is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to GATX’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
March 31, 2022, file number 1-2328.*

10.18 Amended and Restated GATX Corporation Director’s Phantom Stock Plan, effective as of December 2, 2016, is incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to GATX’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, file
number 1-2328.*

10.19 Undertakings to the GATX Corporation Salaried Employees’ Retirement Savings Plan is incorporated herein by reference to
GATX’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1982, file number 1-2328.* (Paper copy).

97 GATX Corporation Policy for Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation, effective as of October 2, 2023 is
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 97 to GATX’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2023, file number 1-2328.*

(*) Compensatory Plans or Arrangements.

Certain instruments evidencing long-term indebtedness of GATX Corporation are not being filed as exhibits to this Report because
the total amount of securities authorized under any such instrument does not exceed 10% of GATX Corporation’s total assets. GATX
Corporation will furnish copies of any such instruments upon request of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

Not Applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

GATX CORPORATION
Registrant

/s ROBERT C. LYONS

Robert C. Lyons
President and Chief Executive
Officer
February 19, 2025

Power of Attorney. KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby
constitutes and appoints Thomas A. Ellman, Brian L. Glassberg, and Jennifer M. McManus, and each of them, his or her true and
lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and
stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with any
and all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, and hereby
grants to such attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing
requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in
person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them, or their or his or her substitute or
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
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/s/ ROBERT C. LYONS

Robert C. Lyons
February 19, 2025

/sy THOMAS A. ELLMAN

Thomas A. Ellman
February 19, 2025

/s/ JENNIFER M. MCMANUS

Jennifer M. McManus
February 19, 2025

/s/ DIANE M. AIGOTTI

Diane M. Aigotti
February 19, 2025

/s/ ANNE L. ARVIA

Anne L. Arvia
February 19, 2025

/s/ SHELLEY J. BAUSCH

Shelley J. Bausch
February 19, 2025

/s/ JOHN M. HOLMES

John M. Holmes
February 19, 2025

/sl JAMES B. REAM

James B. Ream
February 19, 2025

/sl ADAM L. STANLEY

Adam L. Stanley
February 19, 2025

/s/ DAVID S. SUTHERLAND

David S. Sutherland
February 19, 2025

/s/ PAUL G. YOVOVICH

Paul G. Yovovich
February 19, 2025

President and
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Senior Vice President, Controller and
Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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Exhibit 21
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

The following is a list of subsidiaries included in our consolidated financial statements and the state or country of incorporation of
each:

State or Country

Company Name of Incorporation
GATX Terminals Overseas Holding Corporation (1) ......... ... i Delaware
GATX Global Finance B.V. (1) ... o e e e e Netherlands
GATX Global Holding GmbH (1) . ... ..o e e e e e Switzerland
GATX Rail Europe BV (1) ..o e e e e e e e e Netherlands
GATX Rail Austria GmbH (1) . ... e Austria
GATX Beteiligungs GmbH . ... ... .. . Germany
GATX Rail Germany GmbH (2) . .. ..o Germany
GATX International Limited (1)(2) . . ..o ov ittt e e e e e e e e United Kingdom
GATX Engine Leasing Ltd. . ... ... oo e e et United Kingdom
GATX Rail Poland Sp. 2 0.0. (2) . . oot e Poland
GATX Rail Canada Corporation . .. ... ... ...ttt e e e Canada
Trifleet Leasing Holding B.V. (3) . ... .o e e e e Netherlands
General American Transportation Holding Corp . ... ... . i Delaware
Grupo GATX de Mexico, INC . .. ..o Delaware
GATX de Mexico, INC . .. ..o Delaware
GATX Third Aircraft LLC (4) . ..ot e e e e e e e e e Delaware
GATX Asia Investments Private Limited (5) . ....... .. e Singapore
GATX Rail Locomotive Group, LLC . .. ... .. . e e e e Delaware

(1) Company is a significant subsidiary as defined in Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X.
(2) Company includes one foreign subsidiary.

(3) Company includes six foreign subsidiaries.

(4) Company includes three domestic subsidiaries.

(5) Company includes seven foreign subsidiaries.

Certain subsidiaries which, if considered as a single subsidiary, would not constitute a ‘“significant subsidiary” as defined in
Regulation S-X, have been omitted.



Exhibit 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-264721) and related prospectus of GATX Corporation,

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-219346) pertaining to the Amended and Restated 2012 Incentive Award Plan,
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-182219) pertaining to the 2012 Incentive Award Plan,

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-145581) pertaining to the Salaried Employees Retirement Savings Plan, and
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-145583) pertaining to the Hourly Employees Retirement Savings Plan of GATX
Corporation;

vk W=

of our reports dated February 19, 2025, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of GATX Corporation, and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of GATX Corporation included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of GATX
Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2024.

St + MLLP

Chicago, Illinois
February 19, 2025



Exhibit 31.1
Certification of Principal Executive Officer
I, Robert C. Lyons, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of GATX Corporation (the “Company”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The Company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Company and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
Company’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Company’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the Company’s auditors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/__ROBERT C. LYONS
Robert C. Lyons
President and Chief Executive Officer

February 19, 2025



Exhibit 31.2
Certification of Principal Financial Officer
I, Thomas A. Ellman, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of GATX Corporation (the “Company”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The Company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Company and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
Company’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Company’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the Company’s auditors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ _THOMAS A. ELLMAN
Thomas A. Ellman
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

February 19, 2025



Exhibit 32
GATX CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with this Annual Report of GATX Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31,
2024, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned officers of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.

/s/  ROBERT C. LYONS /s/ THOMAS A. ELLMAN
Robert C. Lyons Thomas A. Ellman
President and Chief Executive Officer Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

February 19, 2025

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed
filed by GATX Corporation for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to GATX Corporation and will be
retained by GATX Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Diane M. Aigotti (1-chain

Retired; Former Executive Vice President,
Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer,
Ryan Specialty Group, LLC

Anne L. Arvia (1,2,3-Chair)

Principal, Strategic Transformation and
Program Management,

Cornerstone Advisors, LLC

Shelley J. Bausch .3
Retired; Former President, Global Industrial Coatings,
Axalta Coating Systems Ltd.

John M. Holmes
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer,
AAR CORP.

James B. Ream (¥
Retired; Former Senior Vice President — Operations,
American Airlines

Adam L. Stanley 23

Retired; Former Executive Vice President and
Chief Digital and Technology Officer,
Cushman & Wakefield

David S. Sutherland (2-Chair, 4)
Retired; Former President and Chief Executive Officer,
IPSCO, Inc.

Paul G. Yovovich2.3)
Private Investor

Robert C. Lyons
President and Chief Executive Officer,
GATX Corporation

(A Independent Board Chair

@) Member, Audit Committee

2 Member, Compensation Committee
3) Member, Governance Committee

@ Inaccordance with the Board’s retirement
policy for directors, Mr. Sutherland will
not be standing for re-election at the
2025 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Robert C. Lyons
President and Chief Executive Officer

Thomas A. Ellman
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Brian L. Glassberg
Executive Vice President, General Counsel
and Secretary

Kim Nero
Executive Vice President and
Chief Human Resources Officer

Paul F. Titterton
Executive Vice President and President,
Rail North America

Niyi A. Adedoyin
Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer

Kevin J. Hillesland
Senior Vice President, Structured Finance

Christopher M. LaHurd
Senior Vice President, International

Jennifer M. McManus
Senior Vice President, Controller and
Chief Accounting Officer

Geoffrey D. Phillips
Senior Vice President, Operations

John M. Sbragia
Senior Vice President, Engineering and Quality

Jennifer L. Van Aken
Senior Vice President, Treasurer and Chief Risk Officer

Jeffery R. Young
Senior Vice President and Chief Tax Officer

Robert A. Zmudka
Senior Vice President and Chief Commercial Officer



The Annual Meeting will be held in a virtual-only
format on Friday, April 25, 2025, at 9 a.m. (CDT)

SHAREHOLDER INQUIRIES

Inquiries regarding dividend checks, the dividend
reinvestment plan, stock certificates, replacement of lost
certificates, address changes, account consolidation, transfer
procedures, and year-end tax information should be
addressed to GATX Corporation’s transfer agent and registrar:

Computershare

P.0. Box 43006, Providence, RI 02940-3006
Toll Free Number: (866) 767-6259

TDD for Hearing Impaired: (800) 231-5469
Outside the U.S.: (201) 680-6578

TDD Outside the U.S.: (201) 680-6610
www.computershare.com/investor

INFORMATION RELATED TO SHAREHOLDER OWNERSHIP,
DIVIDEND PAYMENTS, OR SHARE TRANSFERS

Lisa M. Ibarra

Counsel - Securities

(312) 621-6603

Email: lisa.ibarra@gatx.com

FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND PRESS RELEASES

A copy of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
2024 and selected other information are available without
charge. Corporate information and press releases can be
found at GATX’s website, www.gatx.com.

Requests for information can be made through the site,
and many GATX publications can be directly viewed or
downloaded. A variety of current and historical financial
information is also available at this site.

GATX Corporation welcomes and encourages questions
and comments from its shareholders, potential investors,
financial professionals, and the public at large. To better
serve interested parties, the following GATX personnel
may be contacted by email, telephone, or letter:

TO REQUEST PUBLISHED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
AND FINANCIAL REPORTS

GATX Corporation

Investor Relations Department

233 South Wacker Drive, Chicago, IL 60606-7147
(800) 428-8161

Email: ir@gatx.com

REQUEST LINE FOR MATERIALS
(312) 621-6300

ANALYST, INSTITUTIONAL SHAREHOLDER,
AND FINANCIAL COMMUNITY INQUIRIES

Shari Hellerman

Senior Director, Investor Relations
and Corporate Communications
(312) 621-4285

Email: shari.hellerman@gatx.com

INDIVIDUAL INVESTOR INQUIRIES

Irma Dominguez

Investor Relations Coordinator
(312) 621-8799

Email: irma.dominguez@gatx.com

QUESTIONS REGARDING SALES, SERVICE,
LEASE INFORMATION, OR CUSTOMER SOLUTIONS

(312) 621-6200

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Ernst & Young LLP

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Statements in this report not based on historical facts are “forward-looking statements”
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and, accordingly,
involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties that are difficult to predict and could
cause our actual results, performance, or achievements to differ materially from those
discussed. Forward-looking statements include statements as to our future expectations,
beliefs, plans, strategies, objectives, events, conditions, financial performance, prospects,
or future events. In some cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by the use

of words such as “may,” “could,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,

“estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “outlook,” “continue,” “likely,” “will,” “would,” and similar

"u

"«

seek,” “anticipate,” “believe,”

words and phrases. Forward-looking statements are necessarily based on estimates and
assumptions that, while considered reasonable by us and our management, are inherently
uncertain. Accordingly, you should not place undue reliance on forward-looking
statements, which speak only as of the date they are made, and are not guarantees of
future performance. We do not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise
these forward-looking statements.

The following factors, in addition to those discussed under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in
this report and in our other filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, could
cause actual results to differ materially from our current expectations expressed in

forward-looking statements:

A significant decline in customer demand

for our transportation assets or services,

including as a result of:

- prolonged inflation or deflation

- highinterest rates

- weak macroeconomic conditions and
world trade policies

- weak market conditions in our
customers’ businesses

- adverse changes in the price of, or
demand for, commodities

- changes in railroad operations,
efficiency, pricing and service offerings,
including those related to “precision
scheduled railroading” or labor strikes
or shortages

- changesin, or disruptions to, supply chains

availability of pipelines, trucks, and

other alternative modes of

transportation

- changes in conditions affecting the
aviation industry, including global
conflicts, geographic exposure and
customer concentrations

- customers’ desire to buy, rather than
lease, our transportation assets

- other operational or commercial
needs or decisions of our customers

Inability to maintain our transportation

assets on lease at satisfactory rates and
term length due to oversupply of assets
in the market or other changes in supply
and demand

Competitive factors in our primary markets,
including existing or new competitors with
significantly lower costs of capital

Higher costs associated with increased
assignments of our transportation assets
following non-renewal of leases, customer
defaults, and compliance maintenance
programs or other maintenance initiatives

Events having an adverse impact on assets,
customers, or regions where we have a
concentrated investment exposure

Financial and operational risks associated
with long-term purchase commitments
for transportation assets

Reduced opportunities to generate asset
remarketing income

Inability to successfully consummate
and manage ongoing acquisition and
divestiture activities

Reliance on Rolls-Royce in connection with
our aircraft spare engine leasing businesses,
and the risks that certain factors that
adversely affect Rolls-Royce could have
an adverse effect on our businesses

Potential obsolescence of our assets

Risks related to our international
operations and expansion into new
geographic markets, including laws,
regulations, tariffs, taxes, treaties or
trade barriers affecting our activities
in the countries where we do business

Failure to successfully negotiate
collective bargaining agreements with
the unions representing a substantial
portion of our employees

Inability to attract, retain, and motivate
qualified personnel, including key
management personnel

Inability to maintain and secure our
information technology infrastructure
from cybersecurity threats and related
disruption of our business

Exposure to damages, fines, criminal
and civil penalties, and reputational
harm arising from a negative
outcome in litigation, including claims
arising from an accident involving
transportation assets

Changes in, or failure to comply with,
laws, rules, and regulations

Environmental liabilities and
remediation costs

Operational, functional and regulatory
risks associated with climate matters,
severe weather events and natural
disasters

U.S. and global political conditions and
the impact of increased geopolitical
tension and wars on domestic and global
economic conditions in general, including
supply chain challenges and disruptions

Prolonged inflation or deflation
Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates
Deterioration of conditions in the capital
markets, reductions in our credit ratings,
orincreases in our financing costs
Inability to obtain cost-effective insurance

Changes in assumptions, increases in
funding requirements or investment losses
in our pension and post-retirement plans

Inadequate allowances to cover credit
losses in our portfolio

Asset impairment charges we may be
required to recognize

Inability to maintain effective internal
control over financial reporting and
disclosure controls and procedures

The occurrence of a widespread health
crisis and the impact of measures taken
in response
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